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The Company, the earliest brewery in China, can trace its root
back to 1903 when its predecessor, the State-owned Tsingtao
Brewery Factory, was established. The Company was registered
and established on 16 June 1993, and then issued H-shares in
Hong Kong which were listed on the Stock Exchange on 15 July
1993, being the first domestic enterprise listed on an overseas
stock exchange. In July 1993, the Company issued A-shares in
China, which were listed on SSE on 27 August 1993.

The Company’s business scope is production and sales of beer,
and other related business. At present, the Company occupies
leading position in the domestic beer industry in terms of size and
market share with 54 wholly-owned and controlling breweries,
and 12 associated and joint-investment breweries in 20 provinces,
municipalities and autonomous regions in China. Tsingtao Beer
is the most well-known Chinese brand in the international market
that is distributed to over ninety countries and regions throughout
the world.
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Hal BIEMHE  Financial Highlights
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A I R — AR B BB

Prepared in accordance with the China
Accounting Standards for Business

Enterprises (“CAS”)

1. The Group’s financial information for the year ended 31

December 2015

(Hifr : NR¥TFor) (Unit: RMB’000)
EE N Operating profit 1,855,163
I A A Total profit 2,274,822
S G A RE 2 ) JBE BRI A Net profit attributable to shareholders of the

Company 1,713,129
S G I RE 2 ) JBE BRI 0 B IR ARk Net profit attributable to shareholders of the

AR W R Company after deduction of non-recurring

profit or loss 1,052,707
A T A T B A R R R Net cash flows from operating activities 2,574,566
FE o R AR I H L Note: Non-recurring profit or loss items include:
w1 % 0 U Al B Government grants recognised in profits 511,057
i T ) SR WA T R B Gain from disposal of a subsidiary 444,820
J T Y A A 2R Losses on disposal of non-current assets (101,512)
PR A AT DA A T 198 R AR kA A7 W ] Reversal of bad debt provision for accounts

receivable which provision is provided on the

individual basis 3,600
P ke 45 T =2 Ah i 25 SE A A 32 Other non-operating income and expenses other

than aforesaid items 10,114
/NEE Subtotal 868,079
JInAS Bt 5 B A Impact of income tax expense (188,7006)
A BB R £ 5 B (BLAR) Impact on the non-controlling interest, net of tax (18,951)
frat Total 660,422
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Summarised accounting data and financial indicators

(Unit: RMB’000)

TR ER information 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011
wmERA Revenue 27,634,686 29,049,321 28,290,978 25,781,544 23,158,054
3 4 Total profit 2,274,822 2,682,999 2,666,534 2,484,156 2,454913
[ S 7> BE 23 B R AR Net profit attributable to
shareholders of the Company 1,713,129 1,990,098 1,973,372 1,758,863 1,737,928
i JE 7 B ) e R 0 B Net profit attributable to
AR H P AH 5 0 R shareholders of the Company
after deduction of non-
recurring profit or loss 1,052,707 1,671,409 1,655,872 1,470,047 1,490,258
Y NS & Basic earnings per share 1.2681 1.4731 1.4607 1.3019 1.2864
T4 i 2% Diluted earnings per share 1.2681 1.4731 1.4607 1.3019 1.2864
MERIEF R PEAHAE B A FE A Basic earnings per share after
I3 I et deduction of non-recurring
profit or loss 0.7792 1.2372 1.2257 1.0881 1.1031
G RS R (%) Fully diluted return on net
assets (%) 10.41 12.93 14.07 14.11 15.64
JIRE -3 3 B A EE 3 (%) Weighted average return on net
assets (%) 10.76 13.53 14.87 14.91 16.78
BRI LR Pk 4H #5152 Fully diluted return on net
TR R (%) assets after deduction of non-
recurring profit or loss (%) 6.40 10.86 11.81 11.79 13.41
PRI R R 222 W MBE  Weighted average return on net
FHFEEWREE(%) assets after deduction of non-
recurring profit or loss (%) 6.61 11.36 12.48 12.46 14.39
H8 70 W) E AR Y Bl A Net cash flows from operating
] activities 2,574,566 1,690,634 3,401,151 3,103,597 1,872,309
GRS EAEMBI4  Net cash flows from operating
TR activities per share 191 1.25 2.52 2.30 1.39
A e Total assets 28,500,590 27,003,913 27,364,867 23,661,106 21,634,154
AR Total liabilities 12,334,579 11,716,631 13,491,396 10,877,675 10,357,219
[ B 7> BE 3R] B RORE £ Total equity attributable to
shareholders of the Company 16,458,062 15,387,562 14,020,559 12,467,953 11,110,439
i B 7 B ) e R A It Net assets per share attributable to
FEE shareholders of the Company 12.18 11.39 10.38 9.23 8.22
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FEF P52 Financial Highlights

3. 055 0 VA JBE SR % 5 ) 1% L 3% Changes in shareholders’ equity in reporting period
(H#ifr : AR¥TT) (Unit: RMB 000)
Jestchigi it
B BRHER Total
SR B 2w M A Non-controlling ~ shareholders’
Attributable to shareholders of the Company interests equity
bt i
R YR AR Other BRAK  —REBEE AW
Share Capital ~ comprehensive Surplus General  Undistributed
JiH Item capital surplus income reserve reserve profits
LRI Opening balance 1,350,983 4,079,399 10,040 1,216,339 66,982 8,663,818 (100,279) 15,287,282
AREEIM Increase in the current year — — — 184,365 39,043 1,713,129 — 1,936,537
WA  Decrease in the current year — (4,320) (30,366) — — (831,350 (191,772) (1,057,808)
A% Ending balance 1,350,983 4,075,079 (20,326) 1,400,704 106,025 9,545,597 (292,051) 16,166,011
(1)  FHAbZRE W « WA 2R L S AR (1) Other comprehensive income: Decrease mainly
E S 4w ) AT P 5 ) AN R R T dues to the changes arising from re-measurement
HWPE of defined benefit plan liabilities and currency
translation differences;
(2)  BERAR : ML A ERBUG B AR 5 (2) Surplus reserve: Increase represents the surplus
reserve appropriated in the current year;
(3) AR BEAEA ¢ Bk ARAR B R — AR (3) General reserve: Increase represents the general
[ reserve appropriated in the current year;
(4)  RAEHIY = B0k A4 B BB 0 Bt e i (4)  Undistributed profits: Increase represents net profit
] B AR A > IR B AR SR AR A attributable to shareholders of the Company in the
B > — e e 1 5 DA X% 43 L IR 5 current year. Decrease represents the appropriation of
surplus reserve, appropriation of general reserve and
distribution of dividends;
(5) A UBHEMERR ¢ WA BRI LA BEE 4 (5) Non-controlling interests: Increase mainly dues to

BEA A BB 1 R IR > OB B A
R T B2 20 OB DL B AR A D U SR
g3 BL BRI B3 o

losses of certain subsidiaries with non-controlling
interests, acquiring the non-controlling interests of
Hanzhong Company and Hansheng Commerce, and
distribution of dividends in the current year.
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Dividend Distribution

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) proposed a final
dividend of RMB0.39 (pre-tax) per share for the year ended
31 December 2015, and the remaining distributable profits
will carry forward to the next year. The aforesaid dividend
proposal shall be subject to the approval at the 2015 annual
general meeting to be held by the Company. The period
for the closure of register of members for H-share will be
set out in the notice of the annual general meeting to be

published by the Company separately.
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AN MR RARAF I 20154 12 H31 HEEH4EE 2
EBWE RIS 2 MBI > BGE SRR -

2015 47 v [ ML 305 Ti7 455 52 48 5 B SR A% ~ T 2 BR A R A
RERNXBE  BHEHTEES  MNTE2ERS
EER 4,716 8T TR R : BMEAFKFR) » ML T
5.1% > CEEWEHBIARE -

T S 8] PR L9 R 35 2 A A R R 35E S A B B4 4 A D
B> ATESE GG ERRE » BYHEEES >
P 25 0 T B P AR > 3 M R e Uy SRR > R
[l g5 5~ 3 45 M R Z00 00 A A AT 38 TR AT JRE ) i 45
TESRI PRI o AR L5 R B ERRTE ) > RO 3
T2 o AR~ A A LA M 2 SR F HR
W > B R UL o R R S 2 BB R S > 51
HETH > MR BRI RE > B EBUIES TAHHE
BRI R BEE T B AL o

e ik e
Mr. SUN Ming Bo
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Dear shareholders,

I hereby present the business report and audited financial
statements of the Company for the accounting year ended 31
December 2015 for your kind review.

In 2015, as affected by the factors including the slowdown
of economic growth, and the overall sluggish consumption
environment, China’s beer market continued to decline that the
full-year output of beer industry was 471.6 million hl (Source:
National Bureau of Statistics), decreased by 5.1% from prior year,
which had been the negative growth for two consecutive years.

Facing the unfavorable situation of the decline of domestic beer
market and the growing intense international competition, the
Board and the management team looked ahead to the future,
insisted on the strategies, accelerated the steps of structure
adjustment, devoted to encouraging the transformation of
development mode, and actively responded to the challenges
of the decline pressure and new market situation during the
transformation period of “Transforming the modes, adjusting
the structure”. The Company completely utilized its existing
production potential, actively promoted and implemented the
differentiated competition strategy of products innovation, supply
chain innovation and management innovation, cultivated the
differentiated competition advantages of principal products and
new&special products to lead the upgrade of consumption and
accelerate to cultivate new growth point which had built a solid
basis for the material growth under the new situation.

&)
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20154 AR L E BN S R 848 T T > HBIEEW
ANBRME276.35 870 » B BLE s b i A ) B3 0 3 A
MAR¥17.13 7T -

2 RIRRR BN Y I A AT B BRI o SRR ~
PSRBT > 5 A A 4 A I 45 B R T A M T 3
B> I DB IR S 8 AR T o B Al
BUBCRMOE WL AT ~ BV AR S 5 IR i
LAt - A > RUBA R RS » RETRTHA
w7 PR G YRR ) > BE AR T AP
i T 5 FY 38 (B B o

I > O ) A A A TR A M L+ 0 1L
TG 5% L SRR O > A BT A LA A T
> A R EAT ST IR A DU R IR AR A2 T AR I A Tl
B WA A 2R o [AIIRF > /W] BH BT A A - BT 5 DA
ol LA T O S R o bl i DA 30 2R S O I A AR
S PR 5 RS Jon 60 G PRV TR T > DL R BT 0 A
oo LT A 2 i 0 2 SAL T B B > AR A T S A B A
el S T 355 ) SRS ML o A ) A AR B R M 61
B 416 HTIF > Jp i iE 5 uE - Bk AR - 1903 Fudl
PR~ AR~ /IR ML 44 v I A i B I A A A O
AH1748 T T > HERTHEME -

In 2015, the Company’s sales volume of beer reached 84.8 million
hl in aggregate, the revenues reached RMB27.635 billion, and the
net profit attributable to shareholders of the Company reached
RMB1.713 billion.

The Company actively devoted to exploring the domestic and
overseas markets, developing the superior markets in coastal
and along-Yellow-River basin areas, and continuing to promote
the construction of provincial markets and base markets in
big cities to lead the growth of sales volume of neighboring
regional markets. During the Reporting Period, the Company
continued to extensively and intensively explore the traditional
superior markets in provinces including Shandong and Shaanxi,
strengthened the development and integration of growing markets,
and actively established the network of emerging markets to
continuously improve the Company’s ability in sales operation
and market control which consolidated and strengthened the
Company’s competitive advantages in the mid-and-high-end
market.

During the Reporting Period, the Company continued to promote
the implementation of the branding strategy of “Principal brand
Tsingtao Beer + Secondary brand Laoshan Beer” to further
optimize the brand mix and product mix, which helped the
Company generally maintain its shares in the domestic market
despite the industrial decline. At the same time, by developing
new products and technologies, and with the development of
the categories led by the brands, the Company accelerated the
transformation and upgrade of the high value-added products
represented by canned beer and craft beer, and built the
advantages in differentiated competition of principal products
and newé&special products with its advantages in categories,
which helped to maintain the leading position of products in the
domestic mid-and-high-end market. The Company’s full-year
sales volume of Tsingtao Beer, the principal brand, reached 41.6
million hl including 17.4 million hl of domestic sales volume
of the high value-added products such as Hong Yun Dang Tou
(“Good Fortune”), Augerta, Classic 1903, draft beer, canned beer
and small-bottled beer which realized continuous growth.
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AT ARE R KE P+ BUE R 108 X
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The Company kept on promoting and improving the marketing
mode of “Big Customer + Micro Operation” that it actively
carried out sports marketing and marketing promotions. Based
on the existing production bases and sales channel networks,
through the measures including diversifying the product sales
strategies, improving the layout of channels, and cultivating and
strengthening the management of the distributors, the Company
integrated and focused on the resources, and put into efforts
to explore the markets, which helped to improve the influence
of the products and the market competitiveness. In 2015, with
the brand theme of “Enjoy the gathering time”, the Company
carried out a series of large-scaled marketing activities with the
sports games and musical events including AFC Champions
League, CBA games, Dancing with Passion Cheering Team, beer
festivals on the sea and “Soul Hot” by way of combining with the
thematic promotion, media interactive communication and site
experience to encourage the consumers’ needs and improve the
acknowledgement and affection of Tsingtao Beer by the young
consumers, which received satisfactory market results.

During the Reporting Period, the Company made further reforms
and innovations which obtained remarkable effects and results
by seizing the opportunities of the rapid development of modern
channels including KA in the beer industry to actively explore
new growth point The Company actively sought for the new
marketing mode in the mobile internet era and rapidly established
the layout of e-commerce that it became the first in the domestic
beer industry to establish an overall e-commerce channel system
of official flagship store + official shopping mall + online retailers
+ distributor boutiques. Within the year, the Company became the
first O20 platform in the beer industry by launching “Tsingtao
Quick-Buy” APP which realized the new experience of internet
consumption of beer products with “Enjoy beer at home with
a flick”. At present, “Tsingtao Quick-Buy” has been available
in 9 cities including Qingdao, Changchun, Dalian, Chengdu,
Shijiazhuang, Nanjing and Xiamen with around 100 thousand
registered users, which played a positive role in promoting the
development of new&special products and the upgrade of product
mix in regional markets.

11
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The Company devoted to the development trend of diversification,
high-end orientation and personalization of beer products that
it innovated the brewing techniques, taste and packages, and
actively cultivated and developed the strategic new products and
new&special products to successfully present the new products
including Hong Yun Dang Tou (“Good Fortune”), Classic 1903,
whole-barley Weissbier, peach beer, date-taste black beer and 5L
raw stock beer which received broad praises from the markets and
led to upgrade the consumption of the products.

Within the year, the Company actively adjusted its investment
and development mode, reduced the capital spending to the new
constructions of production capacity, reasonably controlled the
investment size, took priority to the high value-added products
including the strategic new&special products and canned products
which could satisfy the needs for upgrading the consumption in
the market, implemented and completed a couple of relocation
and expansion projects including Tsingtao-Hans Baoji Company,
Tsingtao Brewery No. 3 and Xiamen Company, which ensured
the maximization of investment returns while supporting the
development of the base markets, and led to the upgrade of
product mix.

Within the year, Tsingtao Beer became the first beer brand whose
brand value had reached over RMBI100 billion with its brand
value of RMB105.568 billion, meanwhile the brand value of
Laoshan had also reached RMB11.568 billion, which continued to
maintain its leading position in the domestic beer market (Source:
World Brand Lab).
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Last but not least, I would like to express my sincere gratitude
to all shareholders, investors, consumers, and the hard-working,
loyal and dedicative staff for their tremendous support to the
Company in the past year.

Chairman

SUN Ming Bo

Qingdao, the People’s Republic of China
28 March 2016
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HHEFWME  Report of the Directors

— . AA BB TED I. Operations of the Company
AN T B s A A S B R o B R N W I The Company is mainly engaged in the production and sales of
A EEAEF G A E - S RE NS - beer, while its subsidiaries and associated companies are mainly

engaged in the production, sales and domestic trade of beer.

AN T A R B W A EE R A — o The Company is one of the largest beer producers and distributors
in China.

A 4 [ 2 SR M AR 2T 58 4 ol A A R Y B L g Nearly all turnover and profits of the Group are generated from

Ao the production and sales of beer.

1. FHBFHWON S M IR RE R B (35 b B A 36 &l e 1. Revenues from principal business by geographical

HEE) markets (calculated in accordance with CAS)
Hfr : ARWFT
Unit: RMB’000
BREBAL
BREBA LAERI (%)
Increase/(Decrease)
il Region Revenue (%) from prior year
Ly 3 [ Shandong Province 15,207,940 (3.32)
3 b 1l i North China 5,390,912 (4.40)
2 3 Hi [ South China 4,173,158 (10.21)
3 3 b [ East China 2,929,296 (13.70)
R South-East China 2,446,854 (12.32)
R T % A Y A/ i Hong Kong, Macau and other overseas 520,678 5.83
At Total 30,668,838 (6.19)
ol < 4% M T 43 ¥ T K 5 < Less: Eliminations 3,460,394 /
i Consolidation 27,208,444 (4.86)

e G A
Mr. HUANG Ke Xing X F 3
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2. T I A i) 1 SR O (3 v B A 3% o 2. Operation situation of main subsidiaries (calculated in

) accordance with CAS)
e : N\R##TT
Unit: RMB0’000
HEERH I A BENM
WA 4 R Principal products or  Registered  #¥% 5 ¥ A BRBA  Operating
Name of Subsidiary service capital Total asset Net asset Net profit Revenue profit
T WO VY AT AR A R A ] I e 2 B 28,790 128,148 72,672 28,401 256,644 37,936
Tsingtao Brewery Xi’an Hans Production and sales of
Group Company Limited beer in China
HEWECEEMEARAT wEEE 500 41,773 37,213 19,889 145,105 23,227
Tsingtao Brewery (Pingdu) Sales  Sales of beer
Company
T ML S A PR AR A W W Rk LAk e 50,000 864,054 115,726 17,574 5,142 22,780
Tsingtao Brewery Finance LLC HAWEER ~ SHRG
ES
Receiving the deposits
and other borrowings
of member units,
and the settlement of
bills
3. WHEM N EEERENE PR 3. Main suppliers and clients during the Reporting Period
(1) 20154 B i F1. 4 BE E v & 5 0 3R 0 A8 B 40 (1) The total amount of the Company’s purchase from
848,642 T-JL (20144 FF : 863,214 T-J0) » f#k its top 5 suppliers in 2015 was approximately
I AR B HE ) % 7.51% (2014 4EF ¢ 7.14%) © RMB848,642 thousand (2014: RMB863,214
thousand), which accounted for 7.51% of its purchase
amount in aggregate (2014: 7.14%).
2 2015FEFEWMABEFSERANBEIN (2)  The total amount of the Company’s revenue of its top
1,576,570 F-7C (2014 4: BE : 1,340,238 F7C) » 5 clients in 2015 was approximately RMB1,576,570
A 2 FRE AR LB %5 5.71% (2014 42 - thousand (2014: RMB1,340,238 thousand), which
4.61%) ° accounted for 5.71% of its revenue in aggregate
(2014: 4.61%).
WA > RARKEF ~ B K% N SE During the Reporting Period, none of the Company’s
T FE A AR W) ey 2 1Y 5% Z e RO e bl directors, supervisors or their associates or any shareholders
P15 7 B 8 v AT AT R AR o holding more than 5% of shares in the Company possessed

any interests in the aforesaid suppliers and distributors.
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. MR

HFHEAEFABRE R -HE T A=+ —HILEER
BRI BB R 03970 (S8 » IREE IR S 485
AR5 526,883,290 JC (£ BE) » HAR AR 4 B A 45 9~ —
FERE o LA TR ERARAT T — HAEE R RAES
FeR A o AR S FEIIR 2016458 H 16 H Z Wi JRE T
e o B 2N F) H e e HRORT 45 S BB 48 5 8 il A Y
R > ASABINEAE 5347 A5 0 B SRAR € o b iR g -

= R Inl

AR 2N R AR P 2 3765 18] R S A B 4 ) AR 2 % i 1 i B4y
BE > DA TR AR 2 ] i S8 19 = 2 R B e S T P 3K
50 F 61 B[4 B ot i BE 40 47 | o 3R I 5 R BB
SHEPR A S AR 4 T A P9 2 B 2 A0 BT BUR AR AR SR 4 T Er st
SRS | o A B R P A ) IR ORI I AR R
PUHUR AR 58 68 2 74 H B HIEH ] -

ARSI By SR BT T F5 M o AR R TR B0 A b
e J A B BT > DAL AW vt 3 4T 36 Ak 40 B S A AN B ) % 3R
DRIBESE 5 38 208 T i 2R 50 DRk ol (Ve A BEL A9 R A o > fR
e oy K BURR R > TEBLSLOR A AR A SR |2 BRAR B
iy o Ao v BRAR A B DL JEAT AL & BAE - B S ER BT B
PETHERRGUE IR G > B 87 B 3 A g B S At 22
R A B O A e 35 BRORIG B B0 5 R\ BH J 2R DR AL 1
b~ KA B > 5235 25 S BRI BE A5 Al > A B
RFE RN BKPAERE » T8GR R AR -
R 208 A R A A DR BR A o B 2 ) B AR
WM > PETHA BB A A A AR A -
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II. Profit Distribution

The Board proposed a final dividend of RMBO0.39 (pre-tax) per
share for the year ended 31 December 2015 which is amounted
to the total amount of RMB526,883,290 (pre-tax), and carried
forward the remaining distributable profits to the next year.
The proposed distribution of final dividend, which is expected
to be payable to the shareholders before 16 August 2016, will
be subject to the consideration and approval at the Company’s
2015 annual general meeting. The period for closure of register
of members for H-share will be set out in the notice of annual
general meeting to be published by the Company separately.

III. Business Review

A review of the business of the Company within the year and a
discussion and analysis of the Company’s future development,
and the principal risks and uncertainties faced by the Company
are set out in ‘Management Discussion and Analysis’ on pages
50 to 61 of this Annual Report. An analysis of the Group’s
performance during the year using key financial indicators is set
out in ‘Financial Highlights’ on page 4 of this Annual Report.
Significant events occurred during the Reporting Period and the
progress after the Reporting Period are set out in “Significant
Events” on pages 68 to 74 of this Annual Report.

The Group’s devoted to supporting the sustainability of the
environment. The Company adheres to the environmental
principal of “Good returns from kindness”, and has the
environmental protection vision of “Being the model of green
development in beer industry”, and takes the environmental
protection mission of “To promote the everlasting development of
the Company through implementing the low-carbon management
of environmental protection and recycling economy to realize
the harmonic relationship with nature”. To realize the purpose of
the implementation of its social responsibilities, prevention from
environment risks, and improvement of environmental protection
performance of its environmental protection management, the
Company strictly abides by the environmental laws, regulations
and other requirements, keeps on reconstructing and improving
the environment treatment facilities, deeply carries out the
planned and intensive management of environmental protection,
improves the different management systems and assessment
mechanisms, and keeps on improving the qualification and skill
of environmental protection personnel to realize the steady and
compliant discharging of pollution materials. And by promoting
the clean production and recycling economy, the Company carries
out the bidding for the waste area to improve the utilization
efficiency of the wastes.
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B o AL AR B L E VIR BB BR - BEF
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M o A7 BRI AC 2> W BRI B Ak B AT U5 1 Y AR B DL i 2 B
AW2016 453 H 28 H AT o 32 5 i 8 i b i (I vt
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o 1T P AR ) B A T B A 2 B ) R O B B R R
(3% v | A 3 s 34 H AR ) B D (36) & (37) ©

T JBAE B S B DL

Lo SRR o AR 2 vl By AR W B JBE A A R 8 2 B
It -

A2 T DAAEAF 3T B i d5e 1% B R T 4T H ST A
3% ~ 2 F P 0 0 A PR ORI o BE B > A
O TR TR IR AR R R AL B BE R .
BOLBEIR > BARGWI T

Within 2015, the Group has complied with the relevant laws and
regulations that have significant impacts on the operations of the
Group.

Our employees, customers and cooperation partners are the keys
to our sustainable development. The Group is committed to
establishing a close and caring relationship with our employees,
providing quality products to the customers and enhancing
the cooperation with our business partners. For details of the
environmental and social responsibilities performed by the
Company, please refer to Tsingtao Brewery 2015 Sustainable
Development Report published by the Company on the website of
the Stock Exchange on 28 March 2016.

IV. Reserve

Details of changes of reserve of the Company and the Group
during the Reporting Period are set out in Note IV(36) and (37) to
Consolidated Financial Statements (prepared in accordance with
CAS).

V. Changes of Share Capital and
Information of Shareholders

1. During the Reporting Period, no changes happened to
the total number of shares and share capital structure of
the Company.

Based on the public information which could be known
on the latest practical date before the annual report was
published, which was also known by the directors of the
Company, the number of the Company’s shares held by
the public had satisfied the requirements in Listing Rules.
The structure of share capital as at the end of the Reporting
Period is as follows:
By R
Unit: Share

WA
End of
Reporting
Period

— ANRWEEBAR) L

RMB-denominated ordinary shares (A-share)

695,913,617

= BEAM BT RANE B (H ) 11.

Overseas listed foreign shares (H-share)

655,069,178

Total shares

1,350,982,795
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2. JBe S 4 DL 2. Shareholders
(1) AWK A TR R ABE A 34,749 F o Hdp - (1) As at the end of the Reporting Period, the total
AJE34,464 F > HIRBH 2854 number of shareholders of the Company was 34,749
including 34,464 holders of A-share, and 285 holders
of H-share.
MBI o AN TR AR g W = During the Reporting Period, none of the shareholders
ALAT 1B B B L2 BE A IR DL © of the Company gave up or agreed to give up the
arrangements of any dividends.
(2) 191 AR AR 2 ] BT 44 P B (R g R AR 1 (2) As at the end of the Reporting Period, the
)3 28 B B R ) T LB DL T shareholding of top 10 shareholders (and holders
of listed shares without sales restriction) of the
Company is as follows:
Hr R
Unit: Share
L LE BAAA SR Rt B
Increase/Decrease Shares held HRIH (%) WaEH
Resiami during the at the end of the Shareholding Guaranteed or Je B
Shareholder’s name Reporting Period Reporting Period percentage (%) frozen shares Class of share
FRMEEAARAT W) 3,380,500 416,448,055 3083 - ARFIHR
Tsingtao Brewery Group Company Limited (Note /) Nil A-share and H-share
Bt R (REA)HRAT (7 2) (3,363,992) 370,515,449 743 Fin i
HKSCC Nominees Limited (Note 2) Unknown H-share
EES g 270,127,836 19.99 KA HiE
Asahi Group Holdings Ltd. Unknown H-share
O R A R A 40,395,975 299 A AR
China Securities Finance Corporation Company Unknown A-share
PEARAFREROARAT — ML — RRAML 29,006916 215 KA AR
PICC Life Insurance Co., Ltd. — Dividends — Dividends for Unknown A-share
personal insurance
MERAREARAEAT 17,574,305 130 pi] AR
China Jianyin Investment Company Ltd. Unknown A-share
ool A A R fE A 10,317,500 0.78 AR AR
Central Huijin Investment Ltd. Unknown A-share
Rl AT 9,748954 0.72 AR AR
Guosen Securities Co., Ltd. Unknown A-share
FERL AR B AAT — BRI A R & 9,146,020 0.68 K Al
Morgan Staley Investment Management Inc. — Morgan Stanley Unknown A-share
China A-share Fund
FECWEHR — RR%S 6,522,643 048 A AR
Hong Kong Monetary Authority — Own Funds Unknown A-share
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=
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—

HUAEERUEAKETERLES UK
2 B 2 B R A R A A R H BB A R
11,316,000 J§ » HA B 1A A W) A BBASY
405,132,055 J§t °

2~ BHEPRAFREN)ARAAFHHEHH
e BeAn s AL W% P i Fe A > I E AR
T A A A B A TR R LB M
o

Wi BBt > A2 R A 0 BE A+ 44 R Z [
R T i I R AR S — B AT BN -

Notes:

1. Tsingtao Group holds 11,316,000 shares of H-share
in the Company by itself and through a wholly-owned
subsidiary, and 405,132,055 shares of A-share in the
Company by itself.

2. The H-shares are held by HKSCC Nominees Limited
on behalf of different clients excluding the H-shares
held by the wholly-owned subsidiary of Tsingtao
Group.

Save as disclosed above, the Company is unaware
if there are any associations among these top ten
shareholders or if they are of the parties acting in

concert.
SIS (3)  Substantial Shareholders of H-share
A20154E 12 H31H » BR Falt AL4b > KA Save as disclosed below, the directors of the
FHEREAMBAEEMAARHESR - B Company are not aware of any persons other than
2~ R ATBON B St i 4% A DA a director or supervisor or chief executive of the
+ s FEAL W) B SR B A v A RE A Company or his/her respective associate(s) who, as at
BRI o % R R T R IRGE K 31 December 2015, had an interest or short position
LRI (B s B 58 571 3 (R 23 29 in the shares or underlying shares of the Company
B ) 1) 58 336 16k T A 77 100 X5 T i T o gk which was recorded in the register to be kept under
E Section 336 of SFO:
Rt/ MM
[ds T I 4 TSk )
Number — BAZEHE W2k
JBe B 500 of Shares/  As a percentage ZHAR
AR i34 Class of B ith underlying of the entire  As a percentage
Name Nature Shares Capacity Note Shares issued capital ~ of all H Shares
HETHEE il AR G 405,132,055 29.99% AR
SASACQ Long position A-Share Corporate AR NA
A-Share
iyl i pecil o I 11,316,000 0.84% 1.73%
Long position H-Share Interest of controlled H
corporate H-Share
ANEMERGER G WA Hk BREHA 2 270,127,836 19.99% 41.24%
Asahi Group Holdings Ltd. ~ Long position H-Share Beneficial Owner HiK
H-Share
i) i3l i L EE DN 3 43,547,342 3.22% 6.65%
Chen Fa Shu Long position H-Share Beneficial Owner Hk
H-Share
JPMorgan Chase & Co. 5] Hlk et 1V 384 58,506,287 433% 8.93%
Long position H-Share EREHN/ HR
fEEm/REA H-Share
Interest of controlled
corporation/Beneficial
Owner/Investment
Manager/Custodian
wikfhRe S B 20,055,044 163% 337%
Interest in a lending pool ~ H-Share HR
H-Share
i) Hi iEiE DN 76,000 0.006% 0.01%
Short position H-Share Beneficial Owner HiK
H-Share
Baillie Gifford & Co. f# Hk pecbiil o 5 33,035,000 245% 5.04%
Long position H-Share Interest of controlled Hi
corporate H-Share
byigdil 6,376,753 047% 0.97%
Investment Manager H

H-Share
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3. BESGaRBHE

B B % HE 2% PR SR > 3 H
269,127,836 B H B HE 25 - #
R AT 2011 467 31 H &
AR H O bR R e A A Bk H R

B 38 4t % 22 71 JPMorgan Chase & Co. HF%
I VY 200 5 0 5 1 8 1 o

JPMorgan Chase & Co. #4524 R 25 1Y
TR e 53 B 2 s 2 R v T R IR A R R AT

Baillie Gifford & Co. ¥ i % 2245 HE 25 1y
Ty B 43 i 7 1 22 2% i Baillie Gifford &
Co. &KW AR A -

O ] 3R A ﬂﬁ:ﬁ%iﬁﬁﬁiﬁ EES
PR 5 R AP ¥
hkexnews.hk) 7 B

%;
ﬁ
B
=&
111%
3

Ay AR AR ) i v I S A B 8 S 5 PR #
BUAE > B4 AN ) a0 78 1 S 45 Bu ) 1 BEAT B R %

B e >

SRV > AR A ) RS BT R  R 3

T B BLAE o

Notes:
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3
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(%)
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The 11,316,000 H-Shares which were deemed to
be interested by SASACQ were held by a wholly-
owned subsidiary of and by Tsingtao Group,
which is controlled by SASACQ. According to the
latest disclosure of interests filings, SASACQ was
interested in 7,844,000 H-Shares.

According to the latest disclosure of interests filings,
Asahi Breweries was interested in 269,127,836
H-Shares. Asahi Group. was re-organized and set
up on 1 July 2011, and held the aforesaid shares of
H-share in place of Asahi Breweries.

The shareholding information of Mr. CHEN Fa Shu
and JPMorgan Chase & Co. is made based on the
latest disclosure of interests filings.

The shares in which JPMorgan Chase & Co. was
deemed to be interested were held through various
intermediate holding companies.

The shares in which Baillie Gifford & Co. was
deemed to be interested were held through various
wholly-owned subsidiaries of Baillie Gifford & Co.

For the latest disclosure of interests filings for the
Company’s substantial shareholders, please refer to
the “Disclosure of Interests” section on the website of
Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited (www.
hkexnews.hk).

Pre-emptive Right

There are no provisions concerning pre-emptive rights in

the Company’s Articles of Association or any of laws in

China, which require the Company to first offer new shares

on pro-rata basis to its existing shareholders. However, the

Company has to abide by the rules concerning new shares

issuance in Listing Rules.
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ANCES - B ARERARMN
TAEDL

1o HE s BRI AT B BB AT O

il

VI.

Directors, Supervisors, Senior
Management Officers and Employees

The shareholding of directors, supervisors and senior
management officers

b : B
Unit: Share
oK 5 e
LRIER Y e Shares held
Shares held at the end of
bk BB at the beginning the Reporting Je 3 i 38
Name Position of the year Period Class of shares
BRI EHRE 124,160 124,160 AR
SUN Ming Bo Chairman A-share
B o B PUTES - AR 1,300 1,300 AR
HUANG Ke Xing Executive Director, President (Note) A-share
(k)
E BATHE S - WK 52,200 52,200 AR
JIANG Hong Executive Director, Vice President A-share
B R F AR AR~ A 122,876 122,876 AR
FAN Wei Vice President of the Company & President A-share
of Manufacturing Center, Chief Brewer
Bl ElEsE 124,294 124,294 AR
LIU Ying Di Vice President A-share

A MBERFHMSBEER PR, HNERBAERE
26,502 B » HoH 25,202 Bk 0 B A 2 T A
o

BEZF-HET-A=Z+—HIL BEREAR
FEBEAh - AR ES - B e AR A B
ST A O ) R O T 2 R o 0 A
SR XV 6 B i RO R BB 3 1 ) e Ay ~ R B e %
5 27 8 P A AT P R 2 R TR > T S R IR
TR ARG T3 B BRI ) 58 352 R T i A7 WY
5 T T R e 9 AR e O 8 U ) 28 S A A ) e
AR o

A2 R B RACERHE A R DA B AR 2 ) i 5T (4 ] 3
o~ B R A BN BT R AR A R e B S B
ol % 2 B U0 ) 5 3 O AT 8 2 2R B PR AT 2 S U
AL o A4 F O 1 i A 2 S R B AR A A
A > A0 S8 S HEE R S P A R > 3
AR R 8 S ) B AT 2 < B A 8 4 P B A5 Tl
P R AL o PR

Note: According to the latest disclosure of interest filings, Mr.
HUANG Ke Xing holds 26,502 shares, among which 25,202
shares are held by the spouse of Mr. HUANG Ke Xing.

As at 31 December 2015, save as disclosed above, none of
the directors, supervisors or senior management officers
of the Company had any interests or short positions in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or
any associated corporations (as defined in Part XV of SFO),
and such interests or short positions were recorded in the
register required to be kept under section 352 of SFO or
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Model Code.

The Company has adopted Model Code and Administration
Regulations of Shares of the Company held by Its Directors,
Supervisors and Senior Management Officers and the
Changes formulated by the Company as its codes of
conduct and standards in respect of securities transactions
by the directors. Specific enquiries were made with all
directors who had confirmed that they had complied
with Model Code and its codes of conduct and standards
regarding director’s securities transaction at all applicable
time during the Reporting Period.
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LU

2.1 AAEFIEHELGHTF

(1) 2 )88 IR HLAT 8 35 55 W i e A R
201642 H 16 H BHE A A & B r JEHL
THEd - HerRNBEZEGER - 2
LHRFMEETRE LR R TR
B & B SE > i F %A R R
HEBRELRARAR B LIEAITES >
Wi Bl E NS & 8 G TIET
FRE S o

FE U 50 A R 30T N S AT O B
WSRO R A ] - b e g S
JBe A A PR A F) A AL KT J5 B A
FEL 2 W1 8 o 3 = AL

(2) A FEEALIEPATE B Ak R
201545 H AT A 5 139 BR 4 i B 0 A
FRABI B ASLIEBATE S > 201642
AR B R R A R A W
MEF

(3)  AVELIEPATE S e A R
391 v 300 i S A T A LR R R
Th M A7 PR 2 ) e 2 T80 3 1 A0 Bt
DA BRA R B L o T L0 AT B
FA S B AT PR A W) B SL A o

(4) O o B AR e R D P il
PR AL B A e AT R A A~ R
2 BT BB A AR W) R LV R
AT R A R B L
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Changes of information of directors

The changes of information of directors pursuant to Rule
13.51B(1) of Listing Rules are as follows:

2.1 Changes of information of directors:

(1) Mr. MA Hai Tao had resigned as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the
Company, Chairman of Audit & Internal
Control Committee, member of Nomination
& Remuneration Committee and member
of Strategy & Investment Committee on 16
February 2016, and on the same day, Mr.
YU Zeng Biao was appointed as Independent
Non-executive Director of the Company, and
took the positions in the relevant committees
formerly taken by Mr. MA Hai Tao.

Mr. MA Hai Tao had also resigned as
Independent Director of Yantai Xinchao
Industrial Co., Ltd., Beijing Beilu
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd and China Transinfo
Technology Co., Ltd. during the Reporting
Period.

(2) Mr. BEN Sheng Lin, Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company, was
appointed as Independent Non-executive
Director of China International Capital
Corporation Limited in May 2015, and
Independent Director of Zhongda Group Co.,
Ltd. in February 2016.

(3) Mr. JIANG Min, Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company, had no longer taken
the position as Independent Director of CSG
Intelligent Technology Co., Ltd. and Anhui
Xinhua Media Ltd. after having fulfilled his
duty term during the Reporting Period, and was
appointed as Independent Director of Shandong
Pharmaceutical Glass Co., Ltd.

(4) Ms. LI Yan, Independent Supervisor of the
Company, was appointed as Independent
Director of Beijing DHC Co., Ltd., Anhui Win-
all Hi-tech Seed Co., Ltd. and Jiangxi Fushine
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. during the Reporting
Period.
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BHAFPATES RIS A S > T DR A
o A0 R AR A B A O I A R AR B
T A5 43 P 4 o) o 355 e A S T A AR o B
AL % e AT BN L O O B - A R A
SE o BHUBCAE IR 4 v A RE AL SR AR TAR
w58 BN DU - B A BN B4R S AR
il 52 A BE L

Annual remuneration of directors, supervisors and
senior management officers

For the executive directors and other senior management
officers, the Company adopts the annual performance
appraisal combining with the remuneration incentive
program which focuses on the working position and
the administration of target responsibilities, including
basic salary and annual performance remuneration. The
basic salary is determined in accordance with the senior
management officers’ position responsibilities, years
of working, and etc., while the annual performance
remuneration is determined and distributed in accordance
with the Company’s annual operating results, the degree
of completion of annual work plan, the results of annual
appraisal towards the senior management officers, and etc.
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The annual remuneration of independent non-executive

AR 4 o directors and independent supervisors is paid pursuant to
the resolutions passed at the general meeting.
487 20 1A 2 2 v A A 8 PN 40
(#50) (BLRT)
Total remuneration withdrawn from
¥4 L7573 the Company during the Reporting Period
Name Position (RMBO0°000) (pre-tax)
BRI EHR 175.7
SUN Ming Bo Chairman
LBl PUTHE S - B 145.1
HUANG Ke Xing Executive Director, President
E VN BATHEH - B 108.8
JIANG Hong Executive Director, Vice President
T AT BUTHE D - B AR 87.7
YU Zhu Ming Executive Director, CFO
R AR TFRATE S 0
Yasutaka SUGIURA  Non-executive Director
EEE WAL I RATE S 12
WANG Xue Zheng Independent Non-executive Director
LShaat WAL AT E S 12
MA Hai Tao Independent Non-executive Director
B WS IEPATHE S 12
BEN Sheng Lin Independent Non-executive Director
fER= WL AT E 12
JIANG Min Independent Non-executive Director
2R BUT B digr 10 1
LI Gang Chairman of Board of Supervisors
BxER AL B T 9
DUAN lJia Jun Former Chairman of Board of Supervisors
I H yEAT B o B 0
Katsuyuki Supervisor as Shareholders’ Representative
KAWATSURA
2 e BLIRVAL S 8
LI Yan Independent Supervisor
EEHE S LRvA o 8
WANG Ya Ping Independent Supervisor
BB L Tk L 54.8
XUE Chao Shan Supervisor as Employees’ Representative
RBAL T 1B 43.9
SUN Li Hong Supervisor as Employees’ Representative
i i T = 40.9
XING Jun Supervisor as Employees’ Representative
AR Rl A R e S o A AT 173.3
FAN Wei Vice President of the Company & President of
Manufacturing Center, Chief Brewer
B9z Hl 488 99.3
LIU Ying Di Vice President
E ik FI AR RS B AR 279.8
WANG Rui Yong Vice President of the Company & President of
Marketing Center
R A EREUE (FHEA RAME) 48.2
ZHANG Rui Xiang  Board Secretary/Company Secretary (Hong Kong)
&5 1,331.5

Total
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HTAH8

41 WEBEWIR > AN (LT TR
i B TH5M 43,0606 A o B THEBB LK E
FREEWTF :

SRRSO

Class of Profession

4.

HER

Profession

Employees

As at the end of the Reporting Period, the Company
(including the subsidiaries) totally had 43,066 full-
time employees. The composition of employees in
terms of profession and educational background is as
follows:

HERRAB(N)

Number (person)

M AN B
#EANH
TREHAH
WA\ H
TBUE B H

oA BB

Class of education

Production and service personnel 17,865
Sales personnel 15,502
Technical and engineering personnel 1,679
Financial personnel 1,185
Administrative personnel 6,835
AR Y (A)

Educational Background

Number (person)

{5 37
AH A
HAHE
A
FHUT

4.2 HHB K

O T DA 367 VO A5 Gh 7 B R~ K S % D
o B3 ~ RO 7 BETR ~ SCAL IR 2 A% 0
V1 2 T AR R o ) SR EMEL(E S AT R
7 B 2 fi 5 L0 o AL A e B T Ak
EHRE S > BAL T Zou LB MBUR - O
BLor L w2 TEAL ~ 5L

Master’s degree and above

Undergraduate

2-year college

Secondary specialized school

Under secondary specialized school

399
7,158
12,806
8,759

13,944

4.2  Remuneration policy

The Company implements a comprehensive incentive
program based on the salary incentive, driven by
the professional development incentive, attracted by
the emotional incentive and focused on the cultural
incentive. According to the various functions of
different parts operating in the value chain, the nature
of different working positions, and the employees’
ability in professional management, the Company has
established a diversified remuneration policy to try to
realize the fair and market-orientated distribution.
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4.3  Training plan

In 2015, by focusing on the establishment of “Three
teams”, the Company continued to deepen the
talent cultivation mode based on the two purposes
of qualification and reserve, that it, based on the
establishment of all-around study platform, and
with the important projects as breakthrough point,
focused on the effectiveness of talent cultivation and
introduced the mobile study mode which received
primary effect of building the all-around on-line and
off-line study center. At the same time, it successfully
presented the project of cultivating important talents
by carrying out a series of professional training
projects based on the two purposes of qualification
and reserve, which is fruitful. In 2016, the Company
will build a solid platform of training management,
accelerate the IT mode of trainings, improve the
leadership and business ability of the management
officers of marketing, and promote the skill training
in the frontline.

VII.Directors’ and Supervisors’ Right of
Purchasing Shares

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries participated in any arrangements in any time of the
year which could enable its directors and supervisors to obtain
interests from purchasing shares or debentures of the Company or
that of any other organizations.

VIII.Contracted Rights of Director or
Supervisor and Director’s Service
Contract

All directors and supervisors appointed by the Company in June
2014 had entered into service contract with the Company, but
did not enter into any service contract with the Company that
the Company and its subsidiaries should make compensation to
the director or supervisor when it terminates the contract within
1 year after the contract has been entered into by both parties
(excluding statutory compensation). Besides that, neither directors
nor supervisors obtained material interests from any contracts
entered into with the Company or its subsidiaries within the year.
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IX. Confirmation of Independence by
Independent Non-executive Directors

The Company has received annual confirmation letter from
each of the existing independent non-executive director on their
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of Listing Rules, and still
believes that, the aforesaid independent non-executive directors
are persons of independence.

X. Buy-back, Sales and Redemption of
Shares

During the Reporting Period, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries bought back, sold or redeemed any of its listed
securities of the Company.

During the Reporting Period, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries issued or provided any options or any other similar
rights, nor exercised any rights of conversion or subscription.

XI. Principal Subsidiaries and Associated
Companies

Details of the subsidiaries and associated companies of

the Company are set out in the attached Notes to Financial
Statements.

XII. Fixed Assets

Any changes of fixed assets during the Reporting Period are set
out in the attached Notes to Financial Statements.




HHEFWME  Report of the Directors

= RAT R

P ZF AR A Z o H BT R R B F
£ OF B B A B

1P R SRR

AN SR ARG > AAF Ok 2
R TR IR

IR

A0y VA AR AR BE 2 H BG4 A AT IR ) BE S0 T A T f
S Bk -

TA EERERATRELY - Kk
Ciasg ol iliih &

IR o AN E AR B R A B Y Y
REERBERAR AT ~ ARA TR A~ HHE A F
BB G ~ KPR A Ko R AR

+t.

A SR A A A Y 263 B AR R 2 R & DF B
B AL IH H i 46

Wi b2t e 3 5 A > A 55 T S SR 4 P9 A0 H R R I At A

e

"I
HHFR
i NREME HE
TR -NEZHAZH\H

— % — I F F H ANNUAL REPORT 2015

XIII. Bank Loans

Details of bank loans as at 31 December 2015 are set out in the
attached Notes to Financial Statements.

XIV. Permitted Indemnity Provision

As approved by the 2013 annual general meeting of the Company,
the Company has purchased appropriate liabilities insurance for
all directors.

XV. Equity-linked Agreements

No equity-linked agreements were entered into during the year or
subsisted at the end of the year.

XVIL.Directors’ and Supervisors’ Interests
in Transactions, Arrangements and
Contracts of Significance

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance, in relation
to the Company’s business to which the Company, its holding
companies, or its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party
and in which a director or a supervisor or any entity connected
with them was materially interested, directly or indirectly,
subsisted during the reporting period.

XVII. Donations

The amount of charitable and other donations made by the Group
during the year is set out in Note 46 to Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Save as disclosed above, no charitable and other donations have
been made by the Group during the year.

SUN Ming Bo

Chairman

Qingdao, the People’s Republic of China
28 March 2016
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I hereby present the 2015 Report of Supervisors of Tsingtao

Brewery Company Limited for your kind review.

During the Reporting Period, the Board of Supervisors seriously

took its duties and responsibilities by strictly abiding by the

related provisions in the laws and regulations and Articles of

Association. It supervised the proposals including the Company’s

financial statements and significant events, and made site

researches in some production companies and sales companies

for the matters including marketing, connected transaction and

internal control.

[. Work of Board of Supervisors during
the Reporting Period
(I) Meetings held by Board of Supervisors
During the Reporting Period, the Board of Supervisors
totally held 8 meetings, including 7 regular meetings and 1
extraordinary meetings, to consider 31 resolutions mainly
including the followings:
I Regular reports:
(1) considered the Company’s 2014 Financial
Report;
(2)  considered the Company’s 2015 First Quarterly
Report;
(3) considered the Company’s 2015 Interim
Report;
(4) considered the Company’s 2015 Third
Quarterly Report.
24 5 Az
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2. Connected transactions:

(1) Considered and approved the resolution of
the continuing connected transaction between
Tsingtao Shenzhen, and Asahi Breweries and
its subsidiary for the purchase and sales of
products for the period of another three years
(2015-2017);

(2) Considered and approved the resolution of the
continuing connected transactions between the
members of the Company and the members of
Suntory Company in 2015;

(3) Considered and approved the resolution of
the continuing connected transaction between
the Company (including Tsingtao Finance
Company) and Yantai Asahi for the purchase
and sales of products and account management
for the period of another three years (2015-
2017).

3. Other issues:

It elected chairman of Board of Supervisors at
the tenth meeting of the eighth session of Board
of Supervisors. It also held meetings to consider
and approve around 20 resolutions including the
Company’s proposal of profit distribution for 2014,
purchase and sales of equity interests, and others.

Site researches made by Board of Supervisors

During the Reporting Period, the sales volume of China’s
beer market continued to decline which resulted in more
intense competition in the industry, and the Company’s
market share, profitability, and brand impact also received
severe challenges from the products of the competitors.
To further understating the sales and operations situation
of Tsingtao Brewery, and also to make the supervisors
(especially the external supervisors) have a better
understanding of the Company, the Board of Supervisors
made inspections and researches in some markets. And
through the opinion exchanges during the investigations
and researches, the Board of Supervisors obtained the
basic information which helped it to make more specific
suggestions and proposals for the Company’s development.
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Independent Comments to the Issues in
2015

Compliance operation

During the Reporting Period, the members of Board of
Supervisors attended the general meetings, sat in the board
meetings, and the Chairman of Board of Supervisors sat
in the presidential conference to legally exercise their
supervision right.

The Board of Supervisors is of the view that the convening
procedures of the Company’s general meetings and board
meetings, the matters in the resolutions, the Board’s
implementation of the resolutions approved at the general
meetings, the implementation of resolutions approved at
the board meetings by the Company’s senior management
officers are in compliance with the laws, regulations,
related regulatory requirements, and related provisions in
Articles of Association.

The Board of Supervisors is of the view that the Company
carried out various work strictly in compliance with
the requirements in the laws, regulations, Articles of
Association, and other regulatory regulations, made
decisions legally and operated in compliance manner.

The Board of Supervisors is of the view that all directors
and senior management officers fulfill their duties with
diligence in accordance with the State laws, regulations
and related provisions in Articles of Association. During
the Reporting Period, none of the directors and senior
management officers was found to have any behavior
violating any laws, regulations and Articles of Association,
or damaging any interests of the Company or its
shareholders in performing their duties and exercising their
authorities.

Review of the financial situations

The Board of Supervisors is of the view that the Company’s
financial system is sound and complete, the financial
operation is compliant, the financial situation is satisfactory,
and the financial statements truly and objectively reflects
the Company’s financial situation and operating results.

Latest use of proceeds received

During the Reporting Period, the Company did not have
any newly received or remaining proceeds received from
financing activities, and there was no situation of violation
of regulations in the management and use of proceeds
received from financing activities.
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Acquisition and sales of assets

During the Reporting Period, the Company acquired
50% equity interests respectively from Manufacturing
Company and Sales Company held by Suntory Company,
acquired 34% non-controlling equity interests in Hanzhong
Company, and sold all equity interests held by the Company
in Hongjiweiye by way of public bidding.

The Board of Supervisors is of the view that the aforesaid
projects of acquiring and selling assets are in consistency
with the Company’s strategic plan, which are not found
to have any behavior of insider dealing, or damaging the
interests of the Company or its shareholders, or causing
losses to the Company’s funds.

Connected transactions

The Board of Supervisors is of the view that the related
connected transactions are considered and approved by
the Board in legal process that the connected directors
abstained from the voting; the related terms and conditions
are entered into on normal commercial terms at fair price
which are fair and reasonable, and do not damage the legal
rights and interests of the Company or its shareholders as a
whole.

Internal control work report

The Board of Supervisors is of the view that the
Company has established a sound internal control system
in accordance with its own actual situation and the
requirements of the laws and regulations, and worked out
improved and reasonable internal control system. The 2075
Internal Control Appraisal Report presented by the Board
and the internal control audit report presented by the auditor
truly and objectively reflect the internal control situation of
the Company.

(VII) Information on the establishment and implementation of

administrative policies to the information insiders

The Board of Supervisors is of the view that, the Company
has worked out improved administrative policies for the
registration of information insiders in accordance with
the related regulatory regulations. During the Reporting
Period, the Company did not have the situation of being
investigated or rectified by the regulatory authorities for the
release of inside information.
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Save as the above, the Board of Supervisors carefully
performed the duties and responsibilities granted by the
laws, regulations and Articles of Association during the
Reporting Period. By this opportunity, please let me express
my sincere gratitude to the contribution made to the Board
of Supervisors during the Reporting Period by Mr. DUAN
Jia Jun, the former Chairman of Board of Supervisors who
resigned in October 2015, and other supervisors!

In 2016, the Board of Supervisors will supervise the daily
performance of duties and responsibilities of the directors
and other senior management officers by continuing to
strictly abide by the laws, regulations, provisions in Articles
of Association and regulatory requirements, actively attend
the general meetings, sit in the board meetings, and perform
duties and responsibilities in good faith and diligently.
It will make timely understanding of the Company’s
operation and financial situation, and through the study
and researches, further improve its duty performance,
improve the Company’s compliance operation, secure
the continuous, healthy and stable development of the
Company, and practically protect the legal rights and
interests of the Company and all shareholders.

Chairman of Board of Supervisors: LI Gang
28 March 2016
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Since the Company was listed on the Stock Exchange and
SSE in 1993, it has been improving its corporate governance
structure and regulating the operation of the Company pursuant
to the domestic and overseas listing rules and regulatory
requirements. The Company’s general meeting, the Board and
Board of Supervisors exercise their respective duties that they
make decisions independently but supervise each other, which
maintain the balance of power among them. The Board sets up
three professional committees, namely, Audit & Internal Control
Committee, Strategy & Investment Committee and Nomination &
Remuneration Committee, which are mainly comprised of external
directors (including independent non-executive directors) which
play positive role in improving efficiency of decision-making
of the Board and promote the effective operation of corporate
governance of the Company.

The members of the latest session of the Board are in balance in
the aspects including skills, experience and diversifying insights,
thus to improve the effective operation of the Board and maintain
the high-standard of corporate governance.

During the Reporting Period, the Company had abided by the code
provisions in Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix 14
of Listing Rules. Measures taken by the Company for corporate
governance are as follows:

I. The Board

1. Duties and assignments

Under the leadership of the Chairman, the Board exercises
its administrative decision-making power concerning the
Company’s development strategy, management structure,
investment and financing, financial supervision and
control, and dedicates to realize the maximization of
its shareholders’ value. It has been stated in details in
the Company’s Articles of Association and its appendix
Order of Meeting for Board of Directors the Board’s
authorities in the Company’s development strategies and
management, and its power of supervision and inspection
over the Company’s development and operation. At the
same time, the Board implements its duty of corporate
governance by monitoring, evaluating and ensuring the
effectiveness and efficiency of the Company’s internal
control system, and situation of the Company’s abiding
by the laws and regulations. The Board is responsible for
the implementation of the duties and responsibilities of
corporate governance set out in the function scope of Rule
D.3.1 of the revised Corporate Governance Code.
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The division of duties between the Company’s chairman
and president has been clearly defined and stated in
Articles of Association and its appendix. The chairman is
responsible for deciding the agenda of each board meeting,
contacting other directors before each meeting for any
proposals to be considered at the meeting, and considering
whether to include such proposals into the agenda
according to the actual circumstance. Besides, the chairman
should also be responsible for leading and working out the
Company’s overall development strategy, and supervising
the implementation of resolutions approved by the Board.

The president is responsible for arranging the
implementation of resolutions approved by the Board,
yearly budget and investment plan of the Company, and
reporting to the Board about the Company’s operation,
signing and implementation of significant contracts;
exercising the right of the use of funds and assets within the
scope authorized by the Board, and signing the contracts
on behalf of the Company. At the same time, the Company
clarifies the specific duties and responsibilities, and the
work of all senior management officers, so as to ensure the
undertaking of obligations of integrity and diligence of their
own responsibilities.

Composition

The eighth session of the Board comprises 9 directors. The
service term of the Company’s directors (including non-
executive directors) is three years commencing from 16
June 2014.

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy in order
to enhance the effectiveness of the Board.

When determining the composition of the members of
the Board, the Company considered about the diversity
of the members of the Board from different aspects
including but not limited the age, cultural and educational
background, professional experience, skills and knowledge.
The Board focused on the candidates’ qualification for
all appointments, and took into account the benefits of
the diversity of the members of the Board based on the
objective conditions when choosing the candidates.
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The members of the Board have various professional
backgrounds and possess different professional knowledge,
among which 1 independent non-executive director has the
qualification on accounting or related financial management
required by the regulatory authorities. All directors have
substantial experience in their respective professional
field. The profile of the directors is set out in “Profile of
Directors, Supervisors and Senior Management Officers” in
this Annual Report.

There are 4 independent non-executive directors in the
latest session of the Board, accounting for over 1/3 of
the total numbers of the Board. These independent non-
executive directors have various professional background
with substantial experience in law, accounting and financial
investment. Such composition is helpful to the Board in
the discussion and analysis of the problems from different
aspects to ensure the reasonable decision made by the
Board. Since 2005, the independent non-executive directors
have been submitting their annual performance review for
reporting to the shareholders at the annual general meeting.

Board meeting

In 2015, the Company totally held 4 site meetings and 4
meetings combining with voting through communications
to consider the Company’s operation and financial
performance, management structure and investment plan
including:

—  Considering and approving the work report of the
Board;

—  Considering and approving the reports of annual,
interim and quarterly results;

—  Considering and approving the plan for acquisition of
target breweries;

—  Considering and approving the continuing connected
transactions of the Company;

—  Considering and approving to write-off the property
losses;
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The meeting notice and materials of proposals to be
discussed are sent to all directors in the reasonable time, so
as to ensure they have fruitful discussion, and make quick

HEGHRMFEHBRIINT and prudential decisions at the board meetings. Details of
all directors’ attendance of board meetings in the year are
set out as below:

SmBK
At
Information of
SIEE AR attending
Information of attending board meeting general meeting
VS EVIES AR
ARSI Sk ABAS MR O BIOR #
R Number that Ztlm kY If not attend k%
Number that BLH R ok attend in Number that Bk in person for Number of

e 3% should attend Number that form of being attended Number of consecutive attending

Name in the year  attend in person  communications by proxy absence two times  general meeting

LN 8 4 4 0 0 & 2

SUN Ming Bo No

Hid 8 4 4 0 0 & 2

HUANG Ke Xing No

eV 8 4 4 0 0 & 2

JIANG Hong No

T 8 4 4 0 0 & 2

YU Zhu Ming No

T et 8 4 4 0 0 & 2

Yasutaka SUGIURA No

FEH 8 4 4 0 0 A 1

WANG Xue Zheng No

Fopi 8 3 4 1 0 & 0

MA Hai Tao No

HEH 8 2 4 2 0 & 0

BEN Sheng Lin Yes

Fid 8 3 4 1 0 & 0

JIANG Min No
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II.

The convening and holding of board meetings are strictly
subject to the rules in Articles of Association and Order of
Meeting for Board of Directors. The meetings are hosted
by the chairman, and are held on time after the delivery
of meeting notice. All proposals are discussed fully and
completely at the meetings and voted in sequence. The
notice of regular meeting is dispatched 14 days before
the meeting. Should any director be unable to attend the
meeting due to other business, he/she could authorize other
director in writing to attend and vote on his/her behalf, and
the independent non-executive director could authorize
other independent non-executive director to attend and vote
on his/her behalf.

The Company’s management team is responsible for
providing the Board with all related materials and
information needed for considering the proposals, and
reporting their related work at board meeting. The
independent non-executive directors may, pursuant to the
provisions in Articles of Association, appoint independent
professional organizations to serve them when exercising
their duties, performing their duties and responsibilities
or when being needed by the business, and the reasonable
expenses occurred will be borne by the Company.

Directors
Training of directors

Pursuant to the Corporate Governance Code, all directors
are obliged to take part in the continuing professional
development to renew their knowledge and skills. The
Company has provided to the directors with trainings and
development courses, including (1) entry training (director’s
manual) for the newly appointed directors; (2) continuing
trainings and professional development courses for the
directors.
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During the period from 1 January to 31 December 2015, all
of the Company’s directors received regular briefings and
updates for the matters relating to the Group’s business,
operation and corporate governance. They were also
provided with the newly published important laws and
rules, or changes in the important laws and rules which
were applicable to the Group. The Company prepared
and distributed to the directors, supervisors and senior
management officers a weekly newsletter about the
development in stock market and updated information of
regulatory policies. During the Reporting Period, some
directors and supervisors received the thematic trainings
provided by Qingdao Branch of China Securities Regulatory
Commission for not less than 16 training hours. The
Company’s Board Secretary received the thematic trainings
provided by the stock exchanges both in Hong Kong and
in Shanghai and Qingdao Branch of China Securities
Regulatory Commission for not less than 30 training hours.

Independence of directors

The Company has appointed sufficient number of
independent non-executive directors, from all of whom the
Company has received the written confirmation on their
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of Listing Rules.

Securities transaction by directors

The Company works out Regulations on Holding of
Shares in the Company by Directors, Supervisors and
Senior Management Officers and the Changes by applying
Model Code set out in Appendix 10 of Listing Rules.
The Company confirms that, after having made specific
enquiries to all directors and supervisors, they have been
in compliance with the required standards set out in Listing
Rules regarding the securities transaction by directors and
supervisors during the Reporting Period.

Liability insurance of directors, supervisors and senior
management officers

As approved at the general meeting, the Company has
purchased appropriate liability insurance for all directors,
supervisors and senior management officers.
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S.

Financial reporting and responsibilities taken by
directors on financial statements

The Board makes annual review over the annual, interim
and quarterly reports in accordance with the sufficient
information provided by the management team and
approves for public disclosure. The directors are responsible
for arranging relevant departments and personnel to prepare
financial statements for each fiscal year, and ensure to
apply appropriate accounting policies and abide by China’s
accounting policies and regulations when preparing the
financial statements, so as to truly and fairly report the
financial situation and operating results of the Company.

III. Specific Committees under the Board

The Board held a meeting on 16 June 2014, at which it approved

to set up 3 specific committees under it based on the adjustments

of its members of the latest session of the Board, and clarified

their duty scope of supervising the specific business fields in the

Company. The composition of the committees as at the end of
2015 is disclosed below.

1.

Audit Committee

The duty scope of Audit Committee is determined pursuant
to Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix 14 of
Listing Rules and Guidelines for Corporate Governance
of China Listing Companies published by China Securities
Regulatory Commission, and is revised subject to the
latest supervisory momentum. Its main duties include: to
review the soundness, completeness and effectiveness of
the Company’s internal control system and regulations,
to review the annual, interim and quarterly financial
statements, to be in charge of the appointment, the work
coordination, and the review of work efficiency and quality
of external auditor, and to review and supervise the quality
and procedures of the financial reporting of the Company.
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The Audit Committee under the eighth session of the
Board is comprised of 4 independent non-executive
directors and 1 non-executive director including Mr. MA
Hai Tao (Chairman of Audit Committee), Mr. Yasutaka
SUGIURA, Non-executive Director, and independent non-
executive directors including Mr. WANG Xue Zheng, Mr.
BEN Sheng Lin and Mr. JIANG Min, among whom Mr.
MA Hai Tao has experience and capability in financial
and accounting business. In 2015, the Audit Committee
totally held 6 meetings. To ensure the independence of the
reporting, the Chairman of Audit Committee arranged sole
meetings between external auditor and the members of
Audit Committee. The Audit Committee made proposals to
the Board on important issues discussed between them after
each meeting. The attendance of meetings of each member
of Audit Committee is as follows:

HiY - r {C/ON 110 3 F {¢/9) HOB R (%)
Attendance Meetings should Attending Rate

ZHEES Name (time) attend (time) (%)
5 Ui MA Hai Tao*

(FJFIREEEE) (Chairman of the Committee) 6 6 100
FE B WANG Xue Zheng 5 6 83
1 R Yasutaka SUGIURA 4 6 66
Bk BEN Sheng Lin 4 6 66
T JIANG Min 5 6 83

e R 201642 H 16 HE&HE
Wl T B A R TR

—  WRARRAFRAESE - A R TR R
A B Bk 5

— BRI A R A R A I ) o R A

— WA PR e R T o B A R > B
13575 B 2 T A S 25 3 0k B 5 T 1 U DA
REANBWERE - KBEERRE - HEAR
R N B AT B AT R AR TR

* resigned on 16 February 2016

Major work of Audit Committee in the year including:

—  Reviewing the Company’s annual, interim and
quarterly reports, and financial statements;

—  Making proposals to the Board on the re-appointment
of auditor

—  Reviewing the effectiveness of the Company’s
internal control system and regulations, including
whether the resource of the financial reporting, and
the qualification and experience of the jobholders
were sufficient or not, whether the training to the
related personnel and the related budgets were
sufficient or not.
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2.

Strategy Committee

The main duties and responsibilities of Strategy Committee
are: to supervise and review the Company’s orientation
of strategic development, to work out the Company’s
strategic plan, and to make timely adjustment towards the
Company’s strategic and governance structure.

Members of Strategy Committee under the eighth session
of the Board include: Mr. HUANG Ke Xing (Chairman
of Strategy Committee), Executive Director & President,
Mr. YU Zhu Ming, Executive Director, and independent
non-executive directors including Mr. MA Hai Tao, Mr.
BEN Sheng Lin and Mr. JIANG Min. In 2015, the Strategy
Committee totally held 3 meetings, and the attendance of
each member of Strategy Committee is as follows:

W) M ik (K)

Number of Number of
meetings meetings should B E (%)
attended be attended Attending Rate
ZRMA Name (time) (time) (%)

B e HUANG Ke Xing

(HEmEZ B &%) (Chairman of Strategy Committee) 3 3 100
T YU Zhu Ming 3 3 100
R ¥ MA Hai Tao* 3 3 100
J=EVN BEN Sheng Lin 2 3 66
T JIANG Min 2 3 66

e R 201642 H 16 HE&HE

g & B LA EE TR HEAF
Wl AR PR % B 2 R BERE R H B T AT
PR A o

RAUBHEMERS

PEA B 2 B R R DRE T R
O ) HE S S AN 7 T SR YD ) >
AT B 5 BF SR O W IR B MR Y O R
A 00 S FE BT HE BRSOt o AT
T -

* resigned on 16 February 2016

Strategy Committee’s work in the year mainly included:
considering the feasibility reports of acquiring the equity
interests held in the target companies and the sale of equity
interests held in the subsidiaries.

Nomination & Remuneration Committee

The main duties and responsibilities of Nomination &
Remuneration Committee are: to study and consider the
remuneration policies and incentive mechanism of the
Company’s directors and senior management officers,
to work out appraisal standards, to study the schemes
of improving corporate governance, to appraise the
independence of independent non-executive director
and make proposals to the Board for the appointment of
director.
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Members of the Nomination & Remuneration Committee
under the eighth session of the Board including Mr. WANG
Xue Zheng (Chairman of Nomination & Remuneration
Committee), Independent Non-executive Director, Mr.
Yasutaka SUGIURA, Non-executive Director, and
independent non-executive directors including Mr. MA Hai
Tao, Mr. BEN Sheng Lin and Mr. JIANG Min. In 2015,
Nomination & Remuneration Committee held 2 meetings,
at which all members of Nomination & Remuneration
Committee reviewed the remuneration information of
directors, supervisors and senior management officers
disclosed in the Annual Report, and considered the matters
of the nomination of candidate of independent non-
executive director.

HEEEOK) R E®OK) B R (%)

Attendance Meetings should Attending Rate

ZRMRAH Name (time) attend (time) (%)
B (47 45 B 3 WANG Xue Zheng (Chairman of

REEEH) Nomination & Remuneration

Committee) 2 2 100

F& g3+ MA Hai Tao* 2 2 100

JEE 7N BEN Sheng Lin 2 2 100

T JIANG Min 2 2 100

1230 B Yasutaka SUGIURA 2 2 100

e R 201642 H 16 HE&HE
g . B b
1~ Edke

Qw58 )\ e B o 4 A R OR G B A 3 T
RGBS AR > BT B H R A ER > 331
ARG - BE - MR BRUL -

S AR R TR S AT B R S BRI - A
RIAE T &SR A 2RI © 20154F 2 » Hide
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IV.

& resigned on 16 February 2016

Supervisory Mechanism
Board of Supervisors

The eighth session of Board of Supervisors is comprised
of 4 supervisors as shareholders’ representative and 3
supervisors as employees’ representative. The profile of
current supervisors is set out in “Profiles of Directors,
Supervisors and Senior Management Officers” in this
Annual Report.

The Board of Supervisors legally exercises the supervision
power to prevent the legal rights and interests of
shareholders, the Company and its employees from being
offended. In 2015, the Board of Supervisors totally held 8
meetings (including 7 regular meetings and 1 extraordinary
meeting) to supervise on behalf of shareholders over the
Company’s finance, legality and compliance of directors
and senior management officers on performing their duties
and responsibilities, and sat in all site board meetings
and general meetings. Details of the work of the Board of
Supervisors are set out in “Report of the Supervisors” in
this Annual Report.
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2.2

2 Internal control system of the Company
PN/ K3 B 3B 0 2 (w354 2.1 According to Internal Control Guide to Listing
FA8 5 P Bl A w] iR E Rl R 51 ) » (LB Companies of Shanghai Stock Exchange published by
R > DA B v 0 ) R A A0 P B R il SSE, Listing Rules by the Stock Exchange, and the
TR RERERIR R > SEAEA F R AR requirements of the specific regulations of internal
W PR T EA AR R T AR A FHBL control, the Company worked out a series of internal
AL EAT o 2 v 35 B o 120 3 B gy ~ RO control regulations, which played corresponding roles
201448 1 7 BARCA B BT R F 1 A Rl 5 B in the Company’s production and operating activities,
e RR AR AR 21 5% — 48 N ER PR A and promoted the Company’s normalized operation.
5 — R E Y VL B AR B R B 2K s The Company further clarified the affirmation
B W T R AR E AT > BT standard of internal control defects and improved the
A w] RIS R o internal control system of the Company in accordance
with Rules No. 21 of Information Disclosed and
Reported by Public Listing Companies — General
Regulations on Annual Internal Control Appraisal
Report published by China Securities Regulatory
Commission and Ministry of Finance in January
2014.
PR e LA T A RO A 2.2 Evaluation to the effectiveness of internal control

()  AvEFGENTERR B RFAHGHL

A E) B\ JE A YO R
3 4y T 2015 47 JE P9 R 42 o S £
o He oy ] ]S G P TR 4 i sk B
SEREHE 5 T 4 TR AR A S R
i PR 2 ) TR R~ TEBEBRIA o AR
AR B T I 0 o P o K
BRiE -~ EIEGREE -

(2) 2T BE P REN G B
AR H U

O\ ) TP i 3 2 RO R R S B S s N
H PG AT T WG > R
AFR20154E12 A 31 HIZIR(AEERN
8 e ) B A AL 4 ) R AH R B E AE BT
R AR T AR B S R D9
il o

O ) HE R T A 4 A
R H K E R R A BB R
AT 42 ) 2 S 2 SRR b 22 i 4
i ~ 7 W8 1B 32 i 48 i A 4 ) A 3 o

operation

(1) The Board’s self-appraisal to internal control
system

The Company’s 2015 internal control appraisal
report was considered and approved at the
eleventh meeting of the eighth session of the
Board. According to the affirmation standards
of internal control defects worked out by the
Company, during the Reporting Period, the
Company did not have any significant defects
or material defects of internal control in the
financial reporting, nor in the non-financial
reporting.

(2) Appraisal by the Company’s domestic certified
public accountant to the internal control in
financial reporting

PwC Zhong Tian was appointed by the
Company to audit the effectiveness of the
internal control in financial reporting, who
was of the view that, as at 31 December
2015, the Company had maintained effective
internal control in financial reporting in all
material aspects according to Basic Standards
of Corporate Internal Control and related
regulations.

The full text of the Board’s appraisal report to
the Company’s internal control and the auditing
report of the internal control in financial
reporting presented by PwC Zhong Tian are
published on the websites of SSE, the Stock
Exchange and the Company.
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3.

External auditor and its remuneration

The financial statements included in this Annual Report are
prepared in accordance with CAS and have been audited
by PwC Zhong Tian who has provided auditing service
to the Company for 14 consecutive years. In 2015, the
Company should pay RMB6.6 million to PwC Zhong Tian
for its full-year work of auditing the financial statements,
and RMB1.98 million for its work of auditing the internal
control, but all expenses for business travels and others will
not be borne by the Company.

Shareholders and other Interest-related
Parties

General meeting

The Company has been devoting to maintaining the legal
rights and interests of all shareholders. The convening
and holding of general meeting are strictly pursuant to the
provisions in Articles of Association and Rules of Order
for General Meeting. The Company’s general meeting
is convened by the Board and hosted by the Chairperson
of the Board. The executive directors make reports over
proposals at the general meeting, while the representatives
of shareholders, representatives of supervisors, witness
lawyers, profession accountant from Hong Kong
(scrutineers for the vote-taking) jointly inspect and count
the votes to the proposals, and have the chairperson of the
meeting (Chairperson of the Board) announce the voting
results and work out the formal resolutions of the meeting.
The lawyer appointed by the Company witnesses the
meeting and present legal comments.

General meeting is the highest authority of the Company,
which legally exercises its authorities to determine the
significant events for the Company. The annual general
meeting is a channel of direct communication between the
Board and the shareholders of the Company. Therefore,
the Company pays high regards to the general meeting by
dispatching the meeting notice 45 days prior to the meeting
date, and the chairperson and other attending executive
directors make extensive and intensive communications and
interpretation over the issues concerned by the shareholders
at the annual general meeting. On 16 June 2015, the
Company held the 2014 Annual General Meeting in form
of site voting in Qingdao to consider and approve the
Company’s resolutions including report of directors, report
of supervisors, audited financial statements, preliminary



— % — I F F # ANNUAL REPORT 2015

®EF WY Corporate Governance Report

FEEl 0 A i~ IR 43 T TR R AR I O i
B VR T e ) L A JE R R o WEPEE T A H 2014
AR L IR AT R AR 0 20154E 12 H4H
ARIEEBUBGRENFRGMT 201548 —
YR R IR K » Sl B sl A T WO =4 R
B 5 B A ) BERE R BRI A2 Bl S o DA M st
2 ek B A R RO EE R R -

VA b JBe SRR o vk vl 5 B AR 2 W AEBE S B B
6 5 B DA B - 28 o A s A 7 9 W 52 T A i A
FIFE B 2 7 o

JBe HEHE R

A o DA% e Pt SR REE i e AR B — JEL R > A A )k
A HOR IR A R ROR & b3 B vk > DL
F I RALTE o BT A B 1 2 PR R A 4
ST R o I3V i A5 1 I HH B BB SRR
PRAETT UE T AZ T A il ~ 58 T 4 il M A A ) A
A o

LB B A R A ) B AT TR AN AT A D Y
B a2+ LT 4 2 BB AR 3¢ A R
FFR DS\ AN R ER (— ) JE DA BT R 50k SR B B
IF e SRS o A I i o e 2 1) B SR K i WD i
TEFHEMNE > BB RAEE > WPLE
T T B RA A R S o BRI AR A R B
TP A B 5 B I 5 e SRR o7 P L2 R P

MR A HE TR EMCA R ER)B L+ 5B
(F) E P A5 B > JB o T 3t 3% 45 HE 1) 30 ek A 2
HAHEFEMEERES EAAREH BRI
#i (secretary@tsingtao.com.cn) % H 75 5 B 2 H 3%
Koo AR B A A BAE B o HESRBERE B
AW > ARA R TR R S 1% T DA AR 4 o

proposal for profit distribution, and re-appointment of
auditor of financial reporting and internal control, and
also listened to the 2014 work report of independent non-
executive directors. On 4 December 2015, the Company
held the 2015 First Extraordinary General Meeting in form
of site voting to consider and approve the resolution of
connected transaction of acquiring the equity interests in
the joint-investment companies held by Suntory Company,
and the resolution of electing Mr. LI Gang to be Supervisor
as Sharcholders’ Representative of the Company.

For the resolutions approved at the aforesaid general
meetings, please refer to the related announcements
published by the Company on the nominated domestic
newspapers for information disclosure, and the websites of
SSE and the Stock Exchange.

Shareholders’ rights

As one of the measures securing the interests and rights of
the shareholders, the Company makes a single resolution
at the general meeting for each significant issue for the
shareholders’ consideration and voting. All resolutions
submitted to the general meeting are voted with polls. The
voting result will be published on the websites of the Stock
Exchange, SSE and the Company after the corresponding
general meeting.

Shareholders who solely or collectively hold more than
10% (10% inclusive) of publically listed shares with voting
right issued by the Company may requisite in writing the
convening of extraordinary general meeting pursuant to
Rule 86 (I) in Articles of Association. The requisition must
be clearly stated to the general meeting the issues needed to
be considered with the signature by the person who makes
such requisition and notifies in writing to the Board. The
shareholders should follow the rules and procedures for
convening extraordinary general meeting set out in Articles

of Association.

Shareholders have right to inquire the information set out
in Rule 52(V) of Articles of Association, and can make
inquiry or request for such right by sending mail to the
Company’s Secretarial Office of the Board or emailing
to the Company’s email address of “Investor Relations”
(secretary@tsingtao.com.cn). Shareholder who inquires
for the related information should provide corresponding
written verification document and will be provided with
such information after their identification as shareholder
being verified by the Company.
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3.

Investor relations and communications

The Company pays high regards to the management of
investor relations, strives to strengthen the communications
and exchanges with the investors through various channels
and forms, and makes timely response to the hot issues
concerned by the investors. At the same time, the Company
has been devoting to improving its transparency to help
the investors have a better understanding of the business
situation and prospects of the Company, and carefully
listening to the comments and proposals made by investors
to improve the Company’s corporate governance and
operating management.

In 2015, the Company totally held or attended 75 meetings
including the calls and visits, and joint investigations
and researches which were appointed in advance by the
investors, attended 7 large-scale investment forums or
investor communication meetings held by domestic and
overseas securities and financial investing institutions.

Save as the above, the Company also participated in the
investors’ on-line open day activities organized by Qingdao
Branch of China Securities Regulatory Commission to make

timely response to the questions raised by the investors
through the platform of SSE Info and the e-mail address of
the Company.
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The Company is of the view that, it should insist on the
operation with integrity and serious fulfillment of social
responsibilities, and establishing a harmonic, win-win and
long-term cooperation relationship with interest-related
parties of the Company to ensure its long-lasting existence
and continuous operation. For years, the Company has been
insisting on making full payment of taxes, operating with
integrity, rewarding the society and actively participating
in the social charity activities and environmental protection
with the steady growth of its operating results.

Good corporate governance is helpful to the sound
development of the Company and in raising the investors’
confidence, while the effectiveness of the Board is the key
to the good corporate governance. Therefore, the Board will
be dedicated to the continuous improvement of efficiency
and quality of decision-making, so as to promote the steady
development of the Company and improving shareholder’s

value.
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Analysis of Principal Finance during the Reporting Period (calculated in

M

accordance with CAS)

] BB R B UL A

Analysis of main business and operating situation of the Company

1>~

U B B4 i B WAL H 52 ) 2y By

Analysis of changes of related items in income statement and cash flow statement

Hfr: T W ARKE
Unit: RMB’000 Currency: RMB

AR B
A ¥ Number of S (%)
Number of corresponding Increased/
this Reporting period in (Decreased)
#BH Item Period prior year  percentage (%)
wmERA Revenue 27,634,686 29,049,321 (4.87)
[=E TN Cost of sales 17,192,102 17,899,291 (3.95)
R4 KM Taxes and surcharges 2,030,394 2,182,624 (6.97)
sEEN Selling and distribution 5,904,539 5,682,981 3.90
expenses
HEHEN General and administrative 1,412,436 1,362,298 3.68
expenses
WEEN Financial expenses (299,598) (334,653) 10.48
& AR R Asset impairment losses 2,062 (3,514) 158.69
W Investment income 462,413 23,960 1,829.98
£ L Non-operating expenses 139,158 70,671 96.91
A BRI £ Net profit attributable to (101,085) 29,434 (443.43)
non-controlling interests
WhEE R&D expenditures 12,879 19,247 (33.09)
R HEENBIA&RE  Net cash flows from 2,574,566 1,690,634 52.28
H operating activities
WEWHELEMBIARE  Net cash flows from (236,709) (1,359,506) 82.59
HEH investing activities
EBEEHEEMNBEHRRE  Net cash flows from (30,678) (2,454,798) 98.75
HE financing activities
WA
Revenue

(1) SR BBOA B2 AL i K 2 B

Analysis of the factors driving the

changes of business revenue

20154F 2 E£ B W A B b4 E WA
4.86% > 3R PR R AR AR B L B R T
[ > fifg 38 BB AR FTE -

In 2015, revenue from main operation

decreased by 4.86% from prior year, which

was mainly due to the decrease in revenue

from main operation caused by the decline

of sales volume of beer in the year.
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Costs
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Cost analysis statement

Bpr: oo WP ARK
Unit: RMB’000 Currency: RMB

V.ETE ik
Information by industries
LA A 4 i
AMEE  AMARRA  RERESHE B e LA
Amount Al (%) Amount of (%) BB (%)
during this ~ Percentage of  corresponding  Percentage of Increase/
VIETE JAKE 5 H Reporting  the total costs period in the total costs (Decrease)
By industries Items in the costs Period (%) prior year (%) (%)
AR
Direct materials 10,220,047 59.45 10,808,126 60.38 (5.44)
HEANL
Direct labor 788,924 4.59 737,229 4.12 7.01
M 4 LR
Sales of beer Overhead 2,565,493 14.92 2,549,966 14.25 0.61
A A
Outsourcing costs 3,349,368 19.48 3,534,242 19.75 (5.23)
/it
Sub-total 16,923,832 98.44 17,629,563 98.50 (4.00)
LNUEER S
Other non-principle
sales business 268,270 1.56 269,728 1.50 (0.54)
ait
Total 17,192,102 100.00 17,899,291 100.00 (3.95)
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Information by products
LA A S EL
AMER  ABERRA  RERBIESE HgAR el LAY

Amount Al (%) Amount of (%) BB (%)
during this ~ Percentage of  corresponding  Percentage of Increase/
SR AR H Reporting  the total costs period in the total costs (Decrease)
By products Items in the costs Period (%) prior year (%) (%)
FALABE
Direct materials 10,220,047 59.45 10,808,126 60.38 (5.44)
HEAT
Direct labor 788,924 4.59 737,229 4.12 7.01
ML 4 s
Sales of beer Overhead 2,565,493 14.92 2,549,966 14.25 0.61
A A
Outsourcing costs 3,349,368 19.48 3,534,242 19.75 (5.23)
it
Sub-total 16,923,832 98.44 17,629,563 98.50 (4.00)
Jof e
Other non-principle
sales business 268,270 1.56 269,728 1.50 (0.54)
a
Total 17,192,102 100.00 17,899,291 100.00 (3.95)
AL« VR B B AR AR I H 4 2 AR AR BE A 2015 478 3 AR B4R BEIA 3.95% o 2B PR AR 4P B it
AR L T o ST W > B4 SR A A T 8L -

Note: The amount of the items composing the sales

cost of beer is calculated with reference to the ; ) .
percentages in the composition of the production which was mainly due to the decrease in cost of sales caused

In 2015, the Company’s cost of sales decreased by 3.95%,

costs in the year. by the decline of sales volume of beer in the year.
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2 R ANE L

Composition of production costs

@z @*rx @wt @k @ uHyHH en O axp
Malt Rice Hops Water Augxillary materials Energy Packaging materials
@ =AT @ HERs

Direct labor costs Production expenses

14.01%

18.90%

6.51%
0.69% 5.23%

7.21%

0.69%
0.17%

2014 —

5.81%

2015

4~ BW

Expenses

OB i3 dii]

Selling and distribution expenses

201548 8 8 % e B4R BRI 3.90% » &
5 PR AR A T 4 [ 4 M1 B R 3L
S8 N\ ELTE 0 T ) e SR P L o

In 2015, selling and distribution expenses
increased by 3.90% from prior year, which
was mainly due to the increased investment
in the promotion fees and the year-on-year
pay rise of sales personnel in some regions
in the year.

2 BTN

General and administrative expenses

2015 4R 45 P # e B4R BRI 3.68% o &
2 PR R AR A A BN L T T 507 T 84 B
o

In 2015, general and administrative
expenses increased by 3.68% from prior
year, which was mainly due to the pay rise
of administrative personnel in the year.

3) WMHmEn

Financial expenses

201547 B 5 ¢ JH W b 4R BE R N 10.48% »
FZ R AR BE R B A B -

In 2015, financial expenses increased by
10.48% from prior year, which was mainly
due to the decrease in interests received in
the year.

O 0 S 08 i A0
Detailed explanation of other compositions of
profits

1) BEBERWIm

Taxes and surcharges

201545 8 3 B 4 K M i b 47 B A
6.97% > T B R A AR B L g BT
[ G R A  E O

In 2015, taxes and surcharges decreased
by 6.97% from the prior year, which was
mainly due to the decrease in consumption
tax caused by the decrease in sales volume
of beer.

2) HEMMER

Asset impairment losses

201540 ¥ 2 W H K B B AR R
158.69% » F: 25 IR AR 47 JlE 43 1 24 W]
RO Y SRR R O T I A A 4R O 38
e

In 2015, asset impairment losses increased
by 158.69% from prior year, which was
mainly due to the increase in accrued bad
debt losses and fixed asset impairment
losses of some subsidiaries in the year.

3) HEKRE

Investment income

20154F #% & W 2R W b 4B
1,829.98% > F: & Rl Rk A 47 BE Gl - 2y
] JBORE WA 38 B 3 o

In 2015, investment income increased by
1,829.98% from prior year, which was
mainly due to the increase in income
from transferring the equity interests of
subsidiaries in the year.

(4)  BRHIH

Non-operating expenses

20154F 8 3 b 32 W B B AR R B m
96.91% > F2 i PR AR BEHR 43 1 O vl i
IV Y S R SR T B o

In 2015, non-operating expenses increased
by 96.91% from prior year, which was
mainly due to the increase in losses caused
by disposing the non-current assets of some
subsidiaries in the year.
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6

6))

2 Wb R A2
Net profit attributable to non-controlling
interests

20154F & W R K 18 48 R B AR E WA
443.43% > BB R PR A BEHER A BB
SR -2 TR B A BB -

In 2015, net profit attributable to non-
controlling interests decreased by 443.43%
from prior year, which was mainly due to
the decrease in net profit of the subsidiaries
with non-controlling interests in the year.

WEEBA
R&D expenditures

VRS IN VS

Information of R&D expenditures

Hfr: Foo W ARK
Unit: RMB 000 Currency: RMB

A AL R A R&D expenditures of the Reporting Period 12,879
A B AT R A R&D expenditures of the Reporting Period capitalised 0
WHEE R A ARt Total R&D expenditures 12,879
W3 A SRR 8 LR LB (%) Percentage of total R&D expenditures in revenues (%) 0.05
NTEIEEE N B iR Number of R&D personnel 49
WFEE N\ B A A 5 BN BB (%) Percentage of number of R&D personnel in total

number of employees of the Company (%) 0.11
WFEs R A B AL EE R (%) Percentage of R&D expenditures capitalised 0
Bl &t 10 W) A AR A B i A A IR Ll g
Cash flow 82.59% » % T PR S ACAE B W o] 48 5 % il

VT ] BRI Y B A G I B 8

(1) #8735 Bh 2 A 0 B 43 a2 i 3 L B Net cash flows from investing

52.28% > B PR A BEWE H B A - 2
R AT R B A T B -

Net cash flows from operating
activities increased by 52.28% from the
corresponding period in prior year, which
was mainly due to the decrease in cash paid
for purchasing goods and receiving services
in the year.

activities increased by 82.59% from the
corresponding period in prior year, which
was mainly due to the increase in cash
received from withdrawn investment and
transferring equity interests of subsidiaries
in the year.

N Wy A A 0 B 4 U R R L B
98.75% » F- B )R PR REARAE B BB A T XX
B4 7] Ee A B 8 -

Net cash flows from financing
activities increased by 98.75% from the
corresponding period in prior year, which
was mainly due to the decrease in cash paid
for the repayment of debts in the year.
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an #e - BB

Analysis of assets and liabilities

1.

YR AL RURT B T R

Analysis of assets and liabilities

B T W AR
Unit: RMB’000  Currency: RMB
LImAS
Amount at
ARIRY AWMAY  the end of the LIURARY AR A8
Amount at the %R corresponding A 1Y iREFR ]
end of this Jehil (%) reporting Jehil (%) Pl (%)
Reporting ~ Percentage of periodin  Percentage of Increase/
HHAR Item Period  total assets (%) prior year total assets (%)  (Decrease) (%)
B e Cash at bank and on hand 8,401,752 29.48 6,388,651 23.66 31.51
JE b Notes receivable 22,7170 0.08 41,600 0.15 (45.26)
E Advances to suppliers 44393 0.16 191,673 0.71 (76.84)
Btk Investment properties 25,512 0.09 10,960 0.04 132.77
TRTRE Construction in progress 287,470 1.01 1,051,916 3.90 (72.67)
g Fixed assets pending for
disposal 6,571 0.02 17,966 0.07 (63.43)
fERi I Short-term borrowings 810,387 2.84 432,953 1.60 87.18
TERHAI B, Interests payable 1,486 0.01 4,740 0.02 (68.65)
—ENFMOERH AL  Current portion of non-
current liabilities 856 0.003 1,561 0.01 (45.17)
R Long-term borrowings 1,712 0.01 2,785 0.01 (38.53)
— {0 i e General reserve 106,025 0.37 66,982 0.25 58.29
Jefloz A fuss Other comprehensive
income (20,326) 0.07) 10,040 0.04 (302.44)
YRR Non-controlling interests (292,051) (1.02) (100,280) (0.37) (191.24)
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@

(2)

3

C))

e
Cash at bank and on hand

B W B AR R LB AR BT N 31.51% » R
5 PR 2 A AP R A 1) A B A TR AT L o
Cash at bank and on hand at the end of the
Reporting Period increased by 31.51% from the
beginning of the year, which was mainly due to
the net cash in-flow from operating activities in
the year.

HE W AR

Notes receivable

JE WA S 4 R 313 K LR AR A WA 45.26% - BB
JE PR A 4 JBE 4R ) G AT AR O BHE 5 45 5 88 R O X
He A T L

Notes receivable at the end of the Reporting
Period decreased by 45.26% from the beginning
of the year, which was mainly due to the decrease
in percentage of goods amount settled with bank
acceptance notes in the year.

N E¢ ]

Advances to suppliers

TR I A S 401 K LB AR A A 76.84% » R
B PR A B AR BT £ Kk 7 2R B AR
E:

Advances to suppliers at the end of the Reporting
Period decreased by 76.84% from the beginning
of the year, which was mainly due to the decrease
in prepayments for the purchase of raw materials
in the year.

B B3 b A

Investment properties

PO 57 0 55 31 R LB 4R 038 Im 132.77% >
B PR AR BEER 4y 1 A F B 5 R i
b BE S I 2

Investment properties at the end of the Reporting
Period increased by 132.77% from the beginning
of the year, which was mainly due to the increase
in the real estates for rent of some subsidiaries
transformed from those for self-use in the year.

6))

(6)

Q)

()

fEgk TR

Construction in progress

A TR IR LRI 72.67% » RHE
J5 PRI A A R 43 1 v ) AR I H 58 T P
o

Construction in progress at the end of the
Reporting Period decreased by 72.67% from
the beginning of the year, which was mainly
due to that the construction in progress of some
subsidiaries were completed and accounted as
fixed assets in the year.

DAl 5 6 i L

Fixed assets pending for disposal

IF A S i L o 00 300 R B AR A 63.43%
B PR ACAE IR 43 4 W R EAR P
I A 5 1 PR SE SR PTEL o

Fixed assets pending for disposal at the end of
the Reporting Period decreased by 63.43% from
the beginning of the year, which was mainly
due to the completion of disposal procedures of
the fixed assets pending for disposal of some
subsidiaries in the year.

i 915 K

Short-term borrowings

30 A Ak A LR B AR R 87.18% > R
JER PRI AR A BE T8 43 - O v S A sk 3 I i 3
Short-term borrowings at the end of the Reporting
Period increased by 87.18% from the beginning
of the year, which was mainly due to the increase
in short-term borrowings of some subsidiaries in
the year.

HE A A B

Interests payable

JE Ak 1) 18 45 ST 9 R bl 4E 1 68.65% >
B R i A 90 2R 43 2 ) B A kR 8L A
i

Interests payable at the end of the Reporting
Period decreased by 68.65% from the beginning
of the year, which was mainly due to the decrease
in interests payable for the borrowings of some
subsidiaries in the year.
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)

(10)

1

(12)

— 45 P 20390 089 35 ) £

Current portion of non-current liabilities

— 45 4 B ] B4 I 3 £ R R B 4 ) DR
B 45.17% > R PR AR B 4 1 A ] 4R
MBI HR A A B 8 o

Current portion of non-current liabilities at the
end of the Reporting Period decreased by 45.17%
from the beginning of the year, which was mainly
due to the decrease in current portion of long-
term borrowings of some subsidiaries in the year.

RWIfi

Long-term borrowings

T 18 5 BR 5 301300 K LR AR WA 38.53% » HEE
JE PR AR 4 JBE 4 R 43 R A O IR — 4 9
Bk == 4R B IR B R AT -

Long-term borrowings at the end of the Reporting
Period decreased by 38.53% from the beginning
of the year, which was mainly due to that some
current portion of long-term borrowings of the
subsidiaries were transformed into the current

portion of non-current liabilities in the year.

— It e g e

General reserve

— JBe R i 1 e 2 3000 R P AR ) T 58.29%
5 R AR A B 5 WL O R — A B
WA M BTEL o

General reserve at the end of the Reporting
Period increased by 58.29% from the beginning
of the year, which was mainly due to the increase
in accrued reserves for general risks in Tsingtao
Finance Company in the year.

Jofb 5 4 e 2

Other comprehensive income

FE At 5% A W i I R LR AR BT 302.44% >
2 i PR R A AR RS A W A% A R D e 4T B
2] bb R e B 55 Ah 1 4 ] A W R T 5 28
WA PREL

Other comprehensive income at the end of the
Reporting Period decreased by 302.44% from the
beginning of the year, which was mainly due to
the decrease in discount rate for supplemental
retirement benefits and currency translation
differences of overseas subsidiaries.

(13) IR A

Non-controlling interests

A WU SR B B TR BLAE R4 191.24%
B PR A B AT A B R 4 1 4 ]
TR T

Non-controlling interests at the end of the
Reporting Period decreased by 191.24% from the
beginning of the year, which was mainly due to
the decrease in net assets of some subsidiaries

with non-controlling interests in the year.

(1) oAb RIS

Interpretation of other operating situations

1~

e R A R
Debt/Capital Ratio

ARSI 2015412 74 31 H B E AR %5 0.01%
(20144F 12 H 31 H : 0.02%) © {5 % & A% Ayt
SOk RIS SRARE (RIS S+ I
Jag e b v 2 ] A e R AR )

On 31 December 2015, the Group’s debt/capital
ratio was 0.01% (31 December 2014: 0.02%).
The calculation of debt/capital is: total amount of
long-term borrowings/(total amount of long-term
borrowings + shareholders’ interests attributable
to shareholders of the Company).

BRI

Assets mortgage

2015412 31 H » A 4 [ % % 2 5K o
(201442 12 A 31 H ¢ $#)

As at 31 December 2015, the Group did not have
any mortgages (31 December 2014: Nil).

B 4 5 5 o

Risk of flexible exchange rate

F 7 A 45 R 2 e A E Y DR RE R 2
AR A O > PRI 0 B A 53 Y S o Y AR
T i DA R BRI B AR o 8 i A 4R [ Y 2 R
hEE—EBE -

As the Group currently relies on the imported
barley among the raw materials in its production
of principal brand, so the change of exchange
rate would indirectly affect the purchase costs of
raw materials of the Group, so as to bring certain
impacts to the profitability of the Group.
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4~ HARPERX

Capital expenses

2015 4R ACSR M ACE BT A - OB MU I H
e AKI 13144850 > fE15 45 [ A4 R AT R
B — 25 B o RIR H AT A B SR U e A R
1> AR A G T A A8 B R
N R REEARHE T TR

In 2015, the Company totally invested in
approximately RMB1.314 billion for the
capital projects of new construction, relocation,
reconstruction and expansion to further
optimize the production capacity layout of the
Group. Based on the present fund situation and
profitability, there are sufficient self-owned funds
and continuous net operating cash in-flow to
satisfy the Group’s needs for funds for its capital

projects.
5. BH
Investments
FF AR BOE SO B R B R o

For details please refer to the enclosed Notes to
Financial Statements.

6~ A

Contingent liabilities

SR IE SO B R M
For details please refer to the enclosed Notes to
Financial Statements.

T B 4 R R 2 B Fee Yy ki L 43 A

(=)

Discussion and Analysis of the
Company’s Future Development

A7 SR8 T M Do A0 % S i 5

Industrial competition layout and development trend

2015 4 rp B AL AR K T AT AR 309 R AR B B R R
o PIERAERCRTATIE ) » Jar BROTH 22 (R A% 48 o 1 P
BT o AR i SR BN > B AT 3 A
KA EE > SHRNBEYE T -

In 2015, China’s economy maintained the development
trend of overall stability and the slowdown of growth,
but the declining pressure still existed. Although the
CPI rose, the overall performance of consumption
market was still unsatisfactory, which brought huge
negative impacts on the beer industry, and the sales
volume declined greatly.

AR 2 — 8 7843 356 T M 847 38 > RO A AR I Dok 3%
B MM SRR CEE RS > ASiHEE
T AN K P o H R e A R A 3 Tl
35 80% WIAB A » 1T 3R EARBIFETE > BE Ab g
6 20 47 A T L T A S B ST I P R BE R AR
Hli G R B AR » AT 55— g -

As a traditional industry involving in complete
competition, and after several decades of rapid
development, the sales volume of China’s beer market
has definitely taken the top position in the world, and
the per capita consumption volume has also reached
the world’s average level. At present, the top five
breweries in China has obtained 80% market share and
the industry is becoming more and more concentrated,
while the foreign players have been increasing their
investments in China in recent years with their
advantages including capitals which resulting in the
increasing market size and further intense market

competition.

I g L A 3 A L AR RS R R R - S
AWIRMATRBEGCEARE > B F AR - M
BER R DU R~ 22 BAL R BT - R
TR AR SE B B R B PP o

The overall domestic beer industry has entered into
the period of “new normality” of low growth, and the
industrial integration by way of extensive expansion
has been to the end that, the market competition in form
of expansion of production capacity and size has turned
to that focusing on quality and differentiation, so the
growth and development must rely on the improvement
of its own operating ability.

I I PR P i 3507 DA S B A 3 e A o R K
HEWEE D > KBERTIEA PR > #84h
BR80T 5 N 2R TR I P K
W] IR T ) %8 1 2 2% 5 0 DA B bl ~ /0N 37 A kg e
ity 2 AR B PR o e A o IR DRI R I R R R
GBI AR > R Y R - T 2 M Tt R K M i
LA T I E ~ REEREE TR o

At present, the domestic beer market is still dominated
by the RTD markets including the caterings. Among
the catering consumption, the mass catering market has
some growth, but some mid-and-high-end caterings
continue to decline which brings new challenges to
the sales of mid-and-high-end beer. At the same time,
some mid-and-high-end products represented by canned
beer, small-bottled beer and craft beer which mainly
for family consumption grow rapidly and maintain
satisfactory development trend, and the application of
matured e-commerce also brings a convenient and rapid
choice for family consumption of beer.
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B e IR L N 3 9 g 42 T 48 AR O 5% 45 8 IR
FSRAME 20 > BB P BRI R AR E R »

6 T IR g S AT S Y S AN T A o ) L A
ARG BB TE > AR BRAE i %W B R AL 0 B2 T B s A7
SETR SR LR -

At present, there is still some difference between
China’s per capita beer consumption volume and
average price and those of the developed countries in
Europe and America. The continuous and steady growth
of China’s economy will accelerate the upgrade of
industrial structure in the domestic beer industry, and
lead to the upgrade of product mix and the price rise. In
the future, the optimization and upgrade of product mix
will become the main trend of industrial development.

A B Ay e I L T 35 07 R A R R KA de B B
Ty 5 RARTEAT HEA T K F A B b B oA R
BT A2 ] BRAM 3 AT S8 A LR R B AR
‘EA‘ o

We believe that, China’s beer market is still the largest
market in the world with utmost potential, while there is
still room for improvement in profit and sales volume in
the future. We are confident of the future development
of beer industry and the Company.

B i % J R W
The Company’s development strategy

THT 35 WL AT S AR 2 B D B T st A R AT A AL > A
AP ORI A F A B R R H AR ) B A
T P N AT SR A 0 T A B o AR AR A I
WG AL -

Facing the future development trend and new changes
in competition situation in the beer industry, the Board
brings out that in the future the Company will strive
to achieve the growth target of sales volume of being
2 percentage points higher than the growth rate of the
domestic beer industry, and continue to maintain its
leading position in the domestic market.

O B A R S B A B R R M > IO B M T 8
EROHT BN > T2 5 H RRE B N TG Oy B 2R g s
B AT B R A B BT B S R B Y 5 B0 R
i S5 B B SR T A A BEER T - S 43 B R Y
i R R > DL Kbl o R RALAE
e BEE > DL FAL I T R A R P e R i T 3 S
BAFH R o

The Company will continue to insist on its established
development strategy, consolidate the core base
markets, break through the emerging markets, and
realize the double-drive of “Growth of brand and
improvement of ability” based on the stabilization of
the domestic market share; devote to the optimization
improvement and management improvement of the
product mix, fully utilize the brand advantage and
quality advantage of Tsingtao Beer, focus on the
consumers, improve the advantage of differentiated
quality competition, and keep on obtaining new
growth in the domestic mid-and-high-end market with
differentiated competition strategy.

A
Operating plan

2016 4 v [0 48 % 73 1T i A0 U85 R AT R O3 > IR g LT T
355 358 A5 2 B B0 A e I8 A B B > AR BIR R AR
W - B ERALBE F AR R o FERFIR T >
20164743 7] AL HOBLRL o) 3 0 B WAL 6 B R R
TR R 2T -

In 2016, China’s economy still faces the declining
pressure, and the competition in the domestic beer
market still appears fiercer and severe trend, especially
the competition among the big breweries and the
international competition becoming more intense. Under
such circumstances, the Company’s operating target for
2016 is to strive to realize the growth of sales volume
of beer being 2 percentage points higher than that of the
industry.
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O\ ) I A FEURA M B 9 B 9 AT 0 BR R BEIRAINIE -
B A AT A > A AR M T 3 R TR AE
Fe T R > bR AT i B A i D T 35 Y A
R o [v] IR B ) R A PR S > A BN L B
A EE SR MRS > RTIEURH B REA I ROR -

The Company will continue to actively expand the
domestic and overseas markets, insist on developing the
developed markets in coastal and along-Yellow-River
basin areas, promote the construction of provincial base
markets and the base markets in which its plants are
located, and accelerate the structural adjustment in the
markets with regional advantages. At the same time, it
will also reasonably control the capital spending, fully
utilize its advantages in existing production bases, and
improve the utilization efficiency of existing production
capacity.

O ) A FE BRI HE BET R % P+ BB B | S
K> MW G HBRABAR 28T > E—PeEE
fEHREMALE - sy & M — b ERE®%
Je ST B FL T W IR A AR A B B TR R e 201648
A v S A Bl S = ) S e S A S o
B S 2 R T 35 W — LB > O RTHEBIROR -
TRPEA b [T > 58 o A R T 4 T 5 0

The Company will continue to deepen and promote the
marketing mode of “Big Customer + Micro Operation”,
keep on innovating the marketing mode based on the
market situation, further improve the existing marketing
channels and networks, accelerate the construction of
the integration progress of sales networks, and establish
the most competitive channel networks and operating
mode of sales. In 2016, relying on the opportunity of
acquiring Suntory’s business in China, the Company
will promote to implement the unified integration of
the markets in eastern China, focus on improving the
efficiency, depth and synergism of marketing, and
consolidate and improve its market shares in eastern
China.

TET SR b > 2 VI A 2 A I o — 8 | i 35 4
B o DIVRAL I & e S A e ol AR > L
VRE e > B4R T b R R AL~ AR AL AN R
LIS -

In market promotion, the Company will continue to
base on the market promotion mode of “Four-in-one”,
focus on deepening the sports marketing and music
marketing, optimize the allocation and integration of
resources to completely improve the international,
youthful and fashionable image of the brand.

(1)

HH g W B} Br  Management Discussion and Analysis

O V) T A0 T A T B B - T AN O R AL
J -~ EhREASE > DL R LG i R I 5 N R R
v i) g B 7S i B AR T S O % R BARR I
FEEEHEEES . L HTHES > HBEEHR
ST

The Company will continue to optimize the brand
mix and the product mix by developing new products
and adjusting product mix, develop the secondary
brand as led by Tsingtao Beer brand, accelerate the
transformation and upgrade of the high value-added
products, and promote and develop the modern channels
while consolidating the advantage of e-commerce to
realize the sharing of resources and complementing
each other’s strength by combining both on-line and
off-line channels.

TR BRI 5 TR > O W51 45 A 1 20 0 B ) A i b
R VBT > RS AL A BEARAR BEAL - iR R
AR BRI A 7~ B0 0 e )4 B o AL LR - e
BRAS > AN B4R R AR AN RBOR B A SR AR R
B -

In the aspect of improving the management, the
Company will continue to promote the innovation
drives and strengthen the practices of operating
strategies, strengthen the management of raw materials
and the control over the production and technologies
through intensive management and process optimization
to avoid risks, control the costs, and keep on improving
operating ability and efficiency to realize the
Company’s continuous and healthy development.

ol i 3 1 B

Potential operating risks

A% FE 03 B MO AR AT 3 > TR N RRPEE R AT
BT 35T > Bl 5 I P vt i 3 e A 3 T B4
B > R AR 2N B AT R B A 32 A I B g

As a traditional industry which involves in complete
competition, under the situation of huge declining
pressure of domestic economic growth, and with the
more intense competition among the international
players in China’s beer market, the Company may face
the following operating risks in the future:

1~ P R P AR T A AR KRR AR B T S5 A
B2 > A0 iy o 8 T 3 R B > T BB EL
WL T 3 AL — 5 IRF 1 P9 A AR R - SN B A
WK A T REE o
Due to the slow-down of China’s economic
growth, the mid-and-high-end catering market
still has not recovered although the mass catering
market has obtained certain growth, which may
result in the continuous downturn of beer market
during a certain period of time, and the sales
volume and incomes in short term may also
decline.
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i = A S L A IR g T A B U R oK > AT
SE o B > 2 L A 3 2 TR A 3 T AL
Ay T Re e — B T o

As the foreign players increase their investment
in China which causes the fiercer competition
in the industry, the competition among the top
brewers will be fiercer in terms of range and
degree.

F Y T 855 30 T Oy > ML A 3 E R R R R
A > A8 Jom K 8 79 € > B A - R B SE T
B -

Due to the pressure of market competition and
the decline of utilization efficiency of production
capacity, the breweries will put into more efforts
in sales promotion which will result in the
continuous growth of marketing expenses for
commercials and sales promotions.

H R %% ) B 4 - N TSR B A b R A R
71 HAF AN B E

Due to the dense labor force, the Company’s
profits are affected because of the pressure
brought by the continuous rising of labor costs.

B AR O MU - TR ) 38 R R 5 R
I Ay LG 354 A o

The rapid development of surrogate products
(imported beer, RTD, and etc.) will take some
shares in the domestic beer market.

s B 1 A 45 58 1 1 2 4 KR FR R R >
AR AT SR A0 250 A A 2 B Rl MR A PR
The rapid development of e-commerce sales
mode including the mobile internet will bring
more impacts and challenges to the traditional
sales mode in the beer industry.

= ¥t 9 PN ) R OO % S T

R 5

Material acquisitions and sales of
equity interests during the Reporting
Period

0 P A R R B TR 52 B U ACAE R SR
68 ET3H[EEFIH] -

Material acquisitions and sales of equity interests
during the Reporting Period is set out in ‘Significant
Events’ on pages 68 to 73 of this Annual Report.

PO~ B AR DL ~ 37 BOR %

Employees, remuneration policy and
training plan

BTG ~ 7 B SRR 85 It 3 RO AR SR 22 27
HI#EF G -

Employees, remuneration policy and training plan is set
out in ‘Report of the Directors’ on pages 22 to 27 of

this Annual Report.
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AAEB )\ EEFEGHRE M/ Members of the Eighth Session of the Board:

BWIYSR A > BUAE SOB% » BAKE — HRREURE EMBA > R RSB SR TRMEL » TR
FIIERBAEE - BAERAREFR > FHEEEFR - GRATE o 807 55—
o~ BUTRRAN > 72 ) K8 AE B B PN R AR TR A - N B RIARE - B ATARE - M A YE MR
WEA B ~ S B - A A B R 3 i A AR > W T SRR R R AT o BB e ik
R B EEEARGE -

Mr. SUN Ming Bo, aged 59, EMBA at Fudan University — Washington University, Doctor of
Management Science and Engineering at Tongji University, and applied researcher of engineering
series. He is currently Chairman of the Company, Chairman and CEO of Tsingtao Group, and
ever served as Deputy Factory Manager and Chief Engineer of Tsingtao Brewery No. 1 Factory,
Assistant to General Manager & Vice Chief Engineer, Executive Vice President, President of
Marketing Center and President of the Company with substantial experience in management of
strategy, marketing, production technology, merger and acquisition, and re-organization. He is Top
Talent in Professional Technologies in Qingdao and expert with special allowance from the State
Council. Mr. SUN is representative of the Twelfth National People’s Congress.

WO BUE A > B4R 53 5% o ALt R ELIG 34T PR BE EMBA 23 » BH LR JE A AL > i A TR o
BUEARAFBTES - AR - FULEES o GEH 5 E TRARA B - AN A5
B e B A AR R R - AR I AR T R L A A PR A AR o BT AT
SRR AL - BT R A A > MR B R -

Mr. HUANG Ke Xing, aged 53, EMBA at Guanghua School of Management of Peking University,
Senior Engineer. He is currently Executive Director and President of the Company and Director of
Tsingtao Group, and ever served as General Manager of Tsingtao Brewery Engineering Company
Limited, Assistant to President & Head of Strategic Investment Management Department and
Vice President of the Company, and Vice President of Tsingtao Group with substantial experience
in strategic planning, investment management and operating management of beer industry. Mr.
HUANG is member of the Eleventh Shandong Committee of Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference.

LRt B S95E > MK EMBA $3 » ML WIJe A B 0r » mALAC T - BULA LA R BT
HH - AR o BT R T RORR > AR A ERR R - RS PR - AR BEAR N
PR BRSBTS A A A A BN ) A A 5 I e A R K 5 2006 4F
B A B IR B 5 2007 4 Hp B AR Lo P SOBEAE 2010 48 b BB B H TR AER o

Ms. JIANG Hong, aged 59, EMBA at Nankai University, Senior Economist. She is currently
Executive Director and Vice President of the Company, and ever served as Factory Manager of
Tsingtao Brewery No. 2 Factory, Head of Production Department, Head of Corporate Management
Department, and Assistant to President of the Company & Head of Human Resources Department

with substantial experience in production and HR management. She is expert with special allowance
from the State Council, and was awarded the prizes including 2006 China Outstanding HR Manager,
2007 Achievement Award of China Economic Female and 2010 Chinese Entrepreneur Most Caring
Staff Development.
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TA W2k > BUAE 545K » WAL B AR EMBA 83 » L g6 A B Ar » W AR B HH o BIEAR
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B~ AR AT o AR A B A B AR AR AR > 2008 4F LR @ RS TAEE > 20094F
R EH e T -

Mr. YU Zhu Ming, aged 54, EMBA at Dongbei University of Finance & Economics, Senior
Accountant. He is currently Executive Director and CFO of the Company, and ever served as Head
of Finance Section of Tsingtao Brewery No. 4 Factory, Head of Finance Department, Assistant to
President and Chief Account of the Company with substantial experience in finance management
and capital operation. He was awarded the prizes including Outstanding Accountant in Shandong
Province in 2008 and Outstanding Accountant in Qingdao in 2009.

i R > BIAESOBE » SR H AR B AR RR > BUEARA R JEHTES - PIHE
A e B e Ko A e 0 A A SR ST M (e ) B A R R R B A R R
FR o BT HAH] H LR ARSI AL T SR E R AHR - BB - p AR B SR H
W (e ) BE AT PR 2 ) R S AR A

Mr. Yasutaka SUGIURA, aged 59, graduated from Department of Literature at Keio University
in Japan. He is currently Non-executive Director of the Company, Chief Representative of China
Office of Asahi Group & Chairman of Asahi (China) Investment and Chairman of Beijing Beer
Asahi Co., Ltd. He also served as Head of Commodities Planning Section, Head of International

Business Department of Asahi Breweries, Ltd., Vice Representative of China Office of Asahi
Breweries & Vice Chairman & General Manager of Asahi (China) Investment.

EBBOEA > BUE 665K » L KELE BB - BUEARA R B IEATES > PRARK
B TR KB E BRI > P BB A R R R E B AR E - R BUN
JBi o

Mr. WANG Xue Zheng, aged 66, Doctor of Law Science at Peking University. He is currently
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company, part-time Professor of the universities
including Renmin University of China, and Capital University of Economics and Business,
Arbitrator of China International Economic and Trade Arbitration Commission, and Legal
Consultant of Fujian Provincial Government.
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Bl dak » BAE405% » UL o UL AORER IR » Wb A AT o 35 BRI AL 7
IEFATE DR > RIBEE AR MR 201548 12 H 29 H B » 20164F2 H 16 HAERK -

Mr. MA Hai Tao, aged 49, Doctor of Economic Science, Professor and Tutor of Doctoral Candidate
of Central University of Finance and Economics. He was Independent Non-executive Director of
the Company at the end of the Reporting Period, and had proposed the resignation on 29 December
2015 in accordance with the requirements made by Ministry of Education. The resignation took into
effect on 16 February 2016.

PPN B A > BUAFE 49 5% > SEARMERHT HE B AR B B AT > v A RO B A SE AR B - B A A
W YRR AR R A o BURARA R B I BATE S > WD RBREE > WL A > Wi
KB LB e B = B BRI EMBA HPo0 AT » 371 Ok 582 1 A48 BRI < it F 5 o 0 AT > AR
BN ROR B B P B W BESE FT BT BT R > WL A ARBUR 2% > WA S B aRAT Iy A IR A A - 4
T P R P e A I 2 1 8 o A v o B e A A PR R B SR AT o B T AR R
ERAT (B ) A R A R AT R B BRER A SE SR AT 2 BR GBI H SR AL

Mr. BEN Sheng Lin, aged 49, Bachelor of Engineering at Tsinghua University, Master of Business
Administration at Renmin University of China and Doctor of Economics at Purdue University in

USA. He is currently Independent Non-executive Director of the Company, Professor and Tutor
of Doctorial Candidates of Zhejiang University, Assistant to President of Management School &
Director of EMBA Center of Zhejiang University, Director of Internet and Innovative Finance
Research Center of Zhejiang University, Executive Superintendent of International Monetary
Institute at Renmin University of China, Counsellor of Zhejiang People’s Government, Independent
Director of Bank of Ningbo, Zhongda Group Co., Ltd. and Independent Non-executive Director of
China International Capital Corporation Limited. He also served as CEO and member of Global
Leadership Team at Global Corporate in JP Morgan Chase Bank (China) Co Ltd., and etc.

R > BUAESORR » B L - BUEAA R B L IERATHF » KBOOR AR H T A6 &%
N> B ERAEANKRRE - hESEEM TR TR - PREEG LT AR EHEAERZE TR
B o W AT S A A B 5 A o T v R S R R R ISR SRR O o [ > SR
AT LS4 B8 P B0 A B R B S e o

Mr. JIANG Min, aged 50, Master of Laws. He is currently Independent Non-executive Director of
the Company, Founder and Partner of Anhui Tianhe Law Firm, representative of Anhui Province
of the National People’s Congress, Vice Chairman of All-China Lawyers Association, member
of Reviewing Committee of M&A of Listed Companies under China Securities Regulatory

Commission, and ever served as Deputy Director of Anhui Economic Law Firm. He won the prizes
including “Award for Special Contributions to China’s Lawyer Sector”, and he is also Independent
Director of Shandong Pharmaceutical Glass Co., Ltd.
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WA > BUESSH > BN LB R B HM R TR FHENL - BEAAF
Terg Wi SR M B 1% > ST R T EAEE RN o BEE & HALR LS )R ER
R~ WiBLR R R B Bk R R R - 6 W OB RIS AR R R &7 R i Bl Bl R = SE K -

Mr. LI Gang, aged 55, graduated from Major of Administration Science and Engineering at Xi’an
Jiaotong University as Doctor of Administration Science. He is currently Chairman of Board
of Supervisors of the Company and Tsingtao Group, and also serves as Chairman of Board of
Supervisors in Enterprises Directly under Qingdao Government. He ever served as Deputy Chief
of Shibei Branch of Qingdao Local Taxation Bureau, Assistant to Chief of Qingdao Local Taxation
Bureau & Chief of Laoshan Branch of Qingdao Local Taxation Bureau, Chief of Inspection Bureau
of Qingdao Local Taxation Bureau, and Deputy Chief of Qingdao Local Taxation Bureau.

BRI > BLAES6 5% » Bk R T R B TR AT BIAE L > R A R B R G A o 20154
10 H 17 H BEAR B B 42 H B » B H A2 -

Mr. DUAN Jia Jun, aged 56, MBA at China Europe International Business School. He was
Chairman of Board of Supervisors of the Company, and had proposed the resignation for personal
reasons on 17 October 2015 which took into effect on the same day.

D SEAT Se 2 > BUAR 655K > HEAEH HACKBUK B TR B T2 & > BULALA 7 RAE % »
1 H G e ek s AL R R > R AT L R TR~ T TR R o BB S8 B B
R o T A B BB ACHR R > BF S B B A E R e BT S B BEACHT R

Mr. Katsuyuki KAWATSURA, aged 65, graduated from Brewing Engineering Major of
Engineering School at Osaka University in Japan. He is currently Supervisor as Shareholders’
Representative of the Company, Vice Chairman of Asahi Group. And he ever served as Head of
Brewing Department in Suita Factory and Hakata Factory, Institute Director of Liquor Research
Institute, Division Director of Product Development Division, Division Director of R&D Division,
and Division Director of Liquor R&D Division in Asahi Breweries.

ARl > BIAE S8R > SR P RO R B o BULACA R SL B > v el AROR B I
BBz > Tl A A > o I 6 B o vl B R B 5 v B BT B
B er Bl > AT B A PR A T - LR R A R A ] R SR
A R A R B SL S o

Ms. LI Yan, aged 58, graduated from Central University of Finance and Economics. She is currently
Independent Supervisor of the Company, Professor and Tutor of Doctoral Candidate in Finance
School at Central University of Finance and Economics, Non-profession Member of The Chinese
Institute of Certified Public Accountants Commission, Member of China Finance Commission,

member of China Finance and Taxation Law Society, Independent Director of Beijing DHC Co.,
Ltd., Anhui Win-all Hi-tech Seed Co., Ltd. and Jiangxi Fushine Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.
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Mr. WANG Ya Ping, aged 51, Bachelor of Laws at East China University of Political Science and
Law, senior lawyer. He is currently Independent Supervisor of the Company, Deputy Director and
Senior Partner of Shandong Qindao Law Firm, Vice Chairman of Qingdao lawyers Association,
arbitrator of Qingdao Arbitration Commission, and Independent Non-executive Director of Qingdao
Port International Co., Ltd. He was awarded the prizes including Outstanding Lawyer in Shandong
and in Qingdao for several times.

RSB > BIAE 575K > BPTRBE EMBA BRI E » BUEAA R TE S » S5 R ke
T L RO o W M B A0 A ] AR B e R () AR AR~ e M (e
M)A BRA T ~ 75 B W RN ) A R 2 AR KB » 75 J5 WL ST 2 B A R A R A AL B S B R >
T RO o ELA SR R I B 4 S AT AR o

Mr. XUE Chao Shan, aged 57, graduated from EMBA class at Xiamen University. He is currently
Supervisor as Employees’ Representative of the Company, Assistant to President of Manufacturing
Center & Factory Manager of Tsingtao Brewery Factory. He also served as Deputy Manager of
Tsingtao Brewery Sales Company, General Manager of Tsingtao Brewery (Sanshui) Company

Limited, Tsingtao Brewery (Fuzhou) Company Limited and Tsingtao Brewery (Zhangzhou)
Company Limited, General Manager and Chairman of Tsingtao Brewery South-East Sales Company
Limited, and Factory Manager of Tsingtao Brewery No. 2 Factory with substantial experience in
marketing and business administration.

FMAL K > BUFE 405K > 7 5 R B AGTE 1k 2R I MR RSO 0 S 3 > AKRL R » BUE A vl T
B BHEHAMEER o MEAAFEF G ERE ML - BHFHARR o RA NS
HETARRER -

Ms. SUN Li Hong, aged 40, undergraduate of Major of International Economic Law in Department
of Economic Law at Qingdao University. She is currently Supervisor as Employees’ Representative
and Head of Law Affairs Department of the Company. She also served as Deputy Head of
Secretarial Office of the Board, and Deputy Head of Law Affairs Department of the Company with
substantial experience in law affairs.

IS > BUAE425% > LMK A Gt BARBE > Fathl > BUEAA R TE % - MHE
BHASER IR o AR AC A v B 5 AR o R SR B R o B M A A B AR o

Mr. XING Jun, aged 42, undergraduate of Major of Accounting Science at Shanghai University
of Finance and Economics, Accountant. He is currently Supervisor as Employees’ Representative
and Deputy Head of Finance Department of the Company. He also served as Section Head of
Accounting & Auditing of Finance Department of the Company with substantial experience in
financial management.
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AR BUERRE B AN B/ Senior Management Officers

BEARIGA > BUAE SO R > LM RSB L sE R B3k > TRASIBHBIZER » BUEA 2 =] R AR
FOBRE ~ AABRIG A o 8155 5 I T RRI MR ~ AR TR o A R AREE A o B MR A
BE ~ IR B A BLALHR > 7 R ER IR AT BB B R K o

Mr. FAN Wei, aged 56, Master’s Degree at Southern Yangtze University, Applied Researcher of
engineering series. He is currently Vice President of the Company & President of Manufacturing
Center, and Chief Brewer. He also served as Deputy Factory Manager and Chief Engineer of
Tsingtao Brewery No. 2 Factory, and Chief Brewer of the Company with substantial experience
in production, scientific research and technical management. He is Top Talent in Professional
Technologies in Qingdao and expert with special allowance from the State Council.

ST > BUE SR > AR LARAN > BUEARA W AR > FETHE T B AKRRE - BEF
5 R R R RS A ) AR 5 T WL AR A PR R RIARE  LORA B EBR R H o B
AR R BB T B~ AR B LA B TR AT BLARR o 2003 4T BT EEBATIR RN -

Mr. LIU Ying Di, aged 59, Senior Engineer. He is currently Vice President of the Company,
and representative of the Fifteenth People’s Congress in Qingdao. He also served as Deputy
Factory Manager of Tsingtao Brewery Factory, Deputy General Manager of the Company, Vice
President of Tsingtao Group and member of the Tenth Shandong Committee of Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference with substantial experience in management of production and
technology, information and engineering projects. He was awarded as the Top Talent of Professional
Technologies in Qingdao in 2003.

ERK A > BUES0RR » LR TR BLAH L WFJE A BRI > o AR AR » BUEACA W |l 48K
HeE AR o WAL T I W L O R MR > TR L (RN ) SR R A D AR RSB > ko R
T A PR A AR AEBI o b9 R L S RO B A ) KRB 7 R L B P L SR [ A A
B> ARAFE b0 N BRI AE o B SR AT B A SR A B

Mr. WANG Rui Yong, aged 50, MBA at Peking University, senior engineer. He is currently Vice
President of the Company & President of Marketing Center, and ever served as Factory Manager
of Qingdao Laoshan Brewery Factory, Deputy General Manager of Tsingtao Brewery (Xuzhou)
Pengcheng Company Limited, General Manager of Beijing Five-Star Tsingtao Brewery Company
Limited, Shanghai Tsingtao Brewery East-China Sales Company Limited and Shandong Area
of Marketing Center of the Company, and Executive Vice President of Marketing Center of the
Company with substantial experience in marketing and business administration.

WEAESE A > BUE SR > REBAR > Kyl > BEAAREFGUEREFFBEE ML - 2
mIBLE - RERE - YEAAFRESGHES LA - fBE - BEERFERE - RAR
S8 b o RUEAR ~ A5 8 B B AT 5 il AR o

Mr. ZHANG Rui Xiang, aged 51, undergraduate, Economist. He is currently Board Secretary &
Head of Secretarial Office of the Board, Company Secretary and Authorized Representative of
the Company. He also served as Assistant to Director, Deputy Director and Director of Secretarial
Office of the Board & Representative to Securities Affairs of the Company with substantial
experience in the operation of listed company, information disclosure and financing in capital
market.
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are disclosed below. The Group has complied with the
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules in respect of such transactions.

1. The continuing connected transactions relating to
daily operation

(1) As considered and approved by the Board, the
Company entered into a Product Distribution
Agreement with Yantai Asahi on 3 February
2015, whereby Yantai Asahi agreed to grant
the Company the sole distribution right for the
distribution of all products of Yantai Asahi
for the period from 1 January 2015 to 31
December 2017. As an indirect subsidiary of
Asahi Group which is a substantial shareholder
of the Company, Yantai Asahi is therefore
an associate of Asahi Group and a connected
person of the Company. For details of this
continuing connected transaction, please refer
to the announcements published on the websites
of the Stock Exchange and SSE on 3 February
2015. The annual cap amount of the Company’s
purchasing beer products from Yantai Asahi for
2015 was RMB1.2 billion of which the actual
purchasing amount was RMB652,532,842, not
exceeding the annual cap amount.
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As considered and approved by the Board,
Tsingtao Shenzhen entered into two New Asahi
Product Distribution Agreement with Asahi
Breweries and its wholly-owned subsidiary, Asahi
(China) Investment, on 3 February 2015, whereby
Asahi Breweries and such subsidiary agreed to
continue to purchase “Asahi” brand beer products
from Tsingtao Shenzhen for the period from
1 January 2015 to 31 December 2017. As the
associates of Asahi Group which is a substantial
shareholder of the Company, Asahi Breweries
and Asahi (China) Investment, subsidiaries of
Asahi Group, are therefore connected persons
of the Company. For details of the subject
continuing connected transactions, please
refer to the announcements published by the
Company on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and SSE respectively on 3 February 2015. The
annual cap amount paid by Asahi Breweries
to Tsingtao Shenzhen for 2015 was RMB40
million, of which the actual purchasing amount
was RMB26,190,227, and the annual cap amount
paid by Asahi (China) Investment to Tsingtao
Shenzhen was RMB10 million, of which the
actual purchasing amount was RMB7,613,190,
not exceeding the annual cap amounts.

As considered and approved by the Board,
Tsingtao Finance Company, the Company’s
wholly-owned subsidiary, entered into an
agreement with Yantai Asahi on 3 February
2015, whereby Yantai Asahi agreed to the related
deposit and settlement service of depositing its
sales incomes in the account opened in Tsingtao
Finance Company for the period from 1 January
2015 to 31 December 2017. The cap amount
(including the interests and settlement fees) for
Tsingtao Finance Company absorbing the deposit
of Yantai Asahi’s sales incomes was not allowed
to exceed the respective annual cap amount of the
continuing connected transaction of purchasing
beer products between the Company and Yantai
Asahi as approved by the Board. As at the
end of the Reporting Period, the capital and
its corresponding interests and settlement fees
deposited by Yantai Asahi in Tsingtao Finance
Company was RMB739,301,406, not exceeding
the annual cap amount of RMBI1.2 billion. For
details of the subject continuing connected
transaction, please refer to the announcements
published by the Company on the websites of
the Stock Exchange and SSE respectively on 3
February 2015.

As Suntory Company is a substantial
shareholder of a subsidiary of the Company,
and Manufacturing Company is a subsidiary
of Suntory Company, members of the Suntory
Company group (including Manufacturing
Company and New Songjiang Manufacturing) are
connected persons of the Group at the level of
subsidiaries.
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Sales Company (a subsidiary of the Company)
and Manufacturing Company, entered into a
framework agreement for the sales of beer on 3
February 2015. And on the same day, Tsingtao
Finance Company, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, entered into a deposit and
settlement service contract with New Songjiang
Manufacturing and the Manufacturing Company
respectively for the period from 1 January to 31
December 2015. For details of the transactions,
please refer to the announcements published
by the Company on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and SSE on 3 February 2015.

The transactions of purchasing beer products, and
deposit and settlement service under the aforesaid
contracts constitute continuing connected
transactions in according to Listing Rules. The
annual cap amount as at 31 December 2015 for
purchasing beer products from the subsidiaries of
Manufacturing Company by the subsidiaries of
the Company was RMB3.9 billion, and the actual
purchasing amount was RMB2,167,071,941.
The annual cap amount for the deposit and
settlement service provided by Tsingtao Finance
Company as at 31 December 2015 was RMB1.8
billion, and the actual transaction amount was
RMB787,703,270. Neither of them exceeded the
annual cap amount.

Save as above, before the completion of re-
organization transactions, contracts of purchasing
malt, beer and financial arrangements were
entered into between the members of the Group
and the members of Suntory Company in
their respective ordinary and usual course of
business. After the completion of re-organization
transactions, some members of the Company
and some members of Suntory Company
became connected persons of the Company, the
Company had been in compliance with the related
requirements in Chapter 14A.60 of Listing Rules
in this respect, several related agreements were
entered into between the members of the Group
and the members of Suntory Company (including
Suntory Shanghai, Suntory Kunshan, Suntory
Guangming, Suntory Jiangsu and Jiangsu Suntory
(Huai’an) Brewery Co., Ltd.) on 9 December
2012. These agreements are still effective without
any changes in content.
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Shareholder please also be noted of the announcement
of continuing connected transactions between Tsingtao
Shenzhen and several members of the Group published
by the Company on 18 May 2009. Asahi Breweries,
substantial shareholder of Tsingtao Shenzhen,
became substantial shareholder of the Company after
acquiring approximately 19.99% of total issued shares
capital of the Company on 6 May 2009. Pursuant
to Chapter 14A.11(5) of Listing Rules for the time
being in force, Tsingtao Shenzhen became connected
person of the Company, and the transactions between
Tsingtao Shenzhen and the members of the Group also
constituted connected transactions of the Company. For
other details of this continuing connected transaction
please refer to the announcement published by the
Company on 18 May 2009 on the websites of the stock
exchanges on which the Company is listed.

During the Reporting Period, the aforesaid continuing
connected transactions were carried out pursuant to
the terms of the above contracts or agreements. The
independent non-executive directors of the Company
had audited the continuing connected transactions in the
Company and its related subsidiaries, and confirmed
such transactions were:

(1) entered into in ordinary and usual course of
business of the Group;

(2) on normal commercial terms, or entered into
in terms not better than those the Company
providing to the independent third party or not
worse than those from the independent third

party;

(3) according to the agreement governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the
interests of the listed issuer’s sharcholders as a
whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on
the Group’s continuing connected transactions in
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 (revised) Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information and with reference to Practice Note 740
Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules issued by Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The
auditor has issued a letter containing his findings and
conclusions in respect of the continuing connected
transactions disclosed by the Group on pages 68 to 70
of this Annual Report in accordance with Rule 14A.56
of Listing Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been
provided by the Company to the Stock Exchange.
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Such transactions are in the ordinary and usual course
of business of the Company, and are necessary and
continuous in the business operation of the Company.
Such connected transactions will not affect the
independence of the Company.

Non-exempt connected transaction

Details of the connected transaction are set out in
paragraph 2 of the section “Material acquisition and
sales of equity interests during the Reporting Period
and the progress after the Reporting Period” below.

The Company confirms that the disclosure of the
aforesaid connected transactions (including continuing
connected transactions) carried out in 2015 were in
compliance with the disclosure rules set out in Chapter
14A of Listing Rules.

Material acquisition and sales of
equity interests during the Reporting
Period and the progress after the
Reporting Period

On 28 August 2015, the seventh meeting of the eighth
session of the Board was held to consider and approve
the Feasible Report on Transfer of 100% Equity
Interests held in Qingdao Hongjiweiye Investment Co.,
Ltd., which agreed to sell the 100% equity interests held
in Hongjiweiye for RMB461.29 million, the premium
bidding price based on the price determined in the asset
evaluation report, by way of public bidding in Qingdao
Property Exchange, and the actual transfer price after
the public bidding would be deemed as the final price
of the transaction. In December 2015, the Company
entered into an equity interests transfer agreement with
Shouguang Chenming Holding Co., Ltd., the transferee
of the subject equity interests obtained by way of
public bidding in Qingdao Property Exchange, at the
transfer price, that is, the bidding price, of RMB461.29
million. The procedures of transferring the equity
interests involved in the transaction of selling equity
interests had been completed in late December of 2015,
which increased RMB334.03 million of net profit
attributable to shareholders of the Company. For details
of the subject transaction, please refer to the overseas
regulatory announcements published on the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company on 31 August and
21 December 2015 respectively.
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As considered and approved at the eighth meeting of the
eighth session of the Board, on 18 October 2015, the
Company and Suntory Company had entered into the
Framework Agreement, pursuant to which the Company
would acquire 50% equity interests held by Suntory
Company respectively in Manufacturing Company
and Sales Company for a consideration of the total
sum of RMBS822,912,001 (around HKD1,005,390,349)
and the adjusted amount of the price as agreed in the
Framework Agreement. Since Suntory Company is a
substantial shareholder of the Sales Company, Suntory
Company is a connected person of the Company at the
subsidiary level, the acquisition constitutes a connected
transaction of the Company under the Listing Rules.
The actual adjusted amount of the price would be
confirmed in written form within 30 working days after
the auditing report had been presented by the auditor
employed by Suntory Company both parties after the
transferring date. The aforesaid significant connected
transaction had been considered and approved at
the 2015 First Extraordinary General Meeting. For
details of this transaction, please refer to the related
announcements published by the Company on the
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company on 19
October and 4 December 2015 respectively.

On 4 February 2016, the procedures of unified
reviewing taken by the State Ministry of Commerce to
the operators for this transaction had been completed,
and the procedures of alteration registration at the
industrial and commercial administration for the
transfer of the equity interests in Manufacturing
Company and Sales Company had been completed on
16 and 24 March 2016 respectively. The Company
will confirm the final consideration of the deal with
Suntory Company in accordance with the audit situation
during the transitional period and the confirmed results,
and take the accounting treatment accordingly. For
details of this issue, the Company will publish separate
announcement in accordance with the progress.
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Guarantees and fund management
entrusted to others during the
Reporting Period

As considered and approved at the sixth meeting of
the eighth session of the Board, in May 2015, the
Company and Tsingtao HK submitted to Bank of
China Co., Ltd. the Application for Arrangement and
Division of Credit Line, pursuant to which to divide
RMB300 million from the credit line of the Company
in Bank of China to Tsingtao HK for its use by way
of dividing the domestic credit line in Bank of China,
and the Company would provide anti-guarantee for this
division; as at 31 December 2015, Macau Branch of
Bank of China Co., Ltd. had provided to Tsingtao HK
with RMB283,176,400 (HKD338,000,000 in original
currency) of the principal of the loan for the period
from 5 May 2015 to 4 May 2016.

In 2015, as considered and approved at the eighth
session of the Board, Tsingtao Brewery Finance LLC,
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, launched
the business of capital preservation financial products.
During the Reporting Period, it had accumulatively
utilized RMB900 million as the fund for the aforesaid
business, and received RMB21.62 million of incomes
from the matured financial products. As at the end of
the Reporting Period, all financial products had matured
and been withdrawn, and the principal and its incomes
had been credited into the account.

To secure the production and operation of its
subsidiaries, and upon the approval by the Board, the
Company provided to some controlling subsidiaries
with entrusted loans. As at the end of the Reporting
Period, the balance was RMB648.5 million.

IV. Material Legal Proceedings

During the Reporting Period, the Company did not involve in

any material litigation or arbitration and no material litigation

or arbitration were pending or threatened or made against the

Company so far the Company is aware.



— % — I F F % ANNUAL REPORT 2015 75

MW Financial Report

22 1 v o 3 i T 4 o) ) B
Financial Statements Prepared in Accordance with China Accounting Standards for
Business Enterprises

76 ot 187  Auditor’s Report
2015 4E I B E Financial Statements for the year ended 31 December 2015
77 AHEATIEEAMBE 188 Consolidated and Company balance sheets
79 EOF R A TR R 190 Consolidated and Company income statements
80 G RAFRBERREE 192 Consolidated and Company cash flow statements
82 O I N 25 S B R 194 Consolidated statement of changes in shareholders’ equity
83 O ) I N 25 S B R 195 Company statement of changes in shareholders’ equity
84 BB ERFE M 196 Notes to the financial statements

186 #li s &K 317 Supplementary information



— % — I F F H ANNUAL REPORT 2015

Auditor’s Report

_i
pwc A

PwC ZT Shen Zi (2016) No. 10059
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF TSINGTAO BREWERY COMPANY LIMITED,

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Tsingtao Brewery Company Limited (hereinafter the “Company”),
which comprise the consolidated and company balance sheets as at 31 December 2015, and the consolidated and company income
statements, the consolidated and company statements of changes in shareholders’ equity and the consolidated and company cash
flow statements for the year then ended, and the notes to the financial statements.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management of the Company is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance
with the requirements of Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises, and for such internal control as management determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance
with China Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant
to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated and company’s
financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2015, and their financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with the requirements of Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises.

PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian LLP

Shanghai, the People’s Republic of China
28 March 2016

P PR B T HTE TS (155K 2 5% )
PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian LLP, 11/F PricewaterhouseCoopers Center
2 Corporate Avenue, 202 Hu Bin Road, Huangpu District, Shanghai 200021, PRC

T: +86 (21) 2323 8888, F: +86 (21) 2323 8800, www.pwcen.com
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Consolidated and Company Balance Sheets

As at 31 December 2015

(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated)

ASSETS

As at 31 December

Note 4
(unless otherwise 2015 2014 2015 2014
stated) Consolidated Consolidated Company Company
Current assets
Cash at bank and on hand (1) 8,401,751,637 6,388,650,779 3,043,305,966 1,183,342,128
Notes receivable 2) 22,770,000 41,600,000 18,600,000 13,200,000
Accounts receivable (3),16(1) 117,990,987 125,421,629 448,695,212 565,001,961
Advances to suppliers (5) 44,392,821 191,672,927 21,196,969 135,138,446
Interests receivable (6) 148,581,416 171,660,445 21,963,787 16,783,698
Dividends receivable 16(3) — — — 105,700,000
Other receivables (4),16(2) 200,675,954 163,583,950 154,660,185 146,429,551
Inventories (7) 2,182,435,136 2,486,827,106 829,296,282 728,850,534
Other current assets 8) 768,741,109 782,631,150 657,471,757 555,856,765
Total current assets 11,887,339,060 10,352,047,986 5,195,190,158 3,450,303,083
Non-current assets
Available-for-sale financial
assets 9) 608,642 308,642 300,000 —
Long-term receivables 16(4) — — 474,200,000 339,200,000
Long-term equity investments (10),16(5) 1,507,745,095 1,536,262,375 9,103,798,500 9,286,244,364
Investment properties (11),16(6) 25,512,148 10,960,292 32,874,602 27,501,876
Fixed assets (12),16(7) 9,896,905,884 9,118,776,190 2,278,222,674 1,963,811,242
Construction in progress (13),16(8) 287,469,734 1,051,916,065 161,458,068 448,610,397
Fixed assets pending for
disposal (14) 6,571,007 17,965,978 2,910,998 8,163,309
Intangible assets (15),16(9) 2,707,099,617 2,780,584,276 671,513,765 659,033,003
Goodwill (16) 1,307,103,982 1,307,103,982 — —
Long-term prepaid expenses (17) 39,861,860 32,574,517 8,413,988 7,101,267
Deferred tax assets (18) 769,158,717 718,786,072 433,253,394 394,019,122
Other non-current assets (20) 65,214,382 76,626,751 11,896,660 15,732,193

Total non-current assets

TOTAL ASSETS

16,613,251,068

16,651,865,140

13,178,842,649

13,149,416,773

28,500,590,128

27,003,913,126

18,374,032,807

16,599,719,856




Consolidated and Company Balance Sheets

As at 31 December 2015

(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated)

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

— % — I F F H ANNUAL REPORT 2015

(Continued)

As at 31 December

Note 4
(unless otherwise 2015 2014 2015 2014
stated) Consolidated Consolidated Company Company
Current liabilities
Short-term borrowings (21) 810,387,282 432,952,595 — —
Notes payable (22) 100,141,631 91,748,125 51,600,000 58,100,000
Accounts payable (23) 2,590,986,856 2,494,168,939 1,955,648,512 1,888,324,753
Advances from customers (24) 1,000,313,388 787,924,958 664,814,193 394,304,413
Employee benefits payable (25) 925,629,768 866,668,648 341,050,125 300,204,990
Taxes payable (26) 261,889,152 249,195,538 52,527,324 35,030,675
Interests payable 1,486,051 4,739,860 — —
Other payables (27) 4,061,298,404 4,299,312,050 1,992,292,436 1,807,768,348
Current portion of non-current
liabilities (28) 856,189 1,561,421 — —
Total current liabilities 9,752,988,721 9,228,272,134 5,057,932,590 4,483,733,179
Non-current liabilities
Long-term borrowings (29) 1,711,800 2,784,731 — —
Payables for specific projects (30) 251,632,082 324,837,574 48,663,142 84,446,050
Deferred income (31) 1,656,652,129 1,511,117,533 43,821,553 51,591,650
Long-term employee benefits
payable (32) 537,725,965 491,150,976 268,790,726 243,592,856
Deferred tax liabilities (18) 133,868,381 158,467,740 — —
Total non-current liabilities 2,581,590,357 2,488,358,554 361,275,421 379,630,556
Total liabilities 12,334,579,078 11,716,630,688 5,419,208,011 4,863,363,735
Equity
Share capital (33) 1,350,982,795 1,350,982,795 1,350,982,795 1,350,982,795
Capital surplus (34),16(11) 4,075,078,879 4,079,399,151 4,306,624,104 4,306,073,277
Other comprehensive income (35),16(12) (20,326,159) 10,040,344 (32,110,000) (14,321,000)
Surplus reserve (36) 1,400,704,380 1,216,339,469 1,400,704,380 1,216,339,469
General reserve (37) 106,025,418 66,981,927 — —

Undistributed profits

Total equity attributable to

shareholders of the Company

Non-controlling interests

Total equity

TOTAL LIABILITIES
AND EQUITY

(38),16(13)

9,545,596,720

8,663,818,498

5,928,623,517

4,877,281,580

16,458,062,033
(292,050,983)

15,387,562,184

(100,279,746)

12,954,824,796

11,736,356,121

16,166,011,050

15,287,282,438

12,954,824,796

11,736,356,121

28,500,590,128

27,003,913,126

18,374,032,807

16,599,719,856

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Head of accounting department:
HOU Qiuyan

Principal in charge of accounting
(Chief Financial Officer):
YU Zhuming

Legal representative:
SUN Mingbo
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Consolidated and Company Income Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2015

(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated)

ITEM

Year ended 31 December

Note 4
(unless otherwise 2015 2014 2015 2014
stated) Consolidated Consolidated Company Company

Revenue (39),16(14) 27,634,686,040 29,049,321,166 16,695,191,598 17,053,869,772

(39).(41),

Less: Cost of sales 16(14),(15) (17,192,101,695)  (17,899,291,275)  (12,474,793,348)  (13,102,792,134)
Taxes and surcharges (40) (2,030,394,346) (2,182,624,248) (492,915,490) (503,011,241)
Selling and distribution expenses  (41),16(15) (5,904,539,236) (5,682,981,368) (3,101,044,762) (3,015,165,698)
General and administrative

expenses (41),16(15) (1,412,435,528) (1,362,297,511) (445,201,522) (411,513,035)
Finance expenses — net (42),16(16) 299,597,521 334,652,990 49,593,277 1,840,847
Asset impairment

(losses)/reversals (44),16(18) (2,062,375) 3,513,780 30,360,880 (4,963,777)

Add: Investment income (43),16(17) 462,412,814 23,959,509 1,682,451,832 1,510,694,821
Including: Share of

(losses)/profits of
associates and a
joint venture (4,562,375) 23,840,743 (2,157,821) 32,876,912

Operating profit 1,855,163,195 2,284,253,043 1,943,642,465 1,528,959,555

Add: Non-operating income (45) 558,817,491 469,416,868 116,840,761 62,933,202
Including: Gains on disposal of

non-current assets 29,048,431 3,216,362 25,209,539 760,038

Less: Non-operating expenses (46) (139,158,284) (70,671,089) (48,384,459) (8,579,578)

Including: Losses on disposal of
non-current assets (130,560,143) (62,932,536) (47,118,238) (8,026,293)

Total profit 2,274,822,402 2,682,998,822 2,012,098,767 1,583,313,179

Less: Income tax expense (47),16(19) (662,778,888) (663,466,755) (168,449,661) (14,609,756)

Net profit 1,612,043,514 2,019,532,067 1,843,649,106 1,568,703,423

Attributable to shareholders of the

Company 1,713,128,882 1,990,098,044 1,843,649,106 1,568,703,423
Attributable to non-controlling

interests (101,085,368) 29,434,023 n/a n/a
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Consolidated and Company Income Statements (Consinued)
For the year ended 31 December 2015
(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated)

ITEM Note 4 Year ended 31 December
(unless otherwise 2015 2014 2015 2014
stated) Consolidated Consolidated Company Company

Other comprehensive income,
net of tax (35),16(12) (30,366,503) (15,152,645) (17,789,000) (14,321,000)

Other comprehensive income
attributable to shareholders of the
Company, net of tax
Items that will not be subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss
Changes arising from
re-measurement of defined
benefit plan liabilities (18,513,000) (14,767,000) (17,789,000) (14,321,000)

Items that will be subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss
Currency translation differences (11,776,550) (226,482) — —
Shares of other comprehensive
income of investees accounted
for using the equity method
that will be subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss (76,953) (159,163) — —

Total comprehensive income 1,581,677,011 2,004,379,422 1,825,860,106 1,554,382,423

Attributable to shareholders of the

Company 1,682,762,379 1,974,945,399 1,825,860,106 1,554,382,423
Attributable to non-controlling
interests (101,085,368) 29,434,023 n/a n/a

Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share (48) 1.268 1.473 n/a n/a
Diluted earnings per share (48) 1.268 1.473 n/a n/a

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Legal representative: Principal in charge of accounting Head of accounting department:
SUN Mingbo (Chief Financial Officer): HOU Qiuyan
YU Zhuming
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Consolidated and Company Cash Flow Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2015

(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated)

Year ended 31 December

2015 2014 2015 2014
ITEM Note 4 Consolidated Consolidated Company Company
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash received from sales of goods or
rendering of services 30,171,388,322 31,459,967,418 18,757,422,852 18,720,403,598
Refund of taxes and surcharges 10,028,669 21,808,028 9,354,744 12,112,593
Cash received relating to other operating
activities (49)(a) 1,124,581,635 1,345,835,790 445,061,883 374,721,604
Sub-total of cash inflows 31,305,998,626 32,827,611,236 19,211,839,479 19,107,237,795
Cash paid for goods and services (15,852,126,090) (17,472,501,614) (13,327,737,802) (14,159.,824,012)
Cash paid to and on behalf of employees (4,031,145,871) (3,815,094,456) (1,427,121,090) (1,316,932,036)
Payments of taxes and surcharges (4,920,972,297) (5,453,353,430) (1,488,819,902) (1,424,010,798)
Cash paid relating to other operating
activities (49)(b) (3,927,188,608) (4,396,027,395) (1,978,165,138) (2,222,878,017)
Sub-total of cash outflows (28,731,432,866)  (31,136,976,895)  (18,221,843,932)  (19,123,644,863)
Net cash flows from operating activities (50)(a) 2,574,565,760 1,690,634,341 989,995,547 (16,407,068)
Cash flows from investing activities
Cash received from disposal of investments (49)(2) 900,000,000 — 1,234,790,136 1,089,250,481
Cash received from returns on investments 44,952,014 15,289,709 1,479,390,131 1,599,045,408
Net cash received from disposal of fixed
assets, intangible assets and other
long-term assets 43,670,333 6,002,096 28,307,729 1,845,160
Net cash received from disposal of
subsidiaries and other business units (50)(b) 459,983,058 — —
Cash received relating to other investing
activities (49)(c) 964,583,967 1,026,457,967 14,322,250 6,651,500
Sub-total of cash inflows 2,413,189,372 1,047,749,772 2,756,810,246 2,696,792,549
Cash paid to acquire fixed assets, intangible
assets and other long-term assets (1,314,449,614) (1,948,865,815) (310,509,839) (700,316,527)
Cash paid to acquire investments (49)(h) (1,211,507,900) (246,469,400) (1,270,277,900) (1,732,683,400)
Net cash paid to acquire subsidiaries and
other business units (50)(b) (100,000,000) (175,271,123) —
Cash paid relating to other investing
activities (49)(d) (23,941,227) (36,649,251) (10,704,160) (3,214,010)
Sub-total of cash outflows (2,649,898,741) (2,407,255,589) (1,591,491,899) (2,436,213,937)
Net cash flows from investing activities (236,709,369) (1,359,505,817) 1,165,318,347 260,578,612
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Consolidated and Company Cash Flow Statements (Conrinued)

For the year ended 31 December 2015
(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated)

Year ended 31 December

2015 2014 2015 2014
ITEM Note 4 Consolidated Consolidated Company Company
Cash flows from financing activities
Cash received from borrowings 685,688,711 335,339,524 — —
Cash received relating to other financing
activities (49)(e) 304,095,000 — 304,095,000 —
Sub-total of cash inflows 989,783,711 335,339,524 304,095,000 —
Cash repayments of borrowings (328,662,415) (1,812,821,735) — (1,500,000,000)
Cash payments for distribution of dividends,
profits or interest expense (690,740,856) (685,519,373) (607,942,258) (620,004,877)
Including: Cash payments for dividends
or profit to minority
shareholders of subsidiaries (69,015,440) (57,566,458) — —
Cash payments relating to other financing
activities 49)(f) (1,058,358) (291,796,055) — (291,000,000)
Sub-total of cash outflows (1,020,461,629) (2,790,137,163) (607,942,258) (2,411,004,877)
Net cash flows from financing activities (30,677,918) (2,454,797,639) (303,847,258) (2,411,004,877)
Exchange effect on cash and cash equivalents 1,805,946 (4,845,769) (887,585) (4,059,808)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash
equivalents (50)(a) 2,308,984,419 (2,128,514,884) 1,850,579,051 (2,170,893,141)
Add: Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of year 5,266,389,764 7,394,904,648 864,393,047 3,035,286,188
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (50)(c) 7,575,374,183 5,266,389,764 2,714,972,098 864,393,047

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Legal representative:
SUN Mingbo

Principal in charge of accounting
(Chief Financial Officer):
YU Zhuming

Head of accounting department:
HOU Qiuyan
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity
For the year ended 31 December 2015
(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated)

Attributable to shareholders of the Company

Other Total
comprehensive Undistributed ~ Non-controlling  shareholders’
ITEM Note 4 Share capital ~ Capital surplus income  Surplus reserve  General reserve profits interests equity
Balance at 1 January 2014 1,350,982,795  4,079,399,151 25,192,989 1,059,469,127 80,642253 74487128 (147,088,008)  13,873,471,035
Movements for the year ended
31 December 2014 - — (15,152,645) 156,870,342 (13,660320) 1,238,945,770 46,808,202 1413,811,403
Total comprehensive income — — (15,152,645) — 1,990,098,044 29434003 200437942
Net profit - - — - 1,990,098,044 20434023 2,019,532,067
Other comprehensive income (33) — — (15,152,645) — — — (15,152,645
Profit distribution (38) = — — 156,870,342 (13,660326)  (751,152,274) (56,546,458)  (664.488,716)
Appropriation to surplus reserve - - — 156,870,342 — (156,870,342) - -
Reversal of general reserve — — — — (13,660,326) 13,660,326 — —
Profit distribution to shareholders — — — = — (607,942,258) (56,546,458) (664,488,716)
Others - — — — - - 73,920,097 73,920,097
Balance at 31 December 2014 1,350,982,795  4,079,399,151 10,040,344 1,216,339,469 66,981,927 8,663,818.498 (100,279,746)  15,287,282,438
Balance at 1 January 2015 1,350,982,795  4,079,399,151 10,040,344 1,216,339,469 06,981,927 8,663,818.498 (100,279,746)  15,287,282,438
Movements for the year ended
31 December 2015 - (4,320.272) (30,366,503) 184364911 39,043,491 881,778,222 (191,771,237) 878,728,612
Total comprehensive income — — (30,366,503) — 1,713,128,882 (101,085,368)  1,581,677,011
Net profit - - — — 1,713,128, 882 (101,085,368) ~ 1,612,043,514
Other comprehensive income (33) — — (30,366,503) — — — — (30,366,503)
Profit distribution (38) = — — 184364911 39,043,491 (831,350,660) (69,049,008)  (676.991,326)
Appropriation to surplus reserve - - - 184364911 - (184.364.911) - -
Appropriation to general reserve - - - - 39,043,491 (39,043.491) - -
Profit distribution to shareholders — — — — — (607,942,258) (69,049,008 (676,991,326)
Others 34 - (4.320272) — - - - (21,636,801) (25957,073)
Balance at 31 December 2015 1,350,982,795  4,075,078,879 (20,326,159)  1,400,704,380 106,025418  9,545,596,120 (292,050,983)  16,166,011,050

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Legal representative:
SUN Mingbo

Principal in charge of accounting
(Chief Financial Officer):
YU Zhuming

Head of accounting department:

HOU Qiuyan
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in Shareholders’ Equity

Other Total
comprehensive Undistributed ~ shareholders’
ITEM Note 16 Share capital Capital surplus income  Surplus reserve profits equity
Balance at 1 January 2014 1,350,982,795 4,306,073,277 — 1,059,469,127  4,073,390,757  10,789,915,956
Movements for the year ended
31 December 2014 — — (14,321,000) 156,870,342 803,890,823 946,440,165
Total comprehensive income — — (14,321,000) — 1,568,703,423 1,554,382,423
Net profit — — — — 1,568,703,423 1,568,703,423
Other comprehensive
income (12) — — (14,321,000) — — (14,321,000
Profit distribution (13) — — — 156,870,342 (764,812,600) (607,942,258)
Appropriation to surplus
reserve — — — 156,870,342 (156,870,342) —
Profit distribution to
shareholders — — — — (607,942.,258) (607,942,258)
Balance at 31 December 2014 1,350,982,795 4,306,073,277 (14,321,000)  1,216,339,469  4,877,281,580  11,736,356,121
Balance at 1 January 2015 1,350,982,795 4,306,073,277 (14,321,000)  1,216,339,469  4,877,281,580  11,736,356,121
Movements for the year ended
31 December 2015 — 550,827 (17,789,000) 184,364,911 1,051,341,937 1,218,468,675
Total comprehensive income — — (17,789,000) — 1,843,649,106 1,825,860,106
Net profit — — — — 1,843,649,106 1,843,649,106
Other comprehensive
income (12) — — (17,789,000) — — (17,789,000)
Profit distribution (13) — — — 184,364,911 (792,307,169) (607,942,258)
Appropriation to surplus
reserve — — — 184,364,911 (184,364,911) —
Profit distribution to
shareholders — — — — (607,942.,258) (607,942,258)
Others (1) — 550,827 — — — 550,827
Balance at 31 December 2015 1,350,982,795  4,306,624,104 (32,110,000)  1,400,704,380 5,928,623,517  12,954,824,796

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.

Legal representative:
SUN Mingbo

Principal in charge of accounting
(Chief Financial Officer):
YU Zhuming

Head of accounting department:

HOU Qiuyan
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Notes to Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 December 2015
(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated)

1 General information

Tsingtao Brewery Company Limited (the “Company’) was established in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) on 16
June 1993. The Company obtained business license as a Sino-foreign joint stock limited company on 27 December 1995. The
registered address and head office address of the company is Qingdao, Shandong province, the PRC, with a total share capital of
RMB482,400,000 at establishment.

The Company’s H shares have been listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited since 15 July 1993, and
its A shares have been listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange since 27 August 1993. The total share capital upon issue amounted
to RMB900,000,000. Subsequently, the Company increased its total share capital to RMB1,308,219,178 after issuing new RMB
ordinary shares and corporate convertible bonds which were converted into H shares.

Approved by the Circular [2008] No. 445 issued by the China Securities Regulatory Commission, the Company issued convertible
bonds with detachable warrants subscription rights on 2 April 2008 at a total size of RMB1,500 million with the term of 6 years.
Upon the exercise period ended on 19 October 2009, 42,763,617 A shares of the Company were issued and the total number of the
Company’s shares was increased from 1,308,219,178 to 1,350,982,795.

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) are principally engaged in the production and distribution of beer
products.

Subsidiaries which are included in the scope of consolidation in this year are disclosed in Note 6(1). There are no new subsidiaries
in the scope of consolidation in this year. Qingdao Hongjiweiye Investment Co., Ltd. (“Hongjiweiye”), Tsingtao Brewery
(Taierzhuang) Malt Co., Ltd. (“Taierzhuang Malt”) and Tsingtao Beer (Jinan) Baotuquan Sales Co., Ltd. (“Qingpi Baotuquan”) have
been excluded from the scope of consolidation from this year (Note 5).

These financial statements have been approved for issue by the Company’s Board of Directors on 28 March 2016.

2 Summary of significant accounting policies and accounting estimates

The Group applied the accounting policies and accounting estimates based on its business operations characteristics, including
provision of bad debts of receivable (Note 2(10)), cost formulas (Note 2(11)), depreciation of fixed assets and amortization of
intangible assets (Note 2(14) and (17)), timing of revenue recognition (Note 2(23)),etc.

The areas including significant judgments to determine the critical accounting policies of the Group are disclosed in Note 2(29).
(1) Basis of preparation

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises — Basic
Standard, and the specific accounting standards and other relevant regulations issued by the Ministry of Finance on 15
February 2006 and in subsequent periods (hereafter collectively referred to as “the Accounting Standards for Business
Enterprises” or “CAS”) and the disclosure requirements in the Preparation Convention of Information Disclosure by
Companies Offering Securities to the Public No.15 — General Rules on Financial Reporting issued by the China Securities
Regulatory Commission.

The financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis.

The new Hong Kong Companies Ordinance comes into operation for the year ended 31 December 2015. As a result, there are
changes to presentation and disclosures of certain information in the financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 December 2015
(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies and accounting estimates (continued)
(2) Statement of compliance with the Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2015 are in compliance with the Accounting Standards for Business
Enterprises, and truly and completely present the Consolidated and the Company’s financial position as at 31 December 2015
and their financial performance, cash flows and other information for the year then ended.

(3) Accounting period
The Company’s accounting year starts on | January and ends on 31 December.
(4) Recording currency

The recording currency of the Company and the subsidiaries incorporated and operated in mainland China is Renminbi (RMB),
while the recording currency of the subsidiaries in Hong Kong and Macau is Hong Kong Dollar (HKD) and Macau Pataca
(MOP) respectively. The consolidated financial statements of the Group are represented in RMB.

(5) Business combinations
(a) Business combinations involving enterprises under common control

The consideration paid and net assets obtained by the absorbing party in a business combination are measured at the
carrying amount. The difference between the carrying amount of the net assets obtained from the combination and
the carrying amount of the consideration paid for the combination is treated as an adjustment to capital surplus (share
premium). If the capital surplus (share premium) is not sufficient to absorb the difference, the remaining balance
is adjusted against retained earnings. Costs directly attributable to the combination are included in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred. Transaction costs associated with the issue of equity or debt securities for the
business combination are included in the initially recognised amounts of the equity or debt securities.

(b) Business combinations involving enterprises not under common control

The cost of combination and identifiable net assets obtained by the acquirer in a business combination are measured at
fair value at the acquisition date. Where the cost of the combination exceeds the acquirer’s interests in the fair value
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets, the difference is recognised as goodwill; where the cost of combination is
lower than the acquirer’s interests in the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets, the difference is recognised
in profit or loss for the current period. Costs directly attributable to the combination are included in profit or loss in
the period in which they are incurred. Transaction costs associated with the issue of equity or debt securities for the
business combination are included in the initially recognised amounts of the equity or debt securities.

(¢c) Acquisition of non-controlling interests

When acquiring part of or all of the non-controlling interests from its minority shareholders after obtaining the control
over a subsidiary, the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary shall be stated at the amounts calculated continuously from
the date of acquisition or merger in the consolidated financial statements. The difference between the increase in the
cost of long-term equity investments as a result of acquisition of non-controlling interests and the share of net assets
of the subsidiary calculated continuously from the date of the acquisition or merger based on the new shareholding
proportion shall be adjusted against the capital surplus (share premium). If the capital surplus (share premium) is not
sufficient to absorb the difference, the remaining difference shall be adjusted against retained earnings.
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2

(6)

)

®

Summary of significant accounting policies and accounting estimates (continued)
Preparation of consolidated financial statements
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and all of its subsidiaries.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains control and are de-consolidated from the date that
such control ceases. For a subsidiary that is acquired in a business combination involving enterprises under common control,
it is included in the consolidated financial statements from the date when it, together with the Company, comes under
common control of the ultimate controlling party. The portion of the net profits realized before the combination date is
presented separately in the consolidated income statement.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, where the accounting policies and the accounting periods of the Company
and subsidiaries are inconsistent, the financial statements of the subsidiaries are adjusted in accordance with the accounting
policies and accounting period of the Company. For subsidiaries acquired from a business combination involving enterprises
not under common control, the individual financial statements of the subsidiaries are adjusted based on the fair value of the
identifiable net assets at the acquisition date.

All significant intra-group balances, transactions and unrealized profits are eliminated in the consolidated financial statements.
The items which can’t be attributable to the shareholders of the company in subsidiary’s equity, net profit or loss, and total
comprehensive income of the period, are separately presented in the equity item, in net profit item and total comprehensive
income item of the consolidated financial statement respectively. Elimination of intra-group unrealized profit on sale of assets
by the Company to its subsidiaries should be in full of the net profit attributable to the shareholders, and elimination of intra-
group unrealized profit on sale of assets by subsidiaries to the Company should be allocated between the net profit attributable
to the shareholders and non-controlling interests in the ratio of their interests. Elimination of intra-group unrealized profit on
sale of assets amongst the subsidiaries should be allocated between the net profit attributable to the shareholders and non-
controlling interests, according to the Company’s share interest in the subsidiary of selling party.

If the Group and the Company or the subsidiaries as accounting entity are in different view in this transaction, the adjustment
should be made in the Group’s view.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, deposits that can be readily drawn on demand, and short-term highly liquid
investments which are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value.

Foreign currency translation
(a) Foreign currency transactions

Foreign currency transactions are translated into RMB using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions.

At the balance sheet date, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are translated into RMB using the spot
exchange rates on the balance sheet date. Exchange differences arising from these translations are recognised in profit
or loss for the current period, except for those attributable to foreign currency borrowings that have been taken out
specifically for the acquisition or construction of qualifying assets, which are capitalized as part of the cost of those
assets. Non-monetary items denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at historical costs are translated at the
balance sheet date using the spot exchange rates at the date of the transactions. The effect of exchange rate changes on
cash is presented separately in the cash flow statement.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies and accounting estimates (continued)

(8) Foreign currency translation (continued)

(b)  Translation of foreign currency financial statements

The asset and liability items in the balance sheets for overseas operations are translated at the spot exchange rates on

the balance sheet date. Among the shareholders’ equity items, the items other than “undistributed profits” are translated

at the spot exchange rates on the transaction dates. The income and expense items in the income statements of overseas

operations are translated at the spot exchange rates of the transaction dates. The differences arising from the above

translation are presented separately in the shareholders’ equity. The cash flows of overseas operations are translated

at the spot exchange rates on the dates of the cash flows. The effect of exchange rate changes on cash is presented

separately in the cash flow statement.

(9) Financial instruments

(a) Financial assets

()

Classification of financial assets

Financial assets are classified into the following categories at initial recognition: financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, receivables, available-for-sale financial assets and held-to-maturity investments. The
classification of financial assets depends on the Group’s intention and ability to hold the financial assets.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for the purpose of selling in the
short term.

Receivables

Receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are either designated in this category or
not classified in any of the other categories at initial recognition. Available-for-sale financial assets are included
in other current assets on the balance sheet if management intends to dispose of them within 12 months on the
balance sheet date.

Held-to-maturity investments

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed maturity and fixed or determinable
payments that management has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. Held-to-maturity investments
with maturities over 12 months when the investments were made but are due within 12 months at the balance
sheet date are included in the current portion of non-current assets; held-to-maturity investments with maturities
no more than 12 months when the investments were made are included in other current assets.
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&)

Summary of significant accounting policies and accounting estimates (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

(a)

Financial assets (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Recognition and measurement

Financial assets are recognised at fair value on the balance sheet when the Group becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the financial instrument. In the case of financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss, the related transaction costs incurred at the time of acquisition are recognised in profit or loss for the current
period. For other financial assets, transaction costs that are attributable to the acquisition of the financial assets
are included in their initially recognised amounts.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and available-for-sale financial assets are subsequently
measured at fair value. Investments in equity instruments are measured at cost when they do not have a quoted
market price in an active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured. Receivables and held-to-
maturity investments are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Gains or losses arising from change in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised in profit or loss. Interests and cash dividends received during the period in which such financial assets
are held, as well as the gains or losses arising from disposal of these assets are recognised in profit or loss for the
current period.

Gains or losses arising from change in fair value of available-for-sale financial assets are recognised directly
in equity, except for impairment losses and foreign exchange gains and losses arising from translation of
monetary financial assets. When such financial assets are derecognised, the cumulative gains or losses previously
recognised directly into equity are recycled into profit or loss for the current period. Interests on available-for-
sale investments in debt instruments calculated using the effective interest method during the period in which
such investments are held and cash dividends declared by the investee on available-for-sale investments in equity
instruments are recognised as investment income, which is recognised in profit or loss for the period.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses the carrying amounts of financial assets other than those at fair value through profit or loss
at each balance sheet date. If there is objective evidence that a financial asset is impaired, an impairment loss is
provided for.

The objective evidence of impairment is a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition
of the financial asset, and such one or more events must have a reliably measurable effect on the present value of
estimated future cash flows of the financial assets.

The objective evidence which indicates impairment in fair value of available-for-sale equity instruments includes
the significant and prolonged decline in fair value. The Group has separately tested various available-for-sale
equity instruments at the balance sheet date. It will be defined as impairment if the fair value is lower than the
original cost at initial recognition by more than 50% (including 50%) or the period in which the fair value of
the investment has been below that original cost has lasted for no less than 1 year. While if the fair value is
between 20% (including 20%) to 50% lower than the original cost, the Group will take other factors such as
price fluctuation into consideration to estimate whether the equity instrument has impaired or not. The basis for
measuring the original cost of available-for-sale equity instruments is determined by using weighted average
method.
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Summary of significant accounting policies and accounting estimates (continued)

Financial instruments (continued)

(a)

(b)

Financial assets (continued)
(iii)  Impairment of financial assets (continued)

When an impairment loss on a financial asset carried at amortised cost has occurred, the amount of loss is
provided for at the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of its estimated future
cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred). If there is objective evidence that the
value of the financial asset recovered and the recovery is related objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed and the amount of reversal is
recognised in profit or loss.

When an impairment loss on an available-for-sale financial asset measured at fair value has occurred, the
cumulative losses arising from the decline in fair value that had been recognised directly in equity are transferred
out from equity and into impairment loss. For an investment in debt instrument classified as available-for-sale on
which impairment losses have been recognised, if, in a subsequent period, its fair value increases and the increase
can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed into profit or loss for the current period. For an investment
in an equity instrument classified as available-for-sale on which impairment losses have been recognised, the
increase in its fair value in a subsequent period is recognised directly in equity.

When an impairment loss on an available-for-sale financial asset carried at cost has occurred, the amount of loss
is provided for at the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of its estimated future
cash flows using the market yield of similar financial assets. The loss which has already occurred will not be
reversed in subsequent period.

(iv)  De-recognition of financial assets

A financial asset is derecognised when any of the below criteria is met: (1) the contractual rights to receive the
cash flows from the financial asset expire; (2) the financial asset has been transferred and the Group transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset to the transferee; or (3) the financial
asset has been transferred and the Group has not retained control of the financial asset, although the Group
neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset.

On de-recognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and the cumulative changes in fair value that had been recognised directly in equity, is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are classified into the following categories at initial recognition: financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss and other financial liabilities. The financial liabilities of the Group mainly comprise other

financial liabilities, including payables and borrowings.

Payables, including accounts payable and other payables, are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies and accounting estimates (continued)

(9) Financial instruments (continued)

(b)

(©

Financial liabilities (continued)

Other financial liabilities with maturities no more than one year are classified as current liabilities. Other financial
liabilities with maturities over one year but are due within one year at the balance sheet date are classified as the
current portion of non-current liabilities. Others are classified as non-current liabilities.

A financial liability is derecognised or partly derecognised when the current obligation is discharged or partly
discharged. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability or the derecognised part of the
financial liability and the consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss.

Determination of fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of a financial instrument that is traded in an active market is determined at the quoted price in the active
market. The fair value of a financial instrument that is not traded in an active market is determined by using a valuation
technique when it is applicable under current conditions and there are enough available data and other information to
support. Those inputs should be consistent with the inputs a market participant would use when pricing the asset or
liability, and should maximize the use of relevant observable inputs. When related observable inputs can’t be acquired
or are not feasible to be acquired, then use unobservable inputs.

(10) Receivables

Receivables comprise accounts receivable and other receivables. Accounts receivable arising from sale of goods or rendering
of services are initially recognised at fair value of the contractual payments from the buyers or service recipients.

(@)

()

Receivables with amounts that are individually significant and subject to separate assessment for provision for bad
debts

Receivables with amounts that are individually significant are subject to assessment for impairment on the individual
basis. If there is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect the amount under the original terms, a
provision for impairment of that receivable is made.

The criterion for determining “individually significant” amounts is that any individual amount is more than
RMB10,000,000.

The method of providing for bad debts for those individually significant amounts is as follows: the amount of the
present value of the future cash flows expected to be derived from the receivable below its carrying amount.

Receivables that are subject to provision for bad debts on the grouping basis

Receivables with amounts that are not individually significant and those receivables that have been individually
assessed for impairment and no provision has been made are classified into certain groupings based on their credit risk
characteristics. The provision for bad debts is determined based on the historical loss experience for the groupings of

receivables with similar credit risk characteristics, taking into consideration of the current circumstances.

Basis for grouping is as follows:

Group A Receivables from government etc.
Group B Amounts due from subsidiaries
Group C Others

Methods of determining provision for bad debts by grouping are as follows:

Group A Low credit risk upon assessment, no bad debts provided
Group B Low credit risk upon assessment, no bad debts provided
Group C Ageing analysis method
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Summary of significant accounting policies and accounting estimates (continued)

(10) Receivables (continued)

@t

(b)  Receivables that are subject to provision for bad debts on the grouping basis (continued)
The provision ratios used under the ageing analysis method for the above groupings are as follows:
Provision Provision
ratios used ratios used
for accounts for other
receivable receivables
Within 6 months 0% 0%
6 months to 1 year 5% 5%
1 to 2 years 50% 50%
Over 2 years 100% 100%

(¢c)  Receivables with amounts that are not individually significant but subject to separate assessment for provision for
bad debts
The reason for making separate assessment for provision for bad debts is that there exists objective evidence that the
Group will not be able to collect the amount under the original terms of the receivable.

The provision for bad debts is determined based on the amount of the present value of the future cash flows expected to
be derived from the receivable below its carrying amount.

(d) When the Group transfers the accounts receivable to the financial institutions without recourse, the difference between
the proceeds received from the transaction and their carrying amounts and the related taxes is recognised in profit or
loss for the current period.

Inventories

(a) Classification
Inventories comprise raw materials, work in progress, finished goods and turnover materials, and are measured at the
lower of cost and net realizable value.

(b)  Cost formulas
Cost is determined using the weighted average method. The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprise raw
materials, direct labour and systematically allocated production overhead based on the normal production capacity.

(¢)  Basis for determining net realizable values of inventories and method for making provision for decline in the value
of inventories
Provision for decline in the value of inventories is determined at the excess amount of the carrying amounts of the
inventories over their net realizable value. Net realizable value is determined based on the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs to completion and estimated costs necessary to make the sale and
related taxes.

(d)  The Group adopts the perpetual inventory system.

(e) Amortization methods of low value consumables and packaging materials

Low value consumables and packaging materials are written off once used and amortised based upon periods of usage
respectively.
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12)

Summary of significant accounting policies and accounting estimates (continued)

Long-term equity investments

Long-term equity investments comprise the Company’s long-term equity investments in its subsidiaries, and the Group’s

long-term equity investments in its joint ventures and associates.

Subsidiaries are the investees over which the Company is able to exercise control. A joint venture is a joint arrangement

which is structured through a separate vehicle over which the Group has jointly control together with other parties and has

rights to the net assets of the arrangement based on legal forms, contractual terms and other facts and circumstances. An

associates is the investee over which the Group has significant influence by participating in the financial and operating policy

decisions.

Investments in subsidiaries are presented in the Company’s financial statements using the cost method, and are adjusted to

the equity method when preparing the consolidated financial statements. Investments in joint ventures and associates are

accounted for using the equity method.

(@)

(b)

Determination of investment cost

For long-term equity investments acquired through a business combination: for long-term equity investments acquired
through a business combination involving enterprises under common control, the investment cost shall be the absorbing
party’s share of the carrying amount of shareholders’ equity of the party being absorbed at the combination date; for
long-term equity investment acquired through a business combination involving enterprises not under common control,
the investment cost shall be the combination cost.

For long-term equity investments acquired not through a business combination: for long-term equity investment
acquired by payment in cash, the initial investment cost shall be the purchase price actually paid; for long-term equity
investments acquired by issuing equity securities, the initial investment cost shall be the fair value of the equity
securities issued.

Subsequent measurement and recognition of related profit and loss

Long-term equity investments accounted for using the cost method are measured at the initial investment costs, and
cash dividends or profit distribution declared by the investees are recognised as investment income in profit or loss.

For long-term equity investments accounted for using the equity method, where the initial investment cost of a long-
term equity investment exceeds the Group’s share of the fair value of the investee’s identifiable net assets at the
acquisition date, the long-term equity investment is measured at the initial investment cost; where the initial investment
cost is less than the Group’s share of the fair value of the investee’s identifiable net assets at the acquisition date, the
difference is included in profit or loss and the cost of the long-term equity investment is adjusted upwards accordingly.

For long-term equity investments accounted for using the equity method, the Group recognizes the investment income
according to its share of net profit or loss of the investee. The Group discontinues recognising its share of net losses
of an investee after the carrying amount of the long-term equity investment together with any long-term interests that,
in substance, form part of the investor’s net investment in the investee are reduced to zero. However, if the Group
has obligations for additional losses and the criteria with respect to recognition of provisions under the accounting
standards on contingencies are satisfied, the Group continues recognising the investment losses and the provisions. For
changes in shareholders’ equity of the investee other than those arising from its net profit or loss, the Group records
its proportionate share directly into capital surplus other comprehensive income, and profit distribution. The carrying
amount of the investment is reduced by the Group’s share of the profit distribution or cash dividends declared by an
investee. The unrealised profit or loss arising from the intra-group transactions amongst the Group and its investees is
eliminated in proportion to the Group’s equity interest in the investees, and then based on which the investment income
is recognised. For the loss on the intra-group transaction amongst the Group and its investees attributable to asset
impairment, any unrealised loss is not eliminated.
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(12) Long-term equity investments (continued)

13)

(¢)  Basis for determining existence of control, jointly control or significant influence over investees

Control is the power to govern the financial and operating policies of the investee so as to obtain benefits from its
operating activities and can influence the amount.

Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control over an economic activity, and exists only when the strategic
financial and operating decisions relating to the activity require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.

Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is
not control or joint control over those policies.

(d) Impairment of long-term equity investments

The carrying amounts of long-term equity investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are reduced to the
recoverable amounts when the recoverable amounts are below their carrying amounts (Note 2 (19)).

Investment properties

Investment properties are buildings that are held for the purpose of leasing, are measured at the initial cost. Subsequent
expenditures incurred in relation to an investment property are included in the cost of the investment property when it is
probable that the associated economic benefits will flow to the Group and their costs can be reliably measured; otherwise, the
expenditures are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are occurred.

The Group adopts the cost model for subsequent measurement of investment properties. Buildings are depreciated to their
estimated net residual values over their estimated useful lives. The estimated useful lives, the estimated net residual values
that are expressed as a percentage of cost and the annual depreciation rates of investment properties are as follows:

Annual

Estimated Estimated depreciation

useful lives residual value rate

Buildings 20-40 years 3% to 5% 2.4% to 4.9%

When an investment property is transferred to owner-occupied properties, it is reclassified as fixed asset at the date of the
transfer. When an owner-occupied property is transferred out for earning rentals or for capital appreciation, the fixed asset is
reclassified as investment properties at its carrying amount at the date of the transfer.

The investment property’s estimated useful life, net residual value and depreciation method applied are reviewed and adjusted
as appropriate at each year end.

An investment property is derecognised when it is disposed or when it is permanently withdrawn from use and no future
economic benefits are expected from its disposal. The net amount of proceeds from sale, transfer, retirement or damage of
an investment property after its carrying amount and related taxes and expenses is recognised in profit or loss for the current
period.

The carrying amount of investment properties shall be reduced to the recoverable amount if the recoverable amount is below
the carrying amount (Note 2(19)).
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies and accounting estimates (continued)

(14) Fixed assets

(a)

(b)

(©

(d)

Recognition and initial measurement of fixed assets
Fixed assets comprise buildings, machinery and equipment, motor vehicles and other equipment.

Fixed assets are recognised when it is probable that the related economic benefits will flow to the Group and the costs
can be reliably measured. Fixed assets purchased or constructed by the Group are initially measured at cost at the
acquisition date. The fixed assets contributed by the State shareholders at the reorganization of the Company into a
corporation entity are recognised based on the revaluated amounts approved by the state-owned assets administration
department.

Subsequent expenditures incurred for a fixed asset are included in the cost of the fixed asset when it is probable that the
associated economic benefits will flow to the Group and the related cost can be reliably measured. The carrying amount
of the replaced part is derecognised. All the other subsequent expenditures are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred.

Depreciation methods of fixed assets

Fixed assets are depreciated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of the assets to their estimated residual
values over their estimated useful lives. For the fixed assets that have been provided for impairment loss, the related
depreciation charge is prospectively determined based upon the adjusted carrying amounts over their remaining useful
lives.

The estimated useful lives, the estimated residual values expressed as a percentage of cost and the annual depreciation
rates of fixed assets are as follows:

Annual

Estimated Estimated depreciation

useful lives residual value rate

Buildings 20-40 years 3% to 5% 2.4% to 4.9%
Machinery and equipment 5-14 years 3% to 5% 6.8% to 19.4%
Motor vehicles 5-12 years 3% to 5% 7.9% to 19.4%
Other equipment 5-10 years 3% to 5% 9.5% to 19.4%

The estimated useful lives, the estimated residual value of a fixed asset and the depreciation method applied to the asset
are reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate at each year-end.

The carrying amount of fixed assets shall be reduced to the recoverable amount if the recoverable amount is below the
carrying amount (Note 2(19)).

Basis for identification of fixed assets held under finance lease and related measurement

A lease that in substance transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset is a
finance lease. The leased asset is recognised at the lower of the fair value of the leased asset and the present value of
the minimum lease payments. The difference between the recorded amount of the leased asset and the minimum lease
payments is accounted for as unrecognised finance charge (Note 2(26)(b)).

Fixed assets held under a finance lease are depreciated on a basis consistent with the depreciation policy adopted for
fixed asset that are self-owned. When a leased asset can be reasonably determined that its ownership will be transferred
at the end of the lease term, it is depreciated over the period of expected use; otherwise, the leased asset is depreciated
over the shorter period of the lease term and the period of expected use.
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(14)

s)

(16)

a17)

Summary of significant accounting policies and accounting estimates (continued)
Fixed assets (continued)
(e) Disposal of fixed assets

A fixed asset is derecognised on disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal.
The amount of proceeds from disposals on sale, transfer, retirement or damage of a fixed asset net of its carrying
amount and related taxes and expenses are recognised in profit or loss for the current period.

Construction in progress

Construction in progress is measured at actual cost. Actual cost comprises construction costs, installation costs, borrowing
costs that are eligible for capitalisation and other costs necessary to bring the fixed assets ready for their intended use.
Construction in progress is transferred to fixed assets when the assets are ready for their intended use, and depreciation begins
from the following month. The carrying amount of construction in progress is reduced to the recoverable amount when the
recoverable amount is below the carrying amount (Note 2(19)).

Borrowing costs

The borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition and construction of an asset that needs a substantially long
period of time for its intended use commence to be capitalised and recorded as part of the cost of the asset when expenditures
for the asset and borrowing costs have been incurred, and the activities relating to the acquisition and construction that are
necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use have commenced. The capitalisation of borrowing costs ceases when the
asset under acquisition or construction becomes ready for its intended use and the borrowing costs incurred thereafter are
recognised in profit or loss for the current period. Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended during periods in which the
acquisition or construction of a fixed asset is interrupted abnormally and the interruption lasts for more than 3 months, until
the acquisition or construction is resumed.

For the specific borrowings obtained for the acquisition or construction of an asset qualifying for capitalisation, the amount of
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined by deducting any interests income earned from depositing the unused
specific borrowings in the banks or any investment income arising on the temporary investment of those borrowings during
the capitalisation period.

For the general borrowings obtained for the acquisition or construction of an asset qualifying for capitalisation, the amount
of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined by applying the weighted average effective interest rate of general
borrowings, to the weighted average of the excess amount of cumulative expenditures on the asset over the amount of specific
borrowings. The effective interest rate is the rate at which the estimated future cash flows during the period of expected
duration of the borrowings or applicable shorter period are discounted to the initial amount of the borrowings.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets comprise land use rights, trademarks, marketing networks, computer software, technology known-how
and others. All intangible assets are measured at cost. The intangible assets contributed by the State shareholders at the
reorganisation of the Company into a corporation are recognised based on the revaluated amounts as approved by the state-
owned assets administration department.

(a) Land use rights
Land use rights are amortised on the straight-line basis over their approved useful period from 30 to 50 years. If the

acquisition costs of the land use rights and the buildings located thereon cannot be reasonably allocated between the
land use rights and the buildings, all of the acquisition costs are recognised as fixed assets.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies and accounting estimates (continued)

(17) Intangible assets (continued)

()

(©)

(d)

(e)

(2

Trademarks

Trademarks mainly include the “TSINGTAO BEER” trademark which was injected by the founding shareholders into
the Company on 16 June 1993 as their capital contributions. The recorded value of the trademark was assessed based
on the results of the valuation as approved by state-owned assets administration department. Based on the forecast of
beer industry and the business position of the Company, the directors are of the view that the “TSINGTAO BEER”
trademark has an indefinite useful life, accordingly, it is not subject to amortisation but annual impairment assessments.

Other trademarks were acquired as a result of acquisitions of certain subsidiaries. They are amortised over their
estimated useful lives ranging from 5 to 10 years.

Marketing networks

Marketing networks include marketing networks purchased by the Company in the process of business combination of
Yantai Brewery Tsingtao Asahi Co., Ltd. (“Yantai Asahi”), Hebei Jiahe Beer Co., Ltd. (“Hebei Jiahe Company”) and
Shandong Lulansa Brewery Co., Ltd (“Lulansa Brewery”), marketing networks purchased in the process of business
combination by the subsidiary Beijing Tsingtao Brewery Beifang Sales Co., Ltd. (“Beifang Sales Company”), new
recognised marketing networks in the process of business combination of subsidiaries as Shandong Xin Immense
Brewery Co., Ltd.(“Immense Brewery Company”), Suntory (shanghai) market service Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai Market
Service”), The Prince (Lian Yungang) beer sales Co., Ltd. (“The Prince Sales”), and Baotuquan brand. Amortisation is
calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of 5-10 years.

Computer software

Computer software are amortised over their estimated useful lives ranging from 5 to 10 years.

Technology known-how

Technology known-how is amortised on the straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives of 10 years.

Periodical review of useful life and amortisation method

For an intangible asset with a finite useful life, review of its useful life and amortisation method is performed at each
year-end, with adjustment made as appropriate.

Research and development
The expenditure on an internal research and development project is classified into expenditure on the research phase

and expenditure on the development phase based on its nature and whether there is material uncertainty that the
research and development activities can form an intangible asset at end of the project.
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a7

(18)

(19)

Summary of significant accounting policies and accounting estimates (continued)
Intangible assets (continued)
(g) Research and development (continued)
Expenditure on the research phase, such as planned investigation, evaluation and selection for improvement of the beer
technology, is recognised in profit or loss in the period when it is incurred. Expenditure on the development phase, such

as the designing and testing for the final application of the beer technology before the large-scale production, should be
capitalised only if all of the following conditions satisfied:

. The development of the beer technology has been sufficiently proved by the technical team;
. The budget relating to the beer technology improvement has been approved by the management;
. It can be demonstrated that the products due to beer technology improvement have potential market from

previous marketing investigation;

. There are adequate technical and financial resource for improvement of the beer technology and the large-scale
production; and

. The expenditure attributable to the improvement of beer technology during its development phase can be liable
measured.

Other development expenditures that do not meet the conditions above are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they are incurred. Development costs previously recognised as expenses are not recognised as an asset in a
subsequent period. Capitalised expenditure on the development phase is presented as development costs in the balance
sheet and transferred to intangible assets at the date that the asset is ready for its intended use.

(h) Impairment of intangible assets

The carrying amount of intangible assets is reduced to the recoverable amount when the recoverable amount is below
the carrying amount (Note 2(19)).

Long-term prepaid expenses

Long-term prepaid expenses comprise the expenditure for improvements to fixed assets held under operating leases, and
other expenditures that have been incurred but should be recognised as expenses over more than one year in the current and
subsequent periods. Long-term prepaid expenses are amortised on the straight-line basis over the expected beneficial period
and are presented at actual expenditure net of accumulated amortisation.

Impairment of long-term assets

Fixed assets, constructions in progress, intangible assets with finite useful lives, investing properties measured at cost method
and long-term equity investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are tested for impairment if there is any
indication that the assets may be impaired at the balance sheet date. The intangible assets not ready for intended use yet, are
treated at least annually for impairment, irrespective of whether there are any indications of impairment. If the result of the
impairment test indicates that the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carrying amount, a provision for impairment
and an impairment loss are recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and the present value of the future cash flows
expected to be derived from the asset. Provision for asset impairment is determined and recognised on the individual asset
basis. If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the recoverable amount of a group of
assets to which the asset belongs is determined. A group of assets is the smallest group of assets that is able to generate
independent cash inflows.
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(19)

(20)

Summary of significant accounting policies and accounting estimates (continued)
Impairment of long-term assets (continued)

Goodwill that is separately presented in the financial statements is tested at least annually for impairment, irrespective of
whether there is any indication that it may be impaired. In conducting the test, the carrying value of goodwill is allocated
to the related asset groups or groups of asset groups which are expected to benefit from the synergies of the business
combination. If the result of the test indicates that the recoverable amount of an asset group or group of asset groups,
including the allocated goodwill, is lower than its carrying amount, the corresponding impairment loss is recognised. The
impairment loss is first deducted from the carrying amount of goodwill that is allocated to the asset group or group of asset
groups, and then deducted from the carrying amounts of other assets within the asset groups or groups of asset groups in
proportion to the carrying amounts of assets other than goodwill.

Once the above asset impairment loss is recognised, it will not be reversed for the value recovered in the subsequent periods.
Employee benefits

Employee benefits include short-term employee benefits, post-employment benefits, termination benefits and other long-
term employee benefits provided in various forms of remuneration in exchange for service rendered by employees or
compensations for the termination of employment relationship.

(a) Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits include employee wages or salaries, bonus, allowances and subsidies, staff welfare,
premiums or contributions on medical insurance, work injury insurance and maternity insurance, housing funds, union
running costs and employee education costs. The employee benefits liabilities are recognised in the accounting period
in which the service is rendered by the employees, with a corresponding charge to the profit or loss for the current
period or the cost of relevant assets. Employee benefits which are non-monetary benefits are measured at fair value.

(b)  Post-employment benefits

The Group classifies post-employment benefit plans as either defined contribution plans or defined benefit plans.
Defined contribution plans are post-employment benefit plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions into a
separate fund and will have no obligation to pay further contributions; and defined benefit plans are post-employment
benefit plan that are not defined contribution plan. During the reporting period, the Group post-employment benefits
mainly include defined contribution plans such as basic pension and unemployment insurance, and which belong to
supplemental retirement benefits.

Basic pension insurance

The employees of the group participated in the basic social pension insurance organised and implemented by the local
labour and social security departments. The Group pays the basic social pension insurance to related local agencies
monthly, following the demanding proportion and base. When the employees retire, the local labour and social security
departments have obligations to pay the entire basic social pension. When an employee has rendered service to the
Group during the accounting period, the Group should recognize liabilities and costs of assets or expenses.

Supplemental retirement benefits

In addition to the basic social pension plans, the Group also provides supplementary retirement benefits to those
retired employees qualified for certain criteria. Such supplementary benefits are classified as defined benefit plans. The
defined benefit obligation recognised in the balance sheet is the present value of the defined benefit obligation, net of
the fair value of plan assets. The defined benefit obligation is calculated by using the Projected Unit Credit method
and applying interests rates of government bonds that have terms to maturity approximating to the terms of the related
pension obligation. The service cost and net interest income related to supplemental retirement benefits are recognised
as assets or expenses, and actuarial gains or losses arising from re-measurement of net defined benefit obligation is
recognised as other comprehensive income.
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Summary of significant accounting policies and accounting estimates (continued)

(20) Employee benefits (continued)

(©)

Termination benefits

The Group provides compensation for terminating the employment relationship with employees before the end of the
employment contracts or as an offer to encourage employees to accept voluntary redundancy before the end of the
employment contracts. The Group recognizes a liability arising from compensation for termination of the employment
relationship with employees, with a corresponding charge to profit or loss at the earlier of the following dates: 1) when
the Group cannot unilaterally withdraw the offer of termination benefits because of an employment termination plan
or a curtailment proposal; 2) when the Group recognizes costs or expenses related to the restructuring that involves the
payment of termination benefits.

Early retirement benefits

The Group offers early retirement benefits to those employees who accept early retirement arrangements. The early
retirement benefits refer to the salaries and social security contributions to be paid to and for the employees who
accept voluntary retirement before the normal retirement date prescribed by the State, as approved by the management.
The Group pays early retirement benefits to those early retired employees from the early retirement date until normal
retirement date. The Group accounts for the early retirement benefits in accordance with the treatment of termination
benefits, in which the salaries and social security contributions to be paid to and for the early retired employees from
the off-duty date to the normal retirement date are recognised as liabilities with a corresponding charge to the profit or
loss for the current period. The differences arising from the changes in the respective actuarial assumptions of the early
retirement benefits and the adjustments of benefit standards are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
occur.

The termination benefits expected to be paid within one year since the balance sheet date are classified as current
liabilities.

(21) Dividends distribution

(22)

(23)

Cash dividend is recognised as a liability for the period in which the dividend is approved by the shareholders’ meeting.

Convertible bonds with detachable warrants subscription rights

The convertible bonds with subscription warrants subscription rights issued are split into liability and equity components

at initial recognition. The liability component is determined as the discounted amount of future cash flows, and the equity

component is determined as the amount after deducting liability amount from proceeds of the issue. The transaction costs

incurred on the issue of the convertible bonds are allocated between the liability component and equity component based on

the proportion of their amounts at initial recognition. The liability amount of the convertible bonds is measured at amortised

cost using the effective interest method.

Revenue recognition

The amount of revenue is determined in accordance with the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale
of goods and services in the ordinary course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is shown net of discounts and returns.
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(23)

(24)

(25)

Summary of significant accounting policies and accounting estimates (continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)

Revenue is recognised when the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group, the related revenue
can be reliably measured, and the specific revenue recognition criteria have been met for each type of the Group’s activities
as described below:

(a) Sale of goods

The Group manufactures and sells beer products to the regional distributors. The products will be delivered by carriers
to the specific location agreed or will be picked up by the distributors themselves. If the goods are transported by
carriers, the relevant risk of damage in transit will be taken by the carriers and settled to the distributors. Revenue is
recognised once the goods are picked up by the distributors or carriers.

(b) Rendering of services

The Group provides construction service. The related revenue is recognised using the percentage of completion method,
with the stage of completion being determined based on proportion of costs incurred to date to the estimated total costs.

Government grants

Government grants are transfers of monetary or non-monetary assets from the government to the Group at nil consideration,
including relocation compensation, refund of taxes and financial subsidies, etc.

A government grant is recognised when the conditions attached to it can be satisfied and the government grant can be
received. For a government grant in the form of transfer of monetary assets, the grant is measured at the amount received or
to be received. For a government grant in the form of transfer of non-monetary assets, it is measured at fair value; if the fair
value is not reliably determinable, the grant is measured at nominal amount.

Grants related to assets are those obtained for forming long-term assets by purchase, construction or acquisition in other
ways. Grants related to income are government grants other than those related to assets.

A government grant related to an asset is recognised as deferred income, and evenly amortized to profit or loss over the useful
life of the related asset. Government grants measured at nominal amounts are recognised immediately in profit or loss for the
current period.

For government grants related to income, where the grant is a compensation for related expenses or losses to be incurred
by the Group in the subsequent periods, the grant is recognised as deferred income, and included in profit or loss over the
periods in which the related costs are recognised; where the grant is a compensation for related expenses or losses already
incurred by the Group, the grant is recognised immediately in profit or loss for the current period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are calculated and recognised based on the differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts (temporary differences). Deferred tax asset is recognised for the
deductible losses that can be carried forward to subsequent years for deduction of the taxable profit in accordance with the
tax laws. No deferred tax liability is recognised for a temporary difference arising from the initial recognition of goodwill. No
deferred tax asset or deferred tax liability is recognised for the temporary differences resulting from the initial recognition of
assets or liabilities due to a transaction other than a business combination, which affects neither accounting profit nor taxable
profit (or deductible loss). At the balance sheet date, deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realized or the liability is settled.
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(25)

(26)

(27)

Summary of significant accounting policies and accounting estimates (continued)
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities (continued)

Deferred tax assets are only recognised for deductible temporary differences, deductible losses and tax credits to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available in the future against which the deductible temporary differences,
deductible losses and tax credits can be utilized.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for temporary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, except where the Group is able to control the timing of reversal of the temporary difference, and it is probable that
the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. When it is probable that the temporary differences arising
from investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures will be reversed in the foreseeable future and that the taxable
profit will be available in the future against which the temporary differences can be utilized, the corresponding deferred tax
assets are recognised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when:

. the deferred taxes are related to the same tax payer within the Group and the same taxation authority; and
. tax payer within the Group has a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax liabilities.
Leases

A finance lease is a lease that transfers substantially all the risks and rewards related to the ownership of an asset. An
operating lease is a lease other than a finance lease.

(a) Operating leases

Lease payments under an operating lease are recognised on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease, and are
either capitalised as part of the cost of related assets, or charged as an expense for the current period.

Lease income under an operating lease is recognised on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.
(b) Finance leases

The leased asset is recognised at the lower of the fair value of the leased asset and the present value of the minimum
lease payments. The difference between the recorded amount of the leased asset and the minimum lease payments is
accounted for as unrecognised finance charge and is amortized using the effective interest method over the period of
the lease. A long-term payable is recorded at the amount equal to the minimum lease payments less the unrecognised
finance charge.

Held for sale and discontinued operations

A non-current asset or a disposal group is classified as held for sale when all of the following conditions are satisfied: (1) the
non-current asset or the disposal group is available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms that are
usual and customary for sales of such non-current asset or disposal group; (2) the Group has made a resolution and obtained
appropriate approval for disposal of the non-current asset or the disposal group; (3) the Group has signed an irrevocable
transfer agreement with the transferee; and (4) the transfer is to be completed within one year.

Non-current assets (except for financial assets and deferred tax assets) that meet the recognition criteria for held for sale are
recognised at the amount equal to the lower of the fair value less costs to sell and the carrying amount. Any excess of the
original carrying amount over the fair value less the costs to sell is recognised as asset impairment losses.
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27)

(28)

(29)

Summary of significant accounting policies and accounting estimates (continued)
Held for sale and discontinued operations (continued)

Such non-current assets and assets/liabilities included in disposal groups as classified as held for sale are accounted for as
current assets/liabilities, and are presented separately in the balance sheet.

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group that either has been disposed of or is classified as held for sale, and
is separately identifiable operationally and for financial reporting purposes, and satisfies one of the following conditions: (1)
represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations; (2) is part of a single co-ordinated plan to
dispose of a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations; and (3) is a subsidiary acquired exclusively
with a view to resale.

Segment information

The Group identifies operating segments based on the internal organization structure, management requirements and internal
reporting system, and discloses segment information of reportable segments which is determined on the basis of operating
segments.

An operating segment is a component of the Group that satisfies all of the following conditions: (1) the component is able to
generate revenues and incur expenses from its ordinary activities; (2) whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the
Group’s management to make decisions about resources to be allocated to the segment and to assess its performance; and (3)
for which the information on financial position, operating results and cash flows is available to the Group. If two or more
operating segments have similar economic characteristics and satisfy certain conditions, they are aggregated into one single
operating segment.

Critical accounting estimates and judgments

The Group continually evaluates the critical accounting estimates and key judgments applied based on historical experience
and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable.

(a) Critical accounting estimates and key assumptions

The critical accounting estimates and key assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next accounting year are outlined below:

(i)  Accounting estimates on impairment of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment. The recoverable amount of asset groups
and groups of asset groups is the present value of the future cash flows expected to be derived from them. These
calculations require use of estimates (Note 4(16)).

If management revises the gross margin or the pre-tax discount rate that is used in the calculation of the future
cash flows of asset groups and groups of asset groups, and the revised gross margin is lower than the one
currently used or the revised pre-tax discount rate is higher than the one currently applied, the Group would need
to recognize further impairment against goodwill. If the actual gross margin is higher or pre-tax discount rate is
lower than management’s estimates, the impairment loss of goodwill previously provided for is not allowed to be
reversed by the Group.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies and accounting estimates (continued)

(29) Critical accounting estimates and judgments (continued)

(a)

Critical accounting estimates and key assumptions (continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Accounting estimates on impairment of fixed assets

According to the accounting policies stated in Note 2(19), the Group tests whether fixed assets, for example,
buildings and machinery have suffered any impairment on the balance sheet date. The recoverable amounts of
the fixed assets have been determined based on the higher of an asset’s present value of the expected future cash
flow and fair value less costs to sell. These calculations require the use of accounting estimates.

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group recognised impairment losses of 3,140,390 (2014: 1,721,452)
for fixed assets based on such evaluation. As at 31 December 2015, the Group recognised the cumulative
provision for fixed assets impairment amounting to 413,382,183 (31 December 2014: 508,605,804) (Note 4(12)).

If management revises the gross margin or the pre-tax discount rate that is used in the calculation of the future
cash flows of asset groups and groups of asset groups, and the revised gross margin is lower than the one
currently used or the revised pre-tax discount rate is higher than the one currently applied, the Group would need
to recognize further impairment against fixed assets. If the actual gross margin is higher or pre-tax discount rate
is lower than management’s estimates, the impairment loss of fixed assets previously provided for is not allowed
to be reversed by the Group.

Accounting estimates on recognition of deferred tax assets

The estimates of deferred tax assets require estimates over future taxable profit and corresponding applicable
income tax rates of respective years. The realization of deferred tax assets depends on the realization of sufficient
profitability (taxable profit) of the Group. The change in future income tax rates and timing of reversals of
taxable temporary differences would affect income tax expense (benefits) and balances of deferred tax. Deviation
of aforesaid estimates could result in material adjustment to the carrying amount of deferred income tax.

As at 31 December 2015, deferred tax assets of 769,158,717 have been recognised in the Group’s balance
sheet. As stated in Note 4(18), the Group has unrecognised deferred tax assets aggregated to approximately
528,709,000 as at 31 December 2015, which mainly attributable to accumulated tax losses and impairment losses
of certain subsidiaries. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised due to the fact that there is no certainty of
obtaining approval from local tax authorities or there is no certainty of their respective realization of these tax
benefits through available future taxable profits of those subsidiaries concerned. In cases where the actual future
assessable profits are more or less than expected or approval from local tax authorities are obtained, a recognition
or reversal of deferred tax assets may arise accordingly.

Useful lives of fixed assets and intangible assets

The Group revisited the estimated useful lives for its fixed assets and intangible assets annually. The estimated
useful lives are determined by management by reference to the historical experience of similar assets, the
estimation generally used by other companies in the same industry and anticipated renovation in technologies.
When there are significant changes in previous estimates, the Group should adjust the depreciation and
amortization expense in future periods.
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Summary of significant accounting policies and accounting estimates (continued)

(29) Critical accounting estimates and judgments (continued)

3

1

(a) Critical accounting estimates and key assumptions (continued)

)

(vi)

Net realizable values of inventories

Provision for decline in the value of inventories is determined at the excess amount of the category of carrying
amounts of the inventories over their net realizable value. The Group determines the estimates on net realizable
values of inventories based on the estimated selling price of same inventories less the estimated costs to
completion and estimated costs necessary to make the sale and related taxes. When the realized selling price,
costs or expenses are different with previous estimates, the Group should adjust the net realizable values of
inventories. Therefore, the estimates based on current experience may be different from the actual result, which
could result in adjustment to the carrying amount of inventories on balance sheet.

Post-retirement benefits Actuary

As stated in Note 2 (20)(b), the present value of the post-retirement obligation estimated on an actuarial basis
using a number of assumptions. The actuarial valuations, in which discount rate was determined by government
bonds of China and the mortality rate was based on published statistics by China Life Annuitant Mortality Table
2000-2003, are the best estimation on the post-retirement obligation on balance sheet date. Any changes in these
assumptions will have impact on the carrying amount of post-employment obligations, which will be recognised
in the future years.

Taxation

The main categories and rates of taxes applicable to the Group are set out below:

Category Tax base Tax rate
Enterprise income tax Taxable income 3% to 25%
Value added tax (“VAT”) Taxable value added amount (Tax payable is calculated using the taxable 17%
sales amount multiplied by the effective tax rate less deductible VAT
input of current period)
Business tax Taxable turnover amount 3% and 5%
Consumption tax Sales Price of Beer Consumption Tax per Unit Not Applicable
More than or equal to RMB3,000 RMB250 per ton
per ton
Less than RMB3,000 per ton RMB220 per ton
City maintenance and Amount of VAT, business tax and consumption tax paid 5% and 7%

construction tax

Education surcharge Amount of VAT, business tax and consumption tax paid 3%



— % — I F F H ANNUAL REPORT 2015

Notes to Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 December 2015
(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated)

3

2

3

C))

(5)

(6

Taxation (continued)
Preferential tax treatment and approval documents
Enterprise income tax of the Company

In accordance with an approval document dated 18 April 1994 issued by the State Administration for Taxation (“SAT”) of
the PRC, net profit earned by the Company was subject to enterprise income tax at 15%, which was effective from the date of
establishment of the Company until there is further changes of the relevant laws and regulations. The Company also received
a confirmation from the Finance Bureau of Qingdao on 23 March 1997 that this preferential tax treatment would not be
terminated until further notice.

On 5 July 2007, the Company became aware of a notice (Guoshuihan [2007] No.664) which was issued by SAT (the “Notice”)
regarding the preferential tax treatment granted to nine state-owned enterprises listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited in 1993 (including the Company). According to the Notice, the relevant local tax authorities were required
to immediately rectify the expired preferential tax treatments adopted by the Company and take appropriate action on the
differences of income taxes collected in prior years arising therefore in accordance with the applicable rules and provisions
under the promulgated Law on Tax Collection and Administration of the PRC. For this purpose, the Company issued an
announcement in relation to such matter on the websites of stock exchanges in the PRC and overseas, and in domestic
newspapers on 6 July 2007.

In April 2008, the Company was informed by the governing local tax bureau that the applicable enterprise income tax rate for
the year ended 31 December 2007 was adjusted from 15% to 33%. The Company has not been notified by any tax authorities
regarding the exposure of prior years. The directors are of the view that the final outcome cannot be reliably estimated and,
therefore, no provision for potential enterprise income tax exposure in prior years had been made in the financial statements.

The applicable enterprise income tax rate of the Company for the current year is 25%.
Hong Kong profits tax and Macau profits supplemental tax

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% on the estimated assessable profit for the year. Macau profits
supplemental tax is imposed on the estimated taxable profit for the year at a progressive rate scale ranging from 3% to 12%.

VAT

According to “the People’s Republic of China Value-added Tax Temporary Regulations” (“VAT Regulations”), the Group is
subject to output VAT calculated at 17% of the domestic sales value of tangible goods. In addition, it is subject to a refund
of 15% on its export sales of products based on an “exempt, credit, refund” policy enacted. The Group also pays input VAT
on its purchases of raw materials and auxiliary materials, machineries and VAT taxable services which is deductible against
output VAT on its sales in order to arrive at the net VAT amount payable to the PRC government.

Consumption tax

Beers production, manufacturing consignment and beer product importation activities undertaken by the Group are subject to
consumption tax in the PRC. For beer with an ex-factory price (including packaging materials and related deposits) of 3,000
or above per ton, the consumption tax is 250 per ton. For all other beer sold below that price, the consumption tax is levied at
220 per ton.

Tsingtao Brewery (Langfang) Co., Ltd. (“Langfang Company”), a subsidiary of the Company, has outstanding consumption
balances in respect of prior years amounting to approximately 3,884,000. The consumption tax was held over according to the
preferential treatment provided by local governments.

Withholding Tax

According to Circular Guoshuihan [2008] No. 897 “Notice on the issue about withholding Enterprise Income Tax on
the dividends paid by Chinese resident enterprises to overseas non-resident enterprises H-share holders” issued by State
Administration of Taxation on 6 November 2008, where a Chinese resident enterprise pays dividends to its H-share holders
which are overseas non-resident enterprises, it shall withhold the enterprise income tax on the basis of 10% of the dividends.
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4  Notes to the consolidated financial statements

(1) Cash at bank and on hand

31 December 2015

31 December 2014

Cash on hand

Bank deposits

Interbank deposits (i)
Deposits in central bank (ii)
Other cash balances (7ii)

Including: cash at bank and on hand overseas (iv)

424,497
389,464,333
7,185,485,353
489,020,000
337,357,454

431,550
512,439,722
4,753,518,492
794,310,000
327,951,015

8,401,751,637

6,388,650,779

79,939,295

64,297,399

(i)  Interbank deposits represent bank deposits reserved in domestic banks by Tsingtao Brewery Financial Co., Ltd.
(“Finance Company”).

(ii)) Deposits in central bank represent statutory deposit reserves in the People’s Bank of China by Finance Company. As at
31 December 2015, the statutory deposit reserves ratio of Finance Company is 7.5% (31 December 2014: 14.5%).

(iii) As at 31 December 2015, other cash balances of 300,000,000 (31 December 2014: nil) are structured deposits;
31,504,108 (31 December 2014: 31,399,875) represent housing maintenance fund in the bank; 4,057,894 (31 December
2014: 3,701,400) are pledged as collateral for issuance of bank acceptance (Note 4(22)); the remains are other deposits
of 1,795,452 (31 December 2014: guarantee deposit for loan of a subsidiary of 291,000,000 and other deposits of
1,849,740).

(iv) As at 31 December 2015, cash at bank and on hand overseas represents the cash and bank deposits of Tsingtao Brewery
Hong Kong Trading Co., Ltd. (“Hong Kong Company”) and Asia Brewery (Macau) Co., Ltd. (“Macau Company”) held
in Hong Kong and Macau respectively.

Cash and cash equivalents presented in cash flow statements

31 December 2015 31 December 2014

Cash at bank and on hand
Less: Restricted deposits in central bank

8,401,751,637
(489,020,000)
(337,357,454)

6,388,650,779
(794,310,000)

Other restricted cash balances (327,951,015)

7,575,374,183 5,266,389,764
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
Notes receivable

31 December 2015 31 December 2014

Bank acceptance notes 22,770,000 41,600,000

As at 31 December 2015, the Group’s notes receivable which have been endorsed but not yet matured are derecognised
amounting to 228,139,434 (as at 31 December 2014: derecognised amounting to 313,442,478 all of which were endorsed but
not yet matured), and there are no discounted bank acceptance notes that are not yet matured (31 December 2014: nil).

As at 31 December 2015, there are no pledged notes receivable, or no endorsed or discounted trade acceptance notes that are
not yet matured (31 December 2014: nil).

Accounts receivable

31 December 2015 31 December 2014

Accounts receivable 313,868,670 324,504,493
Less: Provision for bad debts (195,877,683) (199,082,864)
117,990,987 125,421,629

The majority of the Group’s domestic sales are made by advances from customers. The remains are settled by letters of credit,
bank acceptance notes or providing credit terms from 30 to 100 days.

(a) The ageing of accounts receivable based on their recording dates is analysed below:

31 December 2015 31 December 2014

Within 6 months 117,065,349 124,721,721
6 months to 1 year 545,871 669,040
1 to 2 years 814,122 128,640
2 to 3 years 110,102 —
3 to 4 years — 654,876
4 to 5 years 605,020 650,142
Over 5 years 194,728,206 197,680,074

313,868,670 324,504,493

As at 31 December 2015, accounts receivable of 7,921,217 (as at 31 December 2014: 27,627,054) have past due but not
impaired. Based on analysis on financial condition and past credit record of the customers, the overdue amounts can be
recovered. The ageing analysis of these accounts receivable is as follows:

31 December 2015 31 December 2014

Within 6 months 7,921,217 27,627,054
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4  Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

(3) Accounts receivable (continued)

(b)  Accounts receivable by categories are analysed as follows:

31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Ending balance Provision for bad debts Ending balance Provision for bad debts
% of total % of total
Amount balance Amount Ratio Amount balance Amount Ratio
Individually significant and subject to
separate assessment for provision 30,201,710 9.62%  (30,201,710) 100% 33,801,710 10.42%  (33,801,710) 100%
Subject to provision on the grouping
basis
Group C 283,666,960 90.38%  (165,675,973) 5841% 290,702,783 89.58%  (165,281,154) 56.86%
313,868,670 100%  (195,877,683) 62.41% 324,504,493 100%  (199,082,864) 61.35%

(¢) As at 31 December 2015, accounts receivable with amounts that are individually significant and subject to separate

assessment for provision are analysed as follows:

Provision for

Ending balance bad debts Ratio Reason

Gansu Nongken Brewery Co., Ltd.

(“Nongken Brewery Company”) 14,996,236 (14,996,236) 100% (1)
Beijing Tsingtao Brewery Sales Co., Ltd.

(“Beijing Sales Company™) 11,245,784 (11,245,784) 100% (ii)
Tsingtao Brewery (Guangzhou) General Agency

Co., Ltd.(“Guangzhou General Agency”) 3,959,690 (3,959,690) 100% (ii1)

30,201,710 (30,201,710)

(i)  As the Group has ceased all business transactions with Nongken Brewery Company, the management of the

Group is of the view that it is difficult to collect the receivable amount, therefore full bad debt provision has been

made accordingly.

(i) As the Company has ceased all business transactions with Beijing Sales Company, the management of the

Company is of the view that it is difficult to collect the receivable amount, therefore full bad debt provision has

been made accordingly.

(iii) As Guangzhou General Agency has been ceased operation years ago, the management of the Company is of

the view that it is difficult to collect the receivable amount, therefore full bad debt provision has been made

accordingly.
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4  Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

(3) Accounts receivable (continued)

(d)  Accounts receivable that are subject to provision for bad debts on the grouping basis (Group C) using the ageing

analysis method are analysed as follows:

31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Provision for bad debts Provision for bad debts

Ending Ending
balance Amount Ratio balance Amount Ratio
Within 6 months 117,065,349 — — 124,721,721 — —
6 months to 1 year 545,871 (27,294) 5% 669,040 (33,452) 5%
1 to 2 years 814,122 (407,061) 50% 128,640 (64,320) 50%
2 to 3 years 110,102 (110,102) 100% — — —
3 to 4 years — — — 654,876 (654,876) 100%
4 to 5 years 605,020 (605,020) 100% 650,142 (650,142) 100%
Over 5 years 164,526,496 (164,526,496) 100% 163,878,364 (163,878,364) 100%
283,666,960 (165,675,973) 58.41% 290,702,783 (165,281,154) 56.86%

(e)  The provisions for bad debts are 469,127, the increase amount of bad debts due to currency translation differences are

3,204, and the reversal provisions for bad debts are 3,677,512. The significant reversal provision for bad debts is as

follows:
Reason for Amount of
collecting or Rationality of collecting or
reversal provision basis reversal Collecting way
The collecting
probability is low in
Guangzhou General the management’s
Agency Partially collected view 3,600,000 By cash

(f) In the current year, there are no accounts receivable written off (2014: amounting to 6,977, represent accounts

receivable that can’t be collected approved to be written off).

(g) Asat31 December 2015, the top five accounts receivable are analysed as follows:

Provision of
Amount bad debts

% of total
balance

Total amount of the top five accounts receivable 58,076,190 (34,583,754)

18.50%

(h) As at 31 December 2015, there are no accounts receivable derecognised due to the transfer of financial assets (31

December 2014: nil).
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
Other receivables

31 December 2015 31 December 2014

Receivables on construction and equipment (7) 56,248,785 46,017,517
Payment on behalf for recycling bottles 45,814,654 6,081,251
Guarantee deposits 27,900,032 30,394,835
Staff advance 24,388,135 23,297,441
Refund for prepayment of land use rights 17,441,647 17,441,647
Brand royalty (ii) 15,381,998 17,630,536
VAT refund 5,545,370 2,597,139
Others 79,358,957 88,887,211
272,079,578 232,347,577
Less: provision for bad debts (71,403,624) (68,763,627)
200,675,954 163,583,950

(i) It represents the construction and equipment receivables of Tsingtao Brewery Construction Co., Ltd. (“Construction
Company”), Tsingtao Brewery Machinery and Equipment Co., Ltd. (“Machinery and Equipment Company”) and
Tsingtao Brewery Equipment Manufacture Co., Ltd. (“Equipment Manufacture”), all of which are subsidiaries of
the Company, due from the Company’s associates, including Tsingtao Brewery Shanghai Songjiang Manufacturing
Co., Ltd (“New Songjiang Manufacturing”), Tsingtao Brewery (Suqian) Co., Ltd. (“Suqian Company”), Tsingtao
Brewery (Yangzhou) Co., Ltd. (“Yangzhou Company”), Tsingtao Brewery (Xuzhou) Pengcheng Co., Ltd. (“Pengcheng
Company”) (Note 8(5)), and the third parties.

(ii)) It mainly represents the Company’s brand royalty receivables due from the Company’s associates, including New
Songjiang Manufacturing, Tsingtao Brewery (Xuzhou) Co., Ltd. (“Xuzhou Company”), Pengcheng Company, Suqian
Company, Yangzhou Company and China Jiangsu Suntory Food Co., Ltd. (“Suntory Jiangsu”), according to the “Brand
and Advertising Services Contract” signed among the Company and these associates (Note 8(5)).

(a) The ageing of other receivables is analysed below:

31 December 2015 31 December 2014

Within 6 months 150,182,199 159,420,717
6 months to 1 year 3,059,079 1,949,829
1 to 2 years 48,854,292 1,222,821
2 to 3 years 978,016 865,213
3 to 4 years 737,691 9,340,281
4 to 5 years 9,277,730 7,067,634
Over 5 years 58,990,571 52,481,082

272,079,578 232,347,577

The Group has no specific credit terms for other receivables. Therefore, the Group has no other receivables that are past
due but not impaired as at 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014.



— % — I F F H ANNUAL REPORT 2015

Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2015
(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated)

4  Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

C))

Other receivables (continued)

(®)

(©

Other receivables by categories are analysed as follows:

31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Ending balance Provision for bad debts Ending balance Provision for bad debts
% of total % of total
Amount balance Amount Ratio Amount balance Amount Ratio

Individually significant and

subject to separate assessment

for provision 17,441,647 6.41%  (17,441,647) 100% 17,441,647 751% (17,441,647 100%
Subject to provision

on the grouping basis

Group A 8,821,351 3.24% — — 9,998,266 4.30% = =
Group B (i) 62,899,286 23.12% — — 69,792,290 30.04% = =
Group C 182,917,294 67.23%  (53,961,977) 29.50% 135,115,374 58.15%  (51,321,980) 37.98%

272,079,578 100%  (71,403,624) 26.24% 232,347,577 100%  (68,763,627) 29.60%

(1) It represents the construction and equipment receivables and brand royalty receivables of the Group due from
the associates, including New Songjiang Manufacturing, Suqian Company, Yangzhou Company, Pengcheng
Company, Xuzhou Company and Suntory Jiangsu. As is stated in Note 10(3), the Company entered into the
agreement with Suntory (China) Investment Co., Ltd. (“Suntory Company”) about purchasing 50% equity
interest of Suntory Tsingtao Brewery (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. (“Manufacturing Company”, the parent company of
the associates listed above). After the transaction, Manufacturing Company and the associates listed above will
become subsidiaries of the Company. According to the bad debt provision method for the subsidiaries (Group B),
there is no bad debt provision made for these associates.

As at 31 December 2015, other receivables that are individually significant and subject to separate assessment for

provision are analysed as follows:

Provision for
Ending balance bad debts Ratio Reason

Refund for prepayment of land use rights 17,441,647 (17,441,647) 100% (1)

(i) A land use right of the Company was expropriated by the government years ago. The government committed
rendering another new land use right instead. The management of the Company considers that the possibility of
obtaining new land use right is low, and therefore has transferred the cost of the expropriated land use right of
8,584,437 and cost of buildings on this land of 8,857,210 to other receivables, and full bad debt provision has
been recorded accordingly.
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4  Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
(4) Other receivables (continued)

(d)  Other receivables that are subject to provision for bad debts on the grouping basis (Group C) using the ageing analysis
method are analysed as follows:

31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Provision for bad debts Provision for bad debts

Ending Ending
balance Amount Ratio balance Amount Ratio
Within 6 months 123,121,531 — — 82,060,875 — —
6 months to 1 year 3,059,079 (152,954) 5% 1,180,115 (59,006) 5%
1 to 2 years 5,855,323 (2,927,662) 50% 1,222,821 (611,411) 50%
2 to 3 years 978,016 (978,016) 100% 865,213 (865,213) 100%
3 to 4 years 737,691 (737,691) 100% 7,679,281 (7,679,281) 100%
4 to 5 years 7,616,730 (7,616,730) 100% 7,067,634 (7,067,634) 100%
Over 5 years 41,548,924  (41,548,924) 100% 35,039,435  (35,039,435) 100%
182,917,294  (53,961,977) 29.50% 135,115,374  (51,321,980) 37.98%

(e)  The provisions for bad debts are 3,518,748, and the reversal provision for bad debts are 877,496.
(/) In the current year, other receivables of 1,255 were written off.

(g) Asat 31 December 2015, the top five other receivables are analysed as follows:

% of total provision for

Nature Amount Ageing balance bad debts

No.1 Payment on behalf for recycling 40,151,046 within 6 months 14.76% —
bottles

No.2 Construction and equipment 25,398,906 within 2 years 9.34% —

receivables, brand royalty
receivables, etc.
No.3 Construction and equipment 19,421,507 within 2 years 7.14% —
receivables, brand royalty
receivables, etc.

No.4 Construction and equipment 16,695,368 within 6 months 6.14% —
receivables
No.5 Construction and equipment 11,448,059 within 2 years 4.19% —

receivables, brand royalty
receivables

113,114,886 41.57% —
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4  Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
(5) Advances to suppliers

(a) The ageing of advances to suppliers is analysed as follows:

31 December 2015
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31 December 2014

Amount % of total balance Amount % of total balance

Within 1 year 40,244,046 90.65% 188,308,026 98.25%
1 to 2 years 791,721 1.78% 3,319,554 1.73%
2 to 3 years 3,311,707 7.46% — —
Over 3 years 45,347 0.11% 45,347 0.02%
44,392,821 100% 191,672,927 100%

As at 31 December 2015, advances to suppliers over 1 year with carrying

amount of 4,148,775 (31 December 2014:

3,364,901) are mainly advances paid for materials, which have not been required to deliver yet due to production plan.

(b)  As at 31 December 2015, the total amount of top five advances to suppliers are analysed as follows:

Amount % of total balance

Total amount of the top five advances to suppliers

20,588,294 46.38%

(6) Interests receivable

3

1 December 2015 31 December 2014

Interests receivable

148,581,416 171,660,445

Interests receivable are mainly the inter-bank deposits interests due from external financial institutions, which not yet been

received by Finance Company, a subsidiary of the Company.

As at 31 December 2015, there are no interests receivable overdue (31 December 2014: nil).
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4  Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

Inventories

)

(a)

Classification of inventories is as follows:

31 December 2015

31 December 2014

Ending Carrying Ending Carrying
balance Provision amount balance Provision amount
Raw materials 644,183,244 (2,487,995) 641,695,249 656,883,671 (3,055,402) 653,828,269
Packaging materials 609,947,904 (8,736,698) 601,211,206 855,013,268 (10,262,020) 844,751,248
Low-value consumables 51,139,719 — 51,139,719 79,432,536 — 79,432,536
Materials on consignment
for further processing 80,187,035 — 80,187,035 24,105,809 — 24,105,809
Work in progress 389,693,337 — 389,693,337 388,393,264 — 388,393,264
Finished goods 418,508,590 — 418,508,590 496,315,980 — 496,315,980
2,193,659,829 (11,224,693) 2,182,435,136 2,500,144,528 (13,317,422) 2,486,827,106
(b) The movements of inventories are as follows:

31 December Increase in the Decrease in the 31 December
2014 current year current year 2015
Raw materials 656,883,671 4,306,645,793 (4,319,346,220) 644,183,244
Packaging materials 855,013,268 6,483,327,328 (6,728,392,692) 609,947,904
Low-value consumables 79,432,536 504,215,868 (532,508,685) 51,139,719

Material on consignment for further
processing 24,105,809 355,379,036 (299,297,810) 80,187,035
Work in progress 388,393,264 4,798,569,527 (4,797,269,454) 389,693,337
Finished goods 496,315,980 17,118,649,100 (17,196,456,490) 418,508,590
2,500,144,528 33,566,786,652  (33,873,271,351) 2,193,659,829

(¢)  Provisions for decline in the value of inventories are analysed as follows:

31 December Increase in the

Decrease in the current year

31 December

2014 current year Reversal Write-off 2015

Raw materials (3,055,402) — 481,190 86,217 (2,487,995)
Packaging materials (10,262,020) (39,759) 69,451 1,495,630 (8,736,698)
(13,317,422) (39,759) 550,641 1,581,847 (11,224,693)
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
Inventories (continued)

(d) Provisions for decline in the value of inventories are as follows:

Basis for provision Reason for reversal or writing-off
Raw materials Estimated selling price less the estimated costs to Reversal: impairment factors disappeared,
and packaging completion and estimated expenses necessary to and net realisable value increased
materials make the sale and related taxes Writing-off: used or disposed in the current
year

Other current assets

31 December 2015 31 December 2014

Prepaid Enterprise Income tax 571,276,009 451,721,398
Input VAT 197,334,248 303,564,776
Wealth management products (i) — 20,000,000
Others 130,852 7,344,976

768,741,109 782,631,150

(i) It represents the wealth management products purchased in 2014 by Finance Company, a subsidiary of the Company,
which has been collected when matured in May 2015.

Available-for-sale financial assets

31 December 2015 31 December 2014

Measured at cost — available-for-sale equity instruments 9,261,821 8,961,821
Less: impairment allowance (8,653,179) (8,653,179)

608,642 308,642
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4  Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
(9) Available-for-sale financial assets (continued)
(a) Available-for-sale financial assets are analysed as follows:

Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at cost:

Dividends
31 December Increase in the 31 December distribution in
2014 current year 2015  the current year
Cost of available-for-sale equity
instruments
— Qingdao Yingxiao Club 3,985,261 — 3,985,261 —
— Guangxi Beihai Real Estate Co., Ltd. 3,610,000 — 3,610,000 —
— Others 1,366,560 300,000 1,666,560 153,492
8,961,821 300,000 9,261,821 153,492
31 December Changes in the 31 December
2014 current year 2015
Impairment allowance of available-for-sale
equity instruments
— Qingdao Yingxiao Club (3,985,261) — (3,985,261)
— Guangxi Beihai Real Estate Co., Ltd. (3,610,000) — (3,610,000)
— Others (1,057,918) — (1,057,918)
(8,653,179) — (8,653,179)

(b) The available-for-sale financial assets measured at cost mainly include the unlisted equity investments held by the
Group which are not quoted in an active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured as the range
of reasonable fair value estimates is wide and probabilities for determining these estimates cannot be reasonably
determined. The Group has no plan to dispose these investments.
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4  Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
(10) Long-term equity investments

31 December 2015 31 December 2014

Joint Ventures (a) 225,462,073 221,117,360
Associates (b) 1,283,503,022 1,316,365,015
1,508,965,095 1,537,482,375
Less: Provision for impairment of long-term equity investments (1,220,000) (1,220,000)
1,507,745,095 1,536,262,375

There is no restriction on realisation the long-term equity investments to cash.
There is no restriction on fund transferring among the Group and its joint venture and associates.

(a) Joint Venture

Movements in the current period

Share of net
profit or loss Balance of
adjusted using ~ Share of other provision for
31 December the equity  comprehensive  Otherequity 31 December Equity Voting ~ impairment at
2014 method income changes 015 interest held rights end of year
Hebei Jiahe Company 221,117,360 3,793,886 — 550,827 225,462,073 50% 50% —

The share of equity interests and voting right held by the Company are both 50% in Hebei Jiahe Company, so the
Group owns joint control over Hebei Jiahe Company and accounts for it as a joint venture.

Details of equity interests in the joint venture are disclosed in note 6(2).
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4  Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
(10) Long-term equity investments (continued)

(b) Associates

Movements in the current year

Share of net Balance of
profitorloss  Share of other provision for
31 December using the  comprehensive  Cash dividends 31 December  Equity interests Voting ~ impairment at
2014 equity method income declared 2015 held rights end of year
Manufacturing Company (i) 1,152,888,578 (25,075,065) — —  L127,813,513 50% 44 44% —
Yantai Asahi 137,751,910 11,015,056 — (15310,781) 133,456,185 39% 39% —
Qingdao Zhaoshang Logistics Company
Limited (“Zhaoshang Logistics”) 20,213,625 4,630,607 = (7,785,990) 17,058,242 30% 30% —
Liaoning Shenqing Tsingtao Brewery
Company Limited
(“Liaoning Shenging”) 2,606,987 (409,627) — — 2,197,360 30% 30% —
Tsingtao Brewery Import & Export
S.ARL (“European Company”) 1,683,915 150,760 (76,953) = 1,757,122 40% 40% —
Others 1,220,000 = = = 1,220,000 (1,220,000)
1,316,365,015 (9,688,269) (76953)  (23,096,771) ~ 1,283,503,022 (1,220,000)

(i)  The Group’s share of equity interests in Manufacturing Company is 50%, while the voting right is 44.44%.
All decisions of operating activities are made by the Board of Directors of Manufacturing Company. As there
are 9 directors in total while 4 directors are from the Group, the Group can exercise significant influence over
Manufacturing Company and accounted for it as an associate. The other 5 directors are from Suntory Company.

The share of net losses using the equity method of Manufacturing Company is 25,075,065, including investment
loss of 25,546,005 which derives from shares of net loss based on the fair value adjustment and investment
income of 470,940 due to the unrealised profit in intra-group sales reversed in the current year.

Details of equity interests in the associates are disclosed in note 6(2).

(11) Investment properties

Buildings
31 December 2014 10,960,292
Transferred from fixed assets (i) 18,925,768
Depreciation in the current year (1,437,400)
Transferred to fixed assets (2,936,512)
31 December 2015 25,512,148

(i) In January 2015, the fixed assets with the carrying amount of 18,925,768 (cost: 36,023,286) are reclassified to
investment properties as they are used for leasing instead of self-use.

For the year ended 31 December 2015, there is no investment property measured at fair value in the Group (2014: nil).

As at 31 December 2015, there is no investment property without ownership certificates (31 December 2014: nil).
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4  Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

(12) Fixed assets

Machinery and Other
Buildings equipment Vehicles equipment Total
Cost
As at 31 December 2014 5,652,887,413 9,894,357,211 360,593,899 684,698,285 16,592,536,808
Increase in the current year 699,476,898 932,178,553 32,304,451 128,462,493 1,792,422,395
Purchase — 14,283,576 32,304,451 102,099,039 148,687,066
Transfer from construction
in progress 694,649,823 917,894,977 — 26,363,454 1,638,908,254
Transfer from investment
properties 4,827,075 — — — 4,827,075
Decrease in the current year (228,691,212) (632,274,761) (42,573,809) (39,859,026) (943,398,808)
Disposal (144,247,787) (454,488,121) (42,573.,809) (39,859,026) (681,168,743)
Transfer to construction
in progress (i) (48,420,139) (177,786,640) — — (226,206,779)
Transfer to investment
properties (36,023,286) — — — (36,023,286)
As at 31 December 2015 6,123,673,099 10,194,261,003 350,324,541 773,301,752 17,441,560,395
Accumulated depreciation
As at 31 December 2014 (1,426,402,286) (4,924,208,298) (194,882,641) (419,661,589) (6,965,154,814)

Increase in the current year
Accrual
Transfer from investment

(138,392,146)
(136,501,583)

(479,353,637
(479,353,637

(37,851,826)
(37,851,826)

(91,064,265)
(91,064,265)

(746,661,874)
(744,771,311)

properties (1,890,563) — — — (1,890,563)
Decrease in the current year 122,209,606 382,176,551 39,896,899 36,261,304 580,544,360
Disposal 77,945,344 302,375,967 39,896,899 36,261,304 456,479,514
Transfer to construction
in progress (i) 27,773,331 79,800,584 — — 107,573,915
Transfer to investment
properties 16,490,931 — — — 16,490,931
As at 31 December 2015 (1,442,584,826) (5,021,385,384) (192,837,568) (474,464,550) (7,131,272,328)
Provision for impairment
As at 31 December 2014 (66,887,938) (437,705,292) (3,662,620) (349,954) (508,605,804)
Increase in the current year
— Accrual (1,103,769) (2,015,931) — (20,690) (3,140,390)
Decrease in the current year 6,534,161 90,534,382 1,118,800 176,668 98,364,011
Disposal 5,927,574 90,534,382 1,118,800 176,668 97,757,424
Transfer to investment
properties 606,587 — — — 606,587
As at 31 December 2015 (61,457,546) (349,186,841) (2,543,820) (193,976) (413,382,183)
Carrying amount
As at 31 December 2015 4,619,630,727 4,823,688,778 154,943,153 298,643,226 9,896,905,884
As at 31 December 2014 4,159,597,189 4,532,443,621 162,048,638 264,686,742 9,118,776,190
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4  Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
(12) Fixed assets (continued)

(i)  For the year ended 31 December 2015, fixed assets of the Group with the carrying amount of 118,632,864 (cost:
226,206,779; accumulated depreciation: 107,573,915) are transferred to construction in progress to be upgraded due to
the plant overall planning or technology renewal.

As at 31 December 2015, there are no fixed assets pledged as collateral for borrowings (31 December 2014: nil).

For the year ended 31 December 2015, fixed assets accumulated depreciation are 744,771,311 (2014: 730,381,665), of which

652,563,182, 12,605,248 and 79,602,881 (2014: 640,661,147, 17,191,812 and 72,528,706) have been charged to cost of sales,

selling and distribution expenses and general and administrative expenses respectively.

The cost of fixed assets transferred from construction in progress amounts to 1,638,908,254 (2014: 869,545,900).

(a) Temporarily idle fixed assets
As at 31 December 2015, the buildings and the machinery and equipment with carrying amount of 56,228,495 (cost:
102,660,465) are temporarily idle for the reason of products update (31 December 2014: carrying amount of 30,268,786

(cost: 69,372,544)). The management planned to reallocate these assets among the Group. The detailed analysis of these
assets is as follows:

Accumulated Provision for Carrying

Cost depreciation impairment amount

Machinery and equipment 99,927,957 (39,729,074) (5,108,256) 55,090,627
Buildings 2,732,508 (1,483,194) (111,446) 1,137,868
102,660,465 (41,212,268) (5,219,702) 56,228,495

(b)  Fixed assets held under finance leases
As at 31 December 2015, there are no fixed assets held under finance leases (31 December 2014: nil).
(c)  Provision for impairment
According to the accounting policies stated in Note 2(19), the Group performs impairment testing on buildings,

machinery and equipment with impairment indicator at the balance sheet date, and impairment of 3,140,390 has been
provided.
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4  Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
(12) Fixed assets (continued)
(d)  Fixed assets without ownership certificates
The ownership certificates of the Group’s certain buildings have not been obtained. The analysis is as follows:

31 December 2015 31 December 2014

Reason Carrying amount Carrying amount

In the application process 590,092,000 329,537,000
Unable to obtain 49,321,000 51,288,000
639,413,000 380,825,000

Per consultation with the Company’s legal adviser, the Company’s directors are of the view that this situation will not
prevent the Group from legal possession of such facilities as there is no legal restriction for the Group to apply for
and obtain the building ownership certificates, there are no significant adverse impact on the operations of the Group,
therefore, no provision for fixed assets impairment is provided. In addition, certain buildings of the Group are still
located on parcels of allocated land owned by certain local municipal governments (Note 4(15)).

Reason

Partial buildings of Shenzhen Asahi Company In the application process

Partial buildings of Sanshui Company In the application process
Partial buildings of Yulin Company In the application process
Partial buildings of Wuwei Company In the application process
Partial buildings of Weinan Company In the application process
Partial buildings of Wuhu Company In the application process
Partial buildings of Suizhou Company In the application process

Partial buildings of Immense Brewery Company In the application process

Partial buildings of Luzhou Company
Partial buildings of Xiamen Company
Partial buildings of Shaoguan Company
Partial buildings of Malt Factory

Partial buildings of Hansi Baoji Company
Partial buildings of Shaoguan Company
Partial buildings of Five Star Company
Partial buildings of Xiamen Company
Partial buildings of No.l Factory

Partial buildings of Three Ring Company
Partial buildings of Xuecheng Company

In the application process

In the application process

In the application process

In the application process

In the application process

Temporary buildings, unable to obtain
Temporary buildings, unable to obtain
Lack of document, unable to obtain
Lack of document, unable to obtain
Lack of document, unable to obtain
Lack of document, unable to obtain
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4  Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

31 December 2014

Ending Provision for Carrying Ending  Provision for Carrying
balance  impairment amount balance impairment amount
Relocation and renovation
project of Malt Factory 108,143,961 — 108,143,961 340,292,939 — 340,292,939
Relocation and renovation
project of Xingkaihu
Company 45,645,690 — 45,645,690 10,632,206 — 10,632,206
Production line improvement of
No. 1 Factory 28,698,169 — 28,698,169 57,160,867 — 57,160,867
Relocation project of Hansi
Baoji Company 20,840,772 — 20,840,772 194,854,352 — 194,854,352
New factory project of
Zhangjiakou Company 15,998,126 — 15,998,126 13,522,040 — 13,522,040
Production line improvement of
No. 2 Factory 12,277,670 — 12,277,670 12,598,791 — 12,598,791
Relocation project of Weinan
Company 11,363,320 — 11,363,320 88,341,022 — 88,341,022
Relocation and renovation
project of Langfang
Company 8,028,094 — 8,028,094 7,578,858 — 7,578,858
Production line improvement of
Jiujiang Company 4,752,858 — 4,752,858 12,428,961 — 12,428,961
Relocation project of Suizhou
Company 3,749,476 — 3,749,476 165,094 — 165,094
Equipment installation of
Fuzhou Company 3,595,846 — 3,595,846 1,445,663 — 1,445,663
Production line improvement of
No. 5 Factory 3,429,437 — 3,429,437 2,684,260 — 2,684,260
New office building project of
Shanghai Sales Company 3,258,376 — 3,258,376 3,058,376 — 3,058,376
Production line improvement of
Hangzhou Company 1,723,505 — 1,723,505 283,019 — 283,019
Special equipment installation
of the Headquarter 1,567,079 — 1,567,079 443,069 — 443,069
Production line improvement
of Shaoguan Company 1,377,684 — 1,377,684 — — —
Production line improvement
of Taiyuan Company 1,268,376 — 1,268,376 — — —
Production line improvement
of No.4 Factory 1,204,757 — 1,204,757 717,647 — 717,647
Production line improvement
of Xi’an Company 1,121,539 — 1,121,539 1,696,745 — 1,696,745
Production line improvement
of Chenzhou Company 1,097,663 — 1,097,663 144,863 — 144,863
Production line improvement
of Changsha Company 1,032,000 — 1,032,000 588,889 — 588,889
Other projects 7,295,336 — 7,295,336 303,278,404 — 303,278,404
287,469,734 — 287,469,734 1,051,916,065 — 1,051,916,065
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4  Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

(13) Construction in progress (continued)

(a)

Movement in significant construction in progress

Proportion of
expenditures
incurred to
31 December  Increase in the Transferto 31 December budgeted Completion
Name Budget 2014 current year fixed assets 015 amount percentage  Source of funds
Relocation and renovation project Funding from convertible
of Malt Factory 422,500,000 340,292,939 76,081,466 (308,230,444) 108,143,961 99% 99% bond and self-funding
Relocation and renovation project
of Xingkaihu Factory 255,000,000 10,632,206 35,013,484 — 45,645,690 38% 34%  Self-funding
Production line improvement of
No. [ Factory 315,508,388 57,160,867 109,800,944 (138,263,642) 28,698,169 88% 88%  Self-funding
Relocation project of Hansi Baoji
Company 355,000,000 194,854,352 88,890,702 (262,904,282) 20,840,772 99% 99%  Self-funding
New factory project of
Zhangjiakou Company 400,000,000 13,522,040 2,476,086 — 15,998,126 4% 4% Self-funding
Production line improvement of
No. 2 Factory 403,642,000 12,598,791 18,934,002 (19,255,123) 12,277,670 87% 84%  Self-funding
Relocation project of Weinan
Company 308,330,000 88,341,022 132,177,860 (209,155,562) 11,363,320 0% 68%  Self-funding
Relocation and renovation project
of Langfang Factory 299,220,000 7,578,858 833,851 (384,615) 8,028,094 T% 3% Self-funding
Production ling improvement of
Jijiang Company 40,120,000 12,428 961 14,011,396 (21,687.499) 4,752,858 06% 06%  Self-funding
Relocation project of Suizhou
Company 268,000,000 165,004 3,584,382 — 3,749,476 4% 1% Self-funding
Equipment installation of Fuzhou
Company 11,143,000 1,445,663 9,966,738 (7,816,555) 3,595,846 89% 89%  Self-funding
Production line improvement of
No. § Factory 21,616,350 2,684,260 11,967,307 (11,222,130) 3429437 68% 08%  Self-funding
New office building project of
Shanghai Sales Company 140,000,000 3,058,376 200,000 — 3,258,376 2% 2% Self-funding
Production line improvement of
Hangzhou Company 11,628 462 283,019 8,585,929 (7,145,443) 1,723,505 76% 76%  Self-funding
Special equipment installation of
the Headquarter 5,890,000 443,069 3,098,788 (1,974,778) 1,567,079 60% 60%  Self-funding
Production line improvement of
Shaoguan Company 5,168,000 — 2,005,463 (1,287,779) 1,377,684 52% 52%  Self-funding
Production line improvement of
Taiyuan Company 17,941,223 - 17,739,505 (16,471,129) 1,268,376 99% 99%  Self-funding
Production line improvement of
No. 4 Factory 6,775,292 717,647 5,198,108 (4,710,998) 1,204,757 91% 87%  Self-funding
Production line improvement of
Xi’an Company 27,400,000 1,696,745 17,652,095 (18,227,301) 1,121,539 1% 1% Self-funding
Production line improvement of
Chenzhou Company 3,693,000 144,863 3,129,604 (2,176,804) 1,097,663 89% 89%  Self-funding
Production line improvement of
Changsha Company 4437362 588,889 3217943 (2,774,832) 1,032,000 86% 86%  Self-funding
Other projects 303278404 309,236,270 (605,219,338) 7,295,336
1,051,916,065 874,461,923 (1,638,908,54) 287,469,734

For the year ended 31 December 2015, there are no new increased borrowing costs capitalised (2014: the amount of the

borrowing costs capitalised were 3,215,124. The capitalisation rate of borrowing costs was 6.53%).
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4  Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
(13) Construction in progress (continued)
(b)  Provision for impairment

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group did not provide or write off provision for impairment of construction
in progress (2014: nil).

(14) Fixed assets pending for disposal

31 December 2015 31 December 2014

Machinery and equipment 6,571,007 17,965,978

(15) Intangible assets

Land use Technology Marketing
rights  Trademarks known-how networks Others Total
Cost
31 December 2014 2,030,358,583 415,988,313 18,629,100 974,935,670 296,806,879 3,736,718,545
Increase in the current year
— Purchase 128,722,037 — — — 42,989,390 171,711,427
Decrease in the current year (59,296,870) — — — (278,192) (59,575,062)
Disposal (48,360,928) — — — (278,192) (48,639,120)
Other (i) (10,935,942) — — — — (10,935,942)
31 December 2015 2,099,783,750 415,988,313 18,629,100 974,935,670 339,518,077  3,848,854,910
Accumulated amortisation
31 December 2014 (319,866,688)  (171,126,326) (18,629,100)  (346,510,942)  (100,001,213)  (956,134,269)
Increase in the current
year — Amortisation (44,087,677) (32,756,556) — (98,144,804) (29,193,163)  (204,182,200)
Decrease in the current year 18,487,773 — — — 73,403 18,561,176
Disposal 14,525,126 — — — 73,403 14,598,529
Other (i) 3,962,647 — — — — 3,962,647
31 December 2015 (345,466,592)  (203,882,882) (18,629,100)  (444,655,746)  (129,120,973) (1,141,755,293)
Carrying amount
31 December 2015 1,754,317,158 212,105,431 — 530,279,924 210,397,104  2,707,099,617
31 December 2014 1,710,491,895 244,861,987 — 628,424,728 196,805,666  2,780,584,276

(i) It represents the land using right of Hongjiweiye transferred out due to the disposal (Note 5(1)).

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the amortisation amount of intangible assets is 204,182,200 (2014: 191,582,989).

As at 31 December 2015, there are no intangible assets pledged as collateral for borrowings (31 December 2014: nil).
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4  Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
(15) Intangible assets (continued)

As at 31 December 2015, the relevant legal procedures for certificates application of the Group’s land use rights with carrying
amount of approximately 51,683,000 (31 December 2014: 53,339,000) are still in process. According to the legal adviser’s
opinion, the directors of the Company are of the view that, there is no substantial legal restriction for the acquisition of the
certificates, which does not have significant impact on the Group’s operation and no provision for impairment of intangible
assets is considered necessary. In addition, as at 31 December 2015, buildings of certain subsidiaries of the Group were
located on parcels of allocated land owned by certain local municipal governments. Most of the relevant local governments
have undertaken to implement transfer procedures for these lands. Carrying amount of the buildings constructed thereon are
approximately 31,782,000 as at 31 December 2015 (31 December 2014: 32,642,000). The Company’s directors consider that
there is no significant adverse impact on the operations of the Group.

Development expenditures are set out as follows:

Decrease in the current year

31 December Increase in the Charged Recognised as 31 December
2014 current year  to profit or loss intangible assets 2015

Beer technology
improvement project — 12,878,657 (12,878,657) — —

For the year ended 31 December 2015, development expenditures of 12,878,657 (2014: 19,247,427) are recognised in profit
or loss.
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4  Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

(16) Goodwill

31 December

Increase in the

Decrease in the

31 December

2014 current year current year 2015
Goodwill —

Immense Brewery Company 958,868,617 — — 958,868,617
Lulansa Brewery 227,026,482 — — 227,026,482
Huanan Region — Nanning Company 130,895,740 — — 130,895,740
Dongnan Region — Fuzhou Company/

Xiamen Company/Zhangzhou Company/

Dongnan Sales Company 114,031,330 — — 114,031,330
Huabei Region — Three Ring Company/

Beifang Sales Company 24,642,782 — — 24,642,782
Others Regions 49,049,770 — — 49,049,770

Less: provision for impairment (a) —

Immense Brewery Company

Lulansa Brewery

Huanan Region — Nanning Company

Dongnan Region — Fuzhou Company/
Xiamen Company/Zhangzhou
Company/Dongnan Sales Company

Huabei Region — Three Ring Company/
Beifang Sales Company

Others Regions

(a) Impairment

1,504,514,721

1,504,514,721

(130,895,740)

(24,642,782)
(41,872,217)

(130,895,740)

(24,642,782)
(41,872,217)

(197,410,739)

(197,410,739)

1,307,103,982

1,307,103,982

The goodwill allocated to the asset groups and groups of asset groups are summarised by operating segments as
follows:

31 December 2015 31 December 2014

Huanan Region (130,895,740) (130,895,740)
Huabei Region (24,642,782) (24,642,782)
Other Regions (41,872,217) (41,872,217)

(197,410,739) (197,410,739)
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4  Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

(16) Goodwill (continued)

(a) Impairment (Continued)

The recoverable amounts of asset groups and groups of asset groups are calculated using the estimated cash flows
determined according to the five-year financial budgets approved by management. Cash flows beyond the five-year
period are calculated using the estimated growth rate of 3% which does not exceed the long-term average growth rate

of the brewery industry in the PRC.

The main assumptions applied in calculating discounted future cash flows are as follows:

Immense
Brewery Lulansa Dongnan Other
Company Brewery Region Regions
Gross margin 36.6% 27.3% 32.8% 23.2%
Pre-tax discount rate 16.2% 16.0% 16.3% 16.2%
Post-tax discount rate 13.2% 13.2% 13.2% 13.2%

Management determines budgeted gross margin based on previous experience and forecast on future market. The
discount rate used by management is the pre-tax interest rate that is able to reflect the risks specific to related asset
groups and groups of asset groups. The above assumptions are used to assess the recoverable amount of each asset

group and group of asset groups.

(17) Long-term prepaid expenses

31 December

Increase in the

Amortisation in

31 December

2014 current year  the current year 2015

Decoration and renovation expenses 13,750,016 8,350,627 (4,668,957) 17,431,686
Factory hardening expenses 4,360,573 4,640,554 (1,884,231) 7,116,896
Gardening expenses 6,483,763 5,647,888 (5,494,457) 6,637,194
Site and vehicle leasing expenses 5,488,157 900,979 (1,586,852) 4,802,284
Others 2,492,008 2,704,593 (1,322,801) 3,873,800
32,574,517 22,244,641 (14,957,298) 39,861,860
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4  Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

(18) Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities

(a)

(b)

Deferred tax assets without offsetting

31 December 2015

31 December 2014

Deductible Deductible
temporary temporary
differences differences
and deductible Deferred tax and deductible Deferred tax
losses assets losses assets
Deductible losses 281,250,744 70,312,686 59,591,708 14,897,927
Provision for asset impairment 10,759,220 2,689,805 17,615,072 4,403,768
Deferred income 34,102,432 8,525,608 30,055,740 7,513,935
Elimination of intra-group unrealised
profit 85,554,512 21,388,628 117,046,284 29,261,571
Accruals of expenses 2,732,546,792 683,136,698 2,672,649,440 668,162,360
3,144,213,700 786,053,425 2,896,958,244 724,239,561
Including:
Expected to reverse within one year
(inclusive) 666,210,087 648,383,844
Expected to be recovered after one year 119,843,338 75,855,717

Deferred tax liabilities without offsetting

786,053,425

31 December 2015

724,239,561

31 December 2014

Taxable Taxable
temporary Deferred tax temporary Deferred tax
differences liabilities differences liabilities
Business combinations not under
common control 533,864,420 133,466,105 624,870,956 156,217,739
Depreciation of fixed assets 17,963,676 4,490,919 22,356,652 5,589,163
The difference between carrying
amount and tax base resulted from
government grants charged in profit
or loss in the current period 51,224,260 12,806,065 8,457,308 2,114,327
603,052,356 150,763,089 655,684,916 163,921,229
Including:
Expected to be recovered within one
year (inclusive) 26,610,652 30,843,169
Expected to be recovered after one year 124,152,437 133,078,060

150,763,089

163,921,229
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4  Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
(18) Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities (continued)

(¢c) Deductible temporary differences and deductible losses that are not recognised as deferred tax assets are analysed as

follows:

31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Deductible temporary differences 345,082,076 349,367,033
Deductible losses 1,769,750,774 1,565,207,139

2,114,832,850 1,914,574,172

Given the loss-making position of certain subsidiaries, whether it is probable that sufficient future taxable incomes will
be available against such deductible losses is highly uncertain. Therefore, the Group has not recognised deferred tax
assets of approximately 442,438,000 (31 December 2014: 391,302,000) arising from the accumulated losses that can
set off against taxable incomes under tax laws in the five-year period from 2016 to 2020. In addition, given the loss-
making position of certain subsidiaries, whether it is probable that sufficient future taxable incomes will be available
against temporary differences is highly uncertain or the possibility of obtaining approval on the losses from tax
authorities is low. Therefore, the Group also has not recognised deferred tax assets of approximately 86,271,000 (31
December 2014: 87,342,000) arising from the deductible temporary differences resulting from the impact of provision
for impairment losses.

(d) Deductible losses that are not recognised as deferred tax assets will be overdue in the following years:

31 December 2015 31 December 2014

2015 — 181,246,239
2016 281,111,059 283,673,297
2017 336,857,590 352,640,046
2018 357,741,607 371,328,914
2019 329,760,124 376,318,643
2020 464,280,394 —

1,769,750,774 1,565,207,139

(e)  The net balances of deferred tax assets and liabilities after offsetting are as follows:

31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Offsetting Offsetting
amount Net amounts amount Net amounts
Deferred tax assets 16,894,708 769,158,717 5,453,489 718,786,072

Deferred tax liabilities 16,894,708 133,868,381 5,453,489 158,467,740
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4

(19)

(20)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

Provision for asset impairment

31 December Increase in the Decrease in the current year 31 December
2014 current year Reversal Write-off Others 2015
Provision for bad debts 267,846,491 3,987,875 (4,555,008) (1,255) 3,204 267,281,307

Including: Provision for bad
debts of accounts
receivable 199,082,864 469,127 (3,677,512) — 3,204 195,877,683
Provision for bad
debts of other
receivables 68,763,627 3,518,748 (877,496) (1,255) — 71,403,624

Provision for decline in value of

inventories 13,317,422 39,759 (550,641) (1,581,847) — 11,224,693
Provision for impairment of

available-for-sale financial

assets 8,653,179 — — — — 8,653,179
Provision for impairment of
long-term equity investments 1,220,000 — — — — 1,220,000
Provision for impairment of
investment properties (i) 246,160 — — — 606,587 852,747
Provision for impairment of
fixed assets (i) 508,605,804 3,140,390 — (97,757,424) (606,587) 413,382,183
Provision for impairment of
goodwill 197,410,739 — — — — 197,410,739
997,299,795 7,168,024 (5,105,649)  (99,340,526) 3,204 900,024,848

(i)  Other changes represent buildings with partial provision for impairment transferred to investment properties measured
by cost method, and the provision for impairment are reclassified accordingly (Note 4(12)).

Other non-current assets

31 December 2015 31 December 2014

Prepayments for construction and equipment 65,214,382 76,626,751
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4  Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

(21) Short-term borrowings

(22)

Currency 31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Unsecured loan (i) HKD 301,942,672 27,168,683
Interbank borrowing (ii) RMB 300,000,000 —
Entrusted loan (7ii) RMB 208,444,610 107,960,037
Guaranteed loan (iv) HKD — 266,648,200
Rediscounted bills RMB — 31,175,675
810,387,282 432,952,595

(i) Represents the borrowing of RMB283,176,400 (Original foreign currency: HKD338,000,000) to Hong Kong

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

company, a subsidiary, provided by the Bank of China Macau branch (31 December 2014: nil), and the borrowing of
RMB18,766,272 (Original foreign currency: HKD22,399,465) provided by the Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ (China),
Ltd. (“BTMU China”) to Shenzhen Tsingtao Brewery Asahi Co., Ltd. (“Shenzhen Asahi”) (31 December 2014: the
borrowing provided by BTMU China to Shenzhen Asahi was RMB27,168,683 (HKD:34,440,000)).

It represents the interbank borrowing from Agricultural Bank of China with the maturity date of 4 January 2016.

As at 31 December 2015, the entrusted loan includes borrowings of Shanghai Market Service and the Prince Sales,
subsidiaries of the Company, from Suntory Company through banks, amounting to 124,661,317 and 63,783,293
respectively (31 December 2014, amounting to 65,954,812 and 42,005,225 respectively) (Note 8(5)), and the borrowing
of Lulansa Company, a subsidiary of the Company, from its minority shareholder Shandong Huashi Beer Co., Ltd.,
amounting to 20,000,000 (As at 31 December 2014: nil).

As at 31 December 2014, it represents the borrowing of Hong Kong Company, a subsidiary of the Company, from the
Bank of Communications Co., Ltd. Hong Kong Branch, which was guaranteed by the Bank of Communications Co.,
Ltd. Qingdao Branch through establishing the guarantee letter, and the Company provided a deposit of 291,000,000 as
counter guarantee (Note 4(1)). The borrowing was repaid in May 2015 when matured.

As at 31 December 2015, the interest rate range of short-term borrowings is from 1.48% to 5.60% (31 December 2014: 2.25%
to 3.30%).

Notes payable

31 December 2015 31 December 2014

Trade acceptance notes 32,119,311 43,043,268
Bank acceptance notes 68,022,320 48,704,857
100,141,631 91,748,125

Other cash balances of 4,057,894 (31 December 2014: 3,701,400) are pledged as collateral for the bank acceptance notes of
the Group (Note 4(1)).

All notes payable will be due within six months.
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4  Notes to the consolidated financial statements

(23) Accounts payable

(continued)

31 December 2015

31 December 2014

Payable for materials purchase

Payable for beer purchase due to related parties (Note 8(5))
Payable for promotional goods

Others

1,692,948,348
879,652,889
16,975,251
1,410,368

1,711,096,325
742,975,403
38,999,836
1,097,375

2,590,986,856

2,494,168,939

(a) As at 31 December 2015, accounts payable over 1 year with carrying amount of 53,746,030 (31 December 2014:

38,777,173) are mainly payables for materials purchase, for which final settlement has not yet been completed.

(b) The ageing of accounts payable based on their recording dates is analysed as follows:

31 December 2015

31 December 2014

Within 1 year
1 to 2 years

2 to 3 years
Over 3 years

(24) Advances from customers

2,537,240,826
32,294,411
4,354,162
17,097,457

2,455,391,766
13,592,341
8,486,995
16,697,837

2,590,986,856

2,494,168,939

31 December 2015

31 December 2014

Advances on sales of beer

As at 31 December 2015, advances from customers over 1 year with carrying amount of 13,766,714 (31 December 2014:
11,066,878) are mainly purchase deposits received from customers in advance. The amount has not been settled as the Group

still maintains cooperative relationship with these customers.

(25) Employee benefits payable

1,000,313,388

787,924,958

31 December 2015

31 December 2014

Short-term employee benefits (a)
Defined contribution plans (b)
Termination benefits (c)

Defined benefit plans (d)

788,693,683 729,256,984
22,745,678 24,219,212
98,978,948 98,706,409
15,211,459 14,486,043

925,629,768 866,668,648
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4  Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

(25) Employee benefits payable (continued)

(a) Short-term employee benefits
31 December Increase in the Decrease in the 31 December
2014 current year current year 2015
Wages and salaries, bonus, allowances
and subsidies 483,278,751 2,832,683,121 (2,794,499,445) 521,462,427
Staff welfare 87,587 199,106,201 (199,193,788) —
Social security contributions 14,257,421 219,282,431 (218,625,470) 14,914,382
Including: Medical insurance 10,716,798 182,776,161 (181,857,935) 11,635,024
Work injury insurance 1,530,014 19,260,682 (19,104,574) 1,686,122
Maternity insurance 2,010,609 17,245,588 (17,662,961) 1,593,236
Housing funds 17,423,853 230,428,572 (231,152,862) 16,699,563
Labour union funds and employee
education funds 214,209,372 101,271,995 (79,864,056) 235,617,311
729,256,984 3,582,772,320 (3,523,335,621) 788,693,683
(b) Defined contribution plans
31 December Increase in the Decrease in the 31 December
2014 current year current year 2015
Basic pension 20,044,155 417,340,323 (418,618,669) 18,765,809
Unemployment insurance 4,175,057 25,441,305 (25,636,493) 3,979,869
24,219,212 442,781,628 (444,255,162) 22,745,678
(¢c) Termination benefits

31 December 2015

31 December 2014

Early retirement benefits payable (to be paid within one year)

(Note 4(32)) 98,470,798 97,013,711
Other termination benefits (i) 508,150 1,692,698
98,978,948 98,706,409

(i)  For the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group’s other termination benefits paid for termination of the

employment relationship is 22,491,665, because of certain subsidiaries’ relocation and other events.
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4  Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

(25) Employee benefits payable (continued)

(d) Defined benefit plans

31 December 2015

31 December 2014

Supplemental retirement benefits (to be paid within one year) (Note 4(32))

(26) Taxes payable

15,211,459

14,486,043

31 December 2015

31 December 2014

Enterprise income tax
Consumption tax
VAT

City maintenance and construction tax

Education surcharge
Business tax
Others

(27) Other payables

122,496,662 113,240,519
58,051,366 59,375,803
23,863,186 16,554,579

7,208,969 5,609,330
5,967,324 6,439,127
3,303,668 4,664,057
40,997,977 43,312,123
261,889,152 249,195,538

31 December 2015

31 December 2014

Accruals for marketing expenses
Guarantee deposits

Payables to vendors of construction, machinery and equipment
Accruals for advertising expenses

Accruals for transportation expenses

Absorbed deposits from related parties and interests payables (i)
Accruals for general and administrative expenses

Accruals for labour expenses

Accruals for water, electricity and steam expenses

Investment payable (i)

Withholding social expenses for staff

Others

(i) It represents the deposits and interests payable of Finance Company, a subsidiary of the Company, which are absorbed
from the associates including Manufacturing Company, New Songjiang Manufacturing, Suqian Company, Yangzhou
Company, Pengcheng Company, Xuzhou Company and Yantai Asahi.

1,948,497,991
648,667,909
600,398,710
140,129,568
138,921,466
84,107,852
53,494,182
51,706,889
30,112,147
20,000,000
11,727,176
333,534,514

1,838,126,307
850,600,819
770,944,679
117,227,075
122,058,687
37,190,491
52,915,645
48,623,816
35,344,769
125,000,000
11,334,634
289,945,128

4,061,298,404

4,299,312,050

(ii) As at 31 December 2014, the Company had the equity investment payables to Lulansa and Hebei Jiahe Company
of 120,000,000 and 5,000,000 respectively. In the current year, the Company has paid 10,000,000 and 5,000,000

respectively according to the agreement with the acquirees.
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4  Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

(27) Other payables (continued)

As at 31 December 2015, other payables over 1 year with carrying amount of 475,844,128 (31 December 2014: 555,132,800)
are mainly liabilities due to acquisition of subsidiaries, payables to vendors of construction, machinery and equipment, and

investment payable.

(28) Current portion of non-current liabilities

31 December 2015

31 December 2014

Current portion of long-term borrowings (Note 4(29))

(29) Long-term borrowings

856,189

1,561,421

Currency 31 December 2015 31 December 2014

Guaranteed (7) EUR 490,368 1,725,811
Guaranteed (ii) DKK 2,077,621 2,620,341
2,567,989 4,346,152

Less: Current portion of guaranteed borrowing

Guaranteed (1) EUR (490,368) (1,168,580)
Guaranteed (ii) DKK (365,821) (392,841)
(856,189) (1,561,421)

1,711,800 2,784,731

(i) Bank guaranteed borrowing of RMB490,368 (Original foreign currency: EUR69,113) (31 December 2014:
RMBI1,725,811 (Original foreign currency: EUR231,479)) guaranteed by the Bank of China Beijing Branch. The
principal amount shall be repaid annually based on the matching principal method, with the last repayment falling due

on 31 December 2016.

(i) Bank guaranteed borrowing of RMB2,077,621 (Original foreign currency: DKK2,184,670) (31 December 2014:
RMB2,620,341 (Original foreign currency: DKK2,587,991)) is guaranteed by Beijing Development and Reform
Commission. The principal amount shall be repaid twice annually based on the matching principal method, with the

last repayment falling due on 1 April 2021. The amount due within one year amounted to 365,821 (31 December 2014:

RMB392,841).

As at 31 December 2015 and 2014, the long-term borrowings are interest-free borrowings.

(30) Payables for specific projects

Payables for specific projects mainly represent the relocation compensation received by subsidiaries from the government. As

the relocation has not yet been completed, the amount was temporarily accounted for as “payables for specific projects” in

accordance with the requirements under No. 3 Interpretation of Accounting Standards for Business Enterprises issued by the

Ministry of Finance.
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(1)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

Deferred income

31 December
2014

Increase in the
current year

Decrease in the
current year

31 December
2015

Reason

Government grants

1,511,117,533

370,535,039

(225,000,443)

1,656,652,129

Grants for relocation

and technology

improvement projects

Charged to
31 December Additions in ~ non-operating 31 December Related to

Government grants items 2014 the current year income 2015 assets/income
Relocation projects
Tengzhou Company relocation project 206,469,962 — (11,846,071) 194,623,891 Assets
Wuwei Company relocation project 190,898,228 1,620,258 (11,855,694) 180,662,792 Assets
Rizhao Company relocation project 180,781,256 — (10,998,392) 169,782,864 Assets
Zhuhai Company relocation project 176,158,454 — (12,683,361) 163,475,093 Assets
Gansu nongken Company relocation

project 107,488,598 100,694,816 (49,018,730) 159,164,684 Assets/Income
Fuzhou Company relocation project 149,179,366 — (12,556,567) 136,622,799 Assets
Hansi Baoji relocation project 66,559,092 64,000,502 (11,573,359) 118,986,235 Assets/Income
Weinan Company relocation project 25,902,583 85,077,342 (1,856,074) 109,123,851 Assets/Income
Harbin Company relocation project 103,260,559 — (7,795,273) 95,465,286 Assets/Income
Suizhou Company relocation project — 47,125,540 (1,141,673) 45,983,867 Assets/Income
Langfang Company relocation project 47,164,007 473 (1,472,155) 45,692,325 Assets
Xingkaihu Company relocation project 41,255,903 2,980,547 (3,843,679) 40,392,771 Assets/Income
Heze Company relocation project 58,766,821 9,560,000 (34,764,170) 33,562,651 Assets/Income
No. 3 Factory relocation project 27,505,389 — (3,780,709) 23,724,680 Assets
Malt Factory relocation project 7,872,908 35,782,908 (37,355,815) 6,300,001 Assets/Income
Technology improvement projects
Technology improvement projects

of Luzhou Company 12,608,314 — (1,088,381) 11,519,933 Assets
Production line improvement project

of Shijiazhuang Company 14,086,389 — (3,537,273) 10,549,116 Assets
Other projects 95,159,704 23,692,653 (7,833,067) 111,019,290

1,511,117,533 370,535,039 (225,000,443)  1,656,652,129
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4  Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

(32) Long-term employee benefits payable

31 December 2015 31 December 2014

Early retirement benefits (a) 391,090,281 374,294,592
Supplemental retirement benefits (b) 260,317,941 228,356,138
651,408,222 602,650,730
Less: Payable within one year (note 4(25)) (113,682,257) (111,499,754)
537,725,965 491,150,976

(a) Early retirement benefits

Some employees of the Group have retired early because of factory relocation. As at the balance sheet date, the
significant actuarial assumptions used in estimating the early retirement benefits payable by the Group are as follows:

31 December 2015 31 December 2014

Discount rate (yield-to-maturity of the fixed interest rate
government bond with the same term) 2.30%-3.51% 3.26%-4.10%

Early retirement benefits charged to profit or loss for the current period:

2015 2014
General and administrative expenses 111,946,056 71,235,614
Finance expenses 13,753,955 16,773,316

(b) Supplemental retirement benefits
Supplemental retirement benefits are provided to those retired employees who met certain criteria and the benefit
plan was approved by the Board’s meeting. The benefits they can receive depend on their positions and seniorities at
the time of retirement. Such defined benefit obligations were calculated by the external independent actuary, Towers

Watson & Co., using the projected unit credit method.

(1)  Supplemental retirement benefits obligations of the Group:

31 December 2015 31 December 2014

Defined benefit obligations 260,317,941 228,356,138
Less: fair value of plan assets = —

Defined benefit liabilities 260,317,941 228,356,138




250

& MW R A R A " TSINGTAO BREWERY CO., LTD.

Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2015
(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated)

4  Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

(32) Long-term employee benefits payable (continued)

(b)  Supplemental retirement benefits (continued)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

The movements in supplemental retirement benefits of the Group are as follows:

Present value of
the defined benefit

obligation

As at 1 January 2015 228,356,138
Amount charged to profit or loss in the current period

— Service cost 20,566,000

— Interest expense on the net defined benefit obligations 8,279,000
Re-measurement amount

— Actuarial loss (Note 4(35)) 18,513,000
Payment from the plan (15,396,197)
As at 31 December 2015 260,317,941

The significant actuarial assumptions for the present value of the defined benefit obligations of the Group are as

follows:

31 December 2015 31 December 2014

Discount rate 3.00% 3.75%

Mortality refers to China Life Insurance Mortality Table (2000-2003).

The sensitivity of the significant actuarial assumptions for the present value of defined benefit obligations is
analysed as follow:

Impact on defined
benefit obligation

Change in Increase in Decrease in

assumption assumption assumption

Decrease by Increase by

Discount rate 0.25% 2.72% 2.85%

The sensitivity analyses above are based on a change in an assumption while holding all other assumptions
constant. In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated. When
calculating the sensitivity analyses present value of the defined benefit obligation, the same method, projected
unit credit method, has been applied as well.
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4  Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
(32) Long-term employee benefits payable (continued)

(b)  Supplemental retirement benefits (continued)

(v) The group has not invested in any plan assets, and no separate trustee-administered assets to reimburse the

payment of the defined benefit obligation of the Group (31 December 2014: nil).

(vi) The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligations is 11.1 years (31 December 2014: 10.6 years).

(vii) Supplemental retirement benefits caused many risks to the Group, and the primary risk is the fluctuation of the
interest rates of government bonds. Decreasing in interest rates of government bonds results in increasing in the

defined benefit obligation.

(viii) The expected maturity of undiscounted defined benefit obligations is analysed as below:

Within More than
1 year 1 to 5 years 5 years Total
Supplemental retirement benefits 15,211,459 64,135,140 299,189,151 378,535,750

(33) Share capital

31 December

Movements in

31 December

2014  the current year 2015

RMB-denominated ordinary shares 695,913,617 — 695,913,617
Foreign shares listed overseas 655,069,178 — 655,069,178
1,350,982,795 — 1,350,982,795

31 December
2013

Movements in
the current year

31 December
2014

RMB-denominated ordinary shares 695,913,617

Foreign shares listed overseas 655,069,178

695,913,617
655,069,178

1,350,982,795

1,350,982,795
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4  Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

(34) Capital surplus

31 December

Increase in the

Decrease in the

31 December

Share premium (7)
Other capital surplus —

Share of changes in equity other than
comprehensive income and profit
distribution of investees accounted for
using the equity method

Transfer from capital surplus recognised
under the previous accounting system

Others

2014 current year current year 2015
3,992,428,160 59,485 (4,930,584) 3,987,557,061
86,970,991 550,827 — 87,521,818
(10,756,997) 550,827 — (10,206,170)
93,338,214 — — 93,338,214
4,389,774 — — 4,389,774
4,079,399,151 610,312 (4,930,584) 4,075,078,879

31 December
2013

Increase in the

current year

Decrease in the

current year

31 December
2014

Share premium
Other capital surplus —

Share of changes of equity other than
comprehensive income and profits
distribution of investees accounted for
using the equity method

Transfer from capital surplus recognised

3,992,428,160
86,970,991

3,992,428,160
86.970,991

(10,756,997)

(10,756,997)

under the previous accounting system 93,338,214 — — 93,338,214
Others 4,389,774 — — 4,389,774
4,079,399,151 — — 4,079,399,151

(i)  According to the resolution at the fourth meeting of the eighth session Board of Directors, the Company purchased

34% non-controlling interests of a subsidiary of the Company, Tsingtao Brewery (Hanzhong) Co., Ltd. (“Hanzhong
Company”), with cash consideration of 26,297,900. Equity transfer procedures have been completed in February 2015.
The difference of 4,930,584 between the increased cost of long-term equity investments as a result of the acquisition
of non-controlling interests and the share of net assets of the subsidiary calculated continuously from the date of the
acquisition or merger based on the new shareholding proportion has been adjusted against the capital surplus. As of 31
December 2015, the consideration has been fully paid.

Hanzhong Company, purchased 34% non-controlling interests of its subsidiary, Hansheng Commerce Co., Ltd., with
cash consideration of 210,000. Equity transfer procedures have been completed in March 2015. The difference of
59,485 between the increased cost of long-term equity investments as a result of the acquisition of non-controlling
interests and the share of net assets of the subsidiary calculated continuously from the date of the acquisition or
merger based on the new shareholding proportion has been recognised as capital surplus. As of 31 December 2015, the
consideration has been fully paid.
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4  Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
(35) Other comprehensive income

Other comprehensive income in the balance sheet

Other comprehensive income in the income statement of 2015

Less: Transfer

out from which
were recognised Attributable
Attributable to in other Attributable to to the
shareholders of The pre-tax  comprehensive shareholders of  non-controlling
31 December the Company, 31 December ~ amountin the ~ income in the Less: Income  the Company, interests,
2014 net of tax 2015 current year previous periods tax expense net of tax net of tax
Items that will not be subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss
Changes arising from re-measurement
of defined benefit plan liabilities
(Note 4(32)(b)(it)) (14,767,000) (18,513,000) (33,280,000) (18,513,000) - - (18,513,000) —
Items that will be subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss
Currency translation differences 25,572,023 (11,776,550) 13,795,473 (11,776,550) - - (11,776,550) —
Shares of other comprehensive
income of investees accounted for
using the equity method that will
be subsequently reclassified to
profit or loss (764,679) (76,953) (841,632) (76,953) - - (76,953) —
10,040,344 (30,366,503) (20,326,159) (30,366,503) - - (30,366,503) -
Other comprehensive income in the balance sheet Other comprehensive income in the income statement of 2014
Less: Transfer
out from which
were recognised Attributable
Attributable to in other Attributable to to the non-
shareholders of The pre-tax ~ comprehensive shareholders of controlling
31 December ~ the Company, 31 December amount in the income in the Less: [ncome ~ the Company, interests,
2013 net of tax 2014 current year  previous periods tax expense net of tax net of tax
Items that will not be subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss
Changes arising from re-measurement
of defined benefit plan liabilities - (14,767,000) (14,767,000) (14,767,000) - - (14,767,000) —
Items that will be subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss
Currency translation differences 25,798,505 (226,482) 25,572,023 (226,482) — — (226,482) —
Shares of other comprehensive
income of investees accounted for
using the equity method that will
be subsequently reclassified to
profit or loss (605,516) (159,163) (764,679) (159,163) — — (159,163) —
25,192,989 (15,152,645) 10,040,344 (15,152,645) — — (15,152,645) —
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4

(36)

(37

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

Surplus reserve

31 December Appropriation in Decrease in the 31 December

2014  the current year current year 2015

Statutory surplus reserve 1,216,339,469 184,364,911 — 1,400,704,380
31 December Appropriation in Decrease in the 31 December

2013 the current year current year 2014

Statutory surplus reserve 1,059,469,127 156,870,342 — 1,216,339,469

In accordance with the Company Law and the Company’s Articles of Association, the Company should appropriate 10% of
net profit for the year to the statutory surplus reserve, and the Company can cease appropriation when the statutory surplus
reserve accumulated to more than 50% of the registered capital. The statutory surplus reserve can be used to make up for the
loss or increase the share capital after approval from the appropriate authorities. According to the resolution of the Board of
Directors, the Company appropriated of 184,364,911 (10% of net profit) as statutory surplus reserve for the year ended 31
December 2015 (2014: appropriated of 156,870,342 (10% of net profit)).

General reserve

31 December Appropriation in Decrease in the 31 December

2014  the current year current year 2015

General reserve 66,981,927 39,043,491 — 106,025,418
31 December Appropriation in Decrease in the 31 December

2013  the current year current year 2014

General reserve 80,642,253 — (13,660,326) 66,981,927

Pursuant to Caijin [2012] No. 20 “Requirements on Impairment Allowance for Financial Institutions” issued by the Ministry
of Finance, Finance Company, a subsidiary of the Company, appropriated general reserve of 39,043,491 according to 1.3%
of the ending balance of the risk assets at 31 December 2015 based on its risk consideration (2014: reversal of 13,660,326
according to 1.2% of the ending balance of the risk assets).
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(38)

(39)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

Undistributed profits
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2015

2014

Undistributed profits at beginning of year
Add: Net profit attributable to shareholders of the Company in the current year
Less: Appropriation to statutory surplus reserve

Appropriation to general reserve

Ordinary shares dividends payable

8,663,818,498
1,713,128,882
(184,364,911)
(39,043,491)
(607,942,258)

7,424,872,728
1,990,098,044

(156,870,342)
13,660,326

(607,942,258)

Undistributed profits at end of year

9,545,596,720

8,663,818,498

In accordance with the resolution at the annual general meeting dated 16 June 2015, the Company approved a cash dividend

of RMB607,942,258 (RMBO0.45 per share (pre-tax)) based on a total number of 1,350,982,795 shares.

In accordance with the resolution at the meeting of the Board dated 28 March 2016, the Board proposed a cash dividend of
RMB526,883,290 (RMBO0.39 per share (pre-tax)) based on a total number of 1,350,982,795 shares. Such dividend distribution

is subject to the approval at the forthcoming annual general meeting (Note 11(1)).

Revenue and cost of sales

2015

2014

Revenue from main operation (a)
Revenue from other operations (b)

27,208,444,414
426,241,626

28,599,262,109
450,059,057

27,634,686,040

29,049,321,166

2015 2014

Cost of main operation (a) (16,923,832,300) (17,629,562,829)
Cost of other operations (b) (268,269,395) (269,728,446)
(17,192,101,695) (17,899,291,275)
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4  Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

(39) Revenue and cost of sales (continued)

(a)

(®)

Revenue and cost of main operation

2015

2014

Cost of main
operation

Revenue from
main operation

Revenue from
main operation

Cost of main
operation

Sales of beer

Revenue and cost of other operations

27,208,444,414  (16,923,832,300)

28,599,262,109

(17,629,562,829)

2015

2014

Cost of other
operations

Revenue from
other operations

Revenue from
other operations

Cost of other
operations

2,030,394,346

2,182,624,248

Sale of packaging materials 94,620,023 (40,579,508) 144,441,949 (53,401,328)
Sale of raw materials 68,466,438 (67,281,933) 101,709,818 (93,144,380)
Construction and equipment
installations 60,376,960 (53,781,031) 11,283,243 (6,211,435)
Transportation services 35,439,554 (32,757,342) 37,732,133 (40,340,736)
Others 167,338,651 (73,869,581) 154,891,914 (76,630,567)
426,241,626 (268,269,395) 450,059,057 (269,728,446)
(40) Taxes and surcharges

2015 2014 Tax base
Consumption tax 1,612,404,507 1,740,571,213 Note 3
City maintenance and construction tax 234,423,796 250,143,051 Note 3
Education surcharges 176,805,013 187,824,159 Note 3
Business tax 6,651,033 4,057,217 Note 3

Others 109,997 28,608
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(41) Expenses by nature

(42)

The cost of sales, selling and distribution expenses and general and administrative expenses classified by nature are as

follows:

— % — I F F H ANNUAL REPORT 2015

2015

2014

Raw materials and consumables used
Employee benefits expenses

Finished goods purchased from outside
Promotion related expenses

Handling and transportation expenses
Depreciation and amortisation charges
Advertising related expenses

Repair expenses

Administrative, business travel and business entertainment expenses

Service charges

Tax expenses

Operating lease payments

Amortisation expenses of packaging materials

Changes in inventories of finished goods and work in progress
Auditors’ remuneration — audit services

Other expenses

Cost of sales, selling and distribution expenses, and general and
administrative expenses in total

Finance expenses — net

10,695,849,751
4,180,557,669
3,349,368,312
1,665,754,246
1,397,436,781
965,348,209
644,707,221
371,475,184
306,160,636
171,156,163
169,169,138
127,208,736
104,749,429
76,507,317
8,580,000
275,047,667

11,412,545,296
3,856,159,087
3,534,242,388
1,383,919,300
1,423,041,676
933,125,037
761,275,636
326,287,876
345,143,084
171,021,450
163,968,757
123,518,824
135,731,996
52,231,071
8,580,000
313,778,676

24,509,076,459

24,944,570,154

2015 2014
Interest expense 8,983,686 30,912,464
Less: Interest income (336,573,133) (407,754,133)
Exchange (gains)/losses (1,132,310) 8,381,492
Unwinding the discounted long-term employee benefits payable 22,032,955 25,269,316
Others 7,091,281 8,537,871

(299,597,521)

(334,652,990)
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4  Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

(43) Investment income

2015 2014
(Losses)/Profits from long-term equity investments accounted for

using the equity method (4,562,375) 23,840,743
Gain from disposal of a subsidiary (Note 5(1)) 444,819,948 —
Income from available-for-sale financial assets (Note 4(9)(a)) 153,492 65,522
Losses from disposal of available-for-sale financial assets — (999,999)
Income from wealth management products of Finance Company 21,615,918 —
Income from government bonds reverse repo agreements of Finance Company 85,833 126,807
Others 299,998 926,436
462,412,814 23,959,509

There is no significant restriction on transferring funds in the form of investment income.

(44) Asset impairment losses
2015 2014
Reversals of bad debts (567,133) (4,855,132)
Reversals of decline in the values of inventories (510,882) (380,100)
Impairment losses of fixed assets 3,140,390 1,721,452
2,062,375 (3,513,780)
(45) Non-operating income

2015 2014
Government grants (a) 511,057,423 448,000,648
Gains on disposal of non-current assets 29,048,431 3,216,362
Including: Gains on disposal of fixed assets 29,048,431 3,216,362
Gains on unpaid debts 6,313,169 2,702,597
Penalty gains 1,150,588 1,894,506
Others 11,247,880 13,602,755
558,817,491 469,416,868

For the year ended 31 December 2015, all non-operating income has been regard as non-recurring profit or loss in the current

year.
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4  Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
(45) Non-operating income (continued)

(a)  Details of government grants

Related to
2015 2014 Note assets/income
Funds for enterprises
development and Enterprises development and
projects supporting 224,959,994 211,119,654 projects supporting Assets/Income
Relocation Relocation compensations for
compensations 212,541,722 160,855,912 manufacturing factories Assets/Income
Returns of certain portion of
Tax refund 15,338,736 22,596,250 tax paid Income
Others 58,216,971 53,428,832 Income
511,057,423 448,000,648
(46) Non-operating expenses
2015 2014
Losses on disposal of non-current assets 130,560,143 62,932,536
Including: Losses on disposal of fixed assets 94,980,905 54,059,202
Losses on disposal of intangible assets 35,579,238 8,873,334
Compensations, defaults and overdue fines 1,311,162 1,510,442
Penalty losses 1,191,933 695,628
Donations 858,051 320,000
Others 5,236,995 5,212,483
139,158,284 70,671,089

For the year ended 31 December 2015, non-operating expenses have been regard as non-recurring profit or loss in the current

year.

(47) Income tax expense

2015 2014
Current income tax calculated according to tax law and related regulations
in mainland China — China enterprise income tax 733,633,312 697,182,794
Current profits tax calculated according to tax law and related regulations
in Hong Kong — Hong Kong profits tax 3,018,132 3,206,612
Current profits supplemental tax calculated according to tax law and related
regulations in Macau — Macau profits supplemental tax 1,099,448 1,244,888
Deferred income tax (74,972,004) (38,167,539)

662,778,888

663,466,755
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4  Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
(47) Income tax expense (continued)

The reconciliation from income tax calculated based on the applicable tax rates and total profit presented in the consolidated
financial statements to the income tax expense is as follows:

2015 2014
Total profit 2,274,822,402 2,682,998,822
Income tax expense calculated at applicable tax rates 566,309,444 669,132,514
Tax impact of equivalent sales and costs, expenses and losses not deductible
for tax purpose 4,218,971 35,978,053
Income not subject to tax (13,549,529) (25,049,146)
Utilisation of previously unrecognised deferred tax assets (53,594,226) (157,257,260)
Deductible temporary differences for which no deferred tax assets were
recognised 43,324,129 28,245,659
Deductible tax losses for which no deferred tax assets were recognised 116,070,099 112,416,935
Income tax expense 662,778,888 663,466,755

(48) Earnings per share

(a) Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing consolidated net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of the
Company by the weighted average numbers of ordinary shares outstanding:

2015 2014
Consolidated net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders
of the Company 1,713,128,882 1,990,098,044
Weighted average numbers of ordinary shares outstanding 1,350,982,795 1,350,982,795
Basic earnings per share 1.268 1.473
Including:
— Basic earnings per share relating to continuing operations 1.268 1.473

(b)  Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company
adjusted based on the dilutive potential ordinary share by the adjusted weighted average numbers of ordinary shares
outstanding. As there were no dilutive potential ordinary shares in 2015 (2014: nil), diluted earnings per share equals to
basic earnings per share.
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4  Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

(49) Notes to consolidated cash flow statement

(a)

(b)

(©)

(d)

Cash received relating to other operating activities
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2015 2014

Deposits 334,184,303 604,806,260

Government grants 272,863,019 262,853,849
Sales of raw materials, sales of packaging materials and disposal of

scraps 250,665,383 248,872,052

Others 266,868,930 229,303,629

Cash paid relating to other operating activities

1,124,581,635

1,345,835,790

2015

2014

Handling and transportation expenses
Marketing and promotion expenses
Advertising expenses

Administrative expenses

Deposits

Others

Cash received relating to other investing activities

1,524,484,852
703,864,523
648,500,751
337,407,997
283,477,241
429,453,244

1,608,371,799
896,257,023
794,351,968
339,064,413
362,456,995
395,525,197

3,927,188,608

4,396,027,395

2015 2014
Interest income of Finance Company’s deposits 343,125,632 418,558,601
Deposit reserves collected by Finance Company 305,290,000 298,590,000
Government compensations for relocation and expansion projects 292,535,223 273,874,382
Biding deposits collected 23,633,112 35,434,984

Cash paid relating to other investing activities

964,583,967

1,026,457,967

2015

2014

Biding deposits paid

23,941,227

36,649,251
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4  Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)
(49) Notes to consolidated cash flow statement (continued)

(e)  Cash received relating to other financing activities

2015 2014
Guarantee deposits for loan collected (Note 4(21)(iv)) 291,000,000 —
Interest of the guarantee deposits for loan received 13,095,000 —
304,095,000 —
(f)  Cash paid relating to other financing activities
2015 2014
Guarantee deposits for loan paid — 291,000,000
Others 1,058,358 796,055
1,058,358 291,796,055
(g) Cash received from disposal of investment
2015 2014
The principal of wealth management products collected when matured 900,000,000 —
(h)  Cash paid to acquire investments
2015 2014
Payment for wealth management products purchasing 880,000,000 20,000,000
Structured deposit (Note 4(1)(iii)) 300,000,000 —
Payment for purchasing non-controlling interests of subsidiaries
(Note 4(34)) 26,507,900 —
Payment for acquiring equity interests of Hebei Jiahe Company
(Note 4(27)) 5,000,000 226,469,400
1,211,507,900 246,469,400
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(50) Supplementary information to consolidated cash flow statements
(a) Supplementary information to consolidated cash flow statements

Reconciliation from net profit to cash flows from operating activities:
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2015 2014
Net profit 1,612,043,514 2,019,532,067
Add: Provision for asset impairment 2,062,375 (3,513,780)
Depreciation of fixed assets and investment properties 746,208,711 730,774,600
Amortisation of intangible assets 204,182,200 191,582,989
Amortisation of long-term prepaid expenses 14,957,298 10,767,448
Losses on disposal of fixed assets and intangible assets 101,511,712 59,716,174
Finance expenses (304,983,006) (364,517,853)
Investment income (462,412,814) (23,959,509)
Increase in deferred tax assets (50,372,645) (18,623,885)
Amortisation of deferred income (219,770,962) (210,192,726)
Decrease in deferred tax liabilities (24,599,359) (19,543,654)
Decrease in inventories 293,405,212 72,042,838
Decrease/(Increase) in operating receivables 149,806,072 (286,151,145)
Increase/(Decrease) in operating payables 512,527,452 (467,279,223)
Net cash flows from operating activities 2,574,565,760 1,690,634,341
Net increase in cash
2015 2014
Cash at end of year 7,575,374,183 5,266,389,764
Less: Cash at beginning of year (5,266,389,764) (7,394,904,648)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash 2,308,984,419 (2,128,514,884)
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4  Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

(50) Supplementary information to consolidated cash flow statements (continued)

(b)  Acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries

@

(i)

Acquisition of subsidiaries

2015 2014

Cash paid for merger and acquisition in the current year — 197,474,000
Including: Lulansa Brewery — 197,374,000
Equipment Manufacture — 100,000

Less: Cash held by subsidiaries on acquisition date — (22,202,877)
Including: Lulansa Brewery — (3,004,985)

Equipment Manufacture
Plus: Cash paid in the current year for merger and acquisition in
the prior year
Including: Lulansa Brewery

Net cash outflows on acquisition of subsidiaries

The consideration for acquisition of subsidiaries in the prior year

Lulansa Brewery
Equipment Manufacture

Disposal of a subsidiary

100,000,000
100,000,000

(19,197,892)

100,000,000 175,271,123
317,374,000

100,000

317,474,000

2015 2014

Cash received from disposal of a subsidiary Hongjiweiye in the
current year (Note5(1)(b))
Less: Cash held by the subsidiary on the date of losing right of
control

Net cash outflows on disposal of the subsidiary

Consideration for disposal in 2015

461,290,000

(1,306,942)

459,983,058

461,290,000
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4  Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

(50) Supplementary information to consolidated cash flow statements (continued)

(b)  Acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries (continued)

(ii) Disposal of a subsidiary — Hongjiweiye (continued)

Net assets of the subsidiary disposed

2015 2014

Current assets 1,306,942 —
Non-current assets 15,641,981 —
Current liabilities (478,871) —
16,470,052 _

(¢c) Cash and cash equivalents

31 December 2015

31 December 2014

Cash (Note4(1))

7,575,374,183

5,266,389,764

Including: Cash on hand
Cash at bank that can be readily drawn on demand

424,497
7,574,949,686

431,550
5,265,958,214

Cash at end of year

7,575,374,183

5,266,389,764
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4  Notes to the consolidated financial statements (continued)

(51) Foreign currency items

31 December 2015

Balance Currency
in foreign exchange Balance in
currency rate RMB
Cash at bank and cash on hand —
HKD 72,383,244 0.8378 60,642,682
USD 7,428,181 6.4936 48,235,636
MOP 23,724,245 0.8134 19,297,301
EUR 2,575,530 7.0952 18,273,900
146,449,519
Accounts receivable —
HKD 45,126,456 0.8378 37,806,945
USD 4,408,262 6.4936 28,625,490
EUR 1,761,592 7.0952 12,498,848
MOP 8,166,078 0.8134 6,642,288
CAD 266,114 4.6814 1,245,786
86,819,357
Other receivables —
HKD 1,569,194 0.8378 1,314,671
Short-term borrowings —
HKD 360,399,465 0.8378 301,942,672
Other payables —
HKD 8,414,155 0.8378 7,049,379
USD 444,164 6.4936 2,884,223
MOP 139,706 0.8134 113,637
10,047,239
Current portion of non-current liabilities —
EUR 69,113 7.0952 490,368
DKK 384,670 0.9510 365,821
856,189
Long-term borrowings —
DKK 1,800,000 0.9510 1,711,800
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5 Changes in consolidation scope
(1) Disposal of subsidiaries

(a) The summarised information related to the disposed subsidiaries in the current year is as follows:

The difference

between the

consideration
and the share The amount
of themet transfer from
assets of the the other
subsidiary  comprehensive

Share in the income of
Consideration of equity consolidation investing in
received from interest Method of The date Reason for financial the original
Company name the disposal disposed disposal of losing control  losing control statement subsidiaries
Hongjiweiye 461,290,000 100% (i) 25 December 2015 Completion 444,819,948 -
of property
settlement
procedure

(i)  According to the resolution at the seventh meeting of the eighth session Board of Directors, the Company
disposed 100% equity interest of Hongjiweiye, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, by publicly listed
auction at Qingdao Property Exchange. The Company has entered into the equity interest transfer agreement
with Shouguang Chenming Holding Co., Ltd. on 10 December 2015, with the consideration of 461,290,000. On
25 December 2015, the consideration has been fully collected and the procedures of alteration registration have
been completed. In relation to the disposal of 100% equity interest in Hongjiweiye, the Group recognised the
investment income of 444,819,948 (Note 4(43)).

(b)  The information of disposal gain and loss is as follows:

Amount
Consideration received from the disposal of Hongjiweiye 461,290,000
Less: the share of the net assets of Hongjiweiye in the consolidation financial statement (16,470,052)

444,819,948
Other comprehensive income transferred to profit or loss —

Investment income from disposal 444,819,948

(2) Other reasons for the changes of consolidated scoping

The Company has completed deregistration process of Taierzhuang Malt at 25 September 2015. The net liabilities of the
Taierzhuang Malt was 17,139,767 at the date of deregistration.

The Company has completed deregistration process of Qingpi Baotuquan at 22 December 2015. The net assets of Qingpi
Baotuquan was 69,617,874 at the date of deregistration.
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6 Interests in other entities
(1) Interests in subsidiaries

(a) The structure of the Group

Share proportion
Kind of Place of Place of Principal

Name legal entity operation incorporation activities Directly  Indirectly  Acquisition method
Shenzhen Tsingtao Brewery Huanan

Holding Co., Ltd. (“Huanan Limited liability Establishment or

Holding Company”) company Shenzhen, the PRC  Shenzhen, the PRC  Financing 100% = investment
Tsingtao Brewery (Zhuhai) Co., Ltd. ~ Limited liability Establishment or

(“Zhuhai Company”) company Zhuhai, the PRC Zhuhai, the PRC Manufacturing — 100% investment
Tsingtao Brewery (Huangshi) Co.,  Limited liability Establishment or

Ltd.(“Huangshi Company”) company Huangshi, the PRC ~ Huangshi, the PRC ~ Manufacturing 97.18% 2.82% investment
Tsingtao Brewery (Yingcheng) Co.,  Limited liability Establishment or

Ltd.(“Yingcheng Company”) company Yingcheng, the PRC ~ Yingcheng, the PRC ~ Manufacturing 89.91% 10.09% investment
Shenzhen Huanan Tsingtao Brewery

Sales Co., Ltd. (“Huanan Sales ~ Limited liability Wholesale and Establishment or

Company”) company Guangdong, the PRC  Shenzhen, the PRC retail sale 100% — investment
Tsingtao Brewery (Changsha) Co.,  Limited liability Establishment or

Ltd. (“Changsha Company”) company Changsha, the PRC  Changsha, the PRC  Manufacturing 70% 30% investment
Shanghai Tsingtao Brewery Huadong

(Holding) Co., Ltd. (“Huadong ~ Limited liability Establishment or

Holding Company”) company Shanghai, the PRC  Shanghai, the PRC  Finance 100% — investment
Tsingtao Brewery Huadong Shanghai

Sales Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai Sales  Limited liability Wholesale and Establishment or

Company”) company Shanghai, the PRC
Nanjing Tsingtao Brewery Huadong
Sales Co., Ltd. (“Nanjing Sales ~ Limited liability

Company”) (ii) company Jiangsu, the PRC
Tsingtao Brewery (Wuhu) Co., Ltd.  Limited liability

(“Wuhu Company”) company Wuhu, the PRC
Tsingtao Brewery (Maanshan) Co.,  Limited liability

Ltd. (“Maanshan Company”) company Maanshan, the PRC
Tsingtao Brewery (Shouguang) Co.,  Limited liability

Ltd. (“Shouguang Company”) company Shouguang, the PRC
Tsingtao Brewery (Weifang) Co., Limited liability

Ltd. (“Weifang Company”) company Weifang, the PRC

Tsingtao Brewery (Xuzhou) Huaihai
Sales Co., Ltd. (“Huaihai Sales ~ Limited liability

Company”) (ii) company Jiangsu, the PRC
Tsingtao Brewery (Xuecheng) Co.,  Limited liability

Ltd. (“Xuecheng Company”) company Xuecheng, the PRC
Tsingtao Brewery (Tengzhou) Co.,  Limited liability

Ltd. (“Tengzhou Company”) company Tengzhou, the PRC
Tsingtao Brewery (Heze) Co., Ltd. ~ Limited liability

(“Heze Company”) company Heze, the PRC

Limited liability

Langfang Company company Langfang, the PRC

Tsingtao Brewery Xi’an Han's Group ~ Limited liability

Co., Ltd. (“Xi’an Company”) company Shanxi, the PRC
Tsingtao Brewery Hansi Baoji Co.,  Limited liability

Ltd. (“Hansi Baoji”) company Baoji, the PRC
Tsingtao Brewery (Anshan) Co., Ltd. ~ Limited liability

(“Anshan Company”) company Anshan, the PRC

Shanghai, the PRC

Nanjing, the PRC
Wuhu, the PRC
Maanshan, the PRC
Shouguang, the PRC

Weifang, the PRC

Xuzhou, the PRC
Xuecheng, the PRC
Tengzhou, the PRC
Heze, the PRC

Langfang, the PRC

Xi’an, the PRC
Baoji, the PRC

Anshan, the PRC

retail sale 97.01% 2.99%

Wholesale and
retail sale — 50%

Manufacturing 89.04% 10.96%
Manufacturing 94.12% 5.58%
Manufacturing 99% —
Manufacturing 100% =

Wholesale and

retail sale = 50%
Manufacturing = 85%
Manufacturing 76.65% 23.35%
Manufacturing 93.08% 6.92%
Manufacturing ~ 80.80% 19.20%
Manufacturing

and

Wholesale

and retail sale ~ 100% —
Manufacturing = 100%

Manufacturing 60% —

investment

Establishment or
investment
Establishment or
investment
Establishment or
investment
Establishment or
investment
Establishment or
investment

Establishment or
investment
Establishment or
investment
Establishment or
investment
Establishment or
investment
Establishment or
investment

Establishment or
investment

Establishment or
investment

Establishment or
investment



— % — I F F H ANNUAL REPORT 2015

Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2015
(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated)

6 Interests in other entities (continued)
(1) Interests in subsidiaries (continued)

(a) The structure of the Group (continued)

Share proportion
Kind of Place of Place of Principal
Name legal entity operation incorporation activities Directly  Indirectly ~ Acquisition method
Tsingtao Brewery (Xingkaihu) Co.,  Limited liability Establishment or
Ltd. (“Xingkaihu Company”) company Jixi, the PRC Jixi, the PRC Manufacturing 100% = investment
Tsingtao Brewery (Mishan) Co., Ltd.  Limited liability Establishment or
(“Mishan Company”) company Mishan, the PRC Mishan, the PRC Manufacturing 100% = investment
Tsingtao Brewery (Harbin) Co., Ltd. ~ Limited liability Establishment or
(“Harbin Company”) company Harbin, the PRC Harbin, the PRC Manufacturing 100% — investment
Tsingtao Brewery Import/Export Co., Limited liability Wholesale and Establishment or
Ltd. (“Import/Export Company”) company Qingdao, the PRC  Qingdao, the PRC retail sale 100% = investment
Tsingtao Brewery (Pingyuan) Co.,  Limited liability Establishment or
Ltd. (“Pingyuan Company”) company Pingyuan, the PRC  Pingyuan, the PRC  Manufacturing 100% = investment
Tsingtao Brewery (Rizhao) Co., Ltd. ~ Limited liability Establishment or
(“Rizhao Company”) company Rizhao, the PRC Rizhao, the PRC Manufacturing 100% — investment
Tsingtao Brewery (Luzhou) Co., Ltd. ~ Limited liability Establishment or
(“Luzhou Company”) company Luzhou, the PRC Luzhou, the PRC Manufacturing 95% = investment
Tsingtao Brewery (Taizhou) Co., Ltd. Limited liability Establishment or
(“Taizhou Company”) company Taizhou, the PRC Taizhou, the PRC Manufacturing 86.43% 13.57% investment
Limited liability Wholesale and Establishment or
Hong Kong Company company Hong Kong, the PRC  Hong Kong, the PRC  retail sale 100% — investment
Limited liability Establishment or
Hanzhong Company company Hanzhong, the PRC ~ Hanzhong, the PRC  Manufacturing 34% 66% investment
Limited liability Wholesale and Establishment or
Beifang Sales Company company Beijing, the PRC Beijing, the PRC retail sale 95% 5% investment
Qingdao Guangrunlong Logistics Co., Limited liability Establishment or
Ltd. (“Guangrunlong Logistics”) company Shandong, the PRC  Qingdao, the PRC  Logistics 100% — investment
Tsingtao Brewery (Xiamen) Co., Ltd. Limited liability Establishment or
(“Xiamen Company”) company Xiamen, the PRC Xiamen, the PRC Manufacturing = 100% investment
Xiamen Tsingtao Brewery Dongnan
Sales Co., Ltd. (“Dongnan Sales  Limited liability Wholesale and Establishment or
Company”) company Fujian, the PRC Xiamen, the PRC retail sale 100% = investment
Tsingtao Brewery (Jinan) Co., Ltd.  Limited liability Establishment or
(“Jinan Company”) company Jinan, the PRC Jinan, the PRC Manufacturing 100% = investment
Tsingtao Brewery (Chengdu) Co., Limited liability Establishment or
Ltd. (“Chengdu Company”) company Chengdu, the PRC ~ Chengdu, the PRC ~ Manufacturing 100% — investment
Tsingtao Brewery (Yulin) Co., Ltd.  Limited liability Establishment or
(“Yulin Company”) company Yulin, the PRC Yulin, the PRC Manufacturing = 100% investment
Tsingtao Brewery (Chengyang) Sales
Co., Ltd. (“Chengyang Sales Limited liability Wholesale and Establishment or
Company”) company Qingdao, the PRC  Qingdao, the PRC retail sale 100% = investment
Tsingtao Brewery Chenzhou Sales
Co., Ltd. (“Chenzhou Sales Limited liability Wholesale and Establishment or
Company”) company Chenzhou, the PRC  Chenzhou, the PRC retail sale = 100% investment
Limited liability Establishment or
Machinery and Equipment Company company Qingdao, the PRC  Qingdao, the PRC  Construction = 100% investment
Tsingtao Brewery (Shijiazhuang) Co., Limited liability Shijiazhuang, the Shijiazhuang, the Establishment or
Ltd. (“Shijiazhuang Company”) company PRC PRC Manufacturing 100% — investment
Tsingtao Brewery (Taiyuan) Co., Ltd. Limited liability Establishment or
(“Taiyuan Company”) company Taiyuan, the PRC Taiyuan, the PRC Manufacturing 100% = investment
Limited liability Establishment or
Finance Company company Qingdao, the PRC  Qingdao, the PRC  Financing 100% = investment
Tsingtao Brewery Sifang Sales Co.,  Limited liability Wholesale and Establishment or
Ltd. (“Sifang Sales Company”) company Qingdao, the PRC  Qingdao, the PRC retail sale 100% — investment
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6 Interests in other entities (continued)
(1) Interests in subsidiaries (continued)

(a) The structure of the Group (continued)

Share proportion
Kind of Place of Place of Principal
Name legal entity operation incorporation activities Directly  Indirectly ~ Acquisition method
Tsingtao Brewery (Jieyang) Co., Ltd. ~ Limited liability Establishment or
(“Jieyang Company”) company Jieyang, the PRC Jieyang, the PRC Manufacturing 5% = investment
Tsingtao Brewery (Shaoguan) Co.,  Limited liability Establishment or
Ltd. (“Shaoguan Company”) company Shaoguan, the PRC  Shaoguan, the PRC  Manufacturing 100% = investment
Tsingtao Brewery (Hainan) Co., Ltd. ~ Limited liability Establishment or
(“Hainan Company”) company Chengmai, the PRC ~ Chengmai, the PRC ~ Manufacturing 100% — investment
Tsingtao Brewery (Shibei) Sales Co., Limited liability Wholesale and Establishment or
Ltd. (“Shibei Sales Company”) company Qingdao, the PRC  Qingdao, the PRC retail sale 100% = investment
Tsingtao Brewery (Jiujiang) Co., Ltd. Limited liability Establishment or
(“Jiujiang Company”) company Jivjiang, the PRC Jivjiang, the PRC Manufacturing 90% = investment
Tsingtao Brewery (Pingdu) Sales Co., Limited liability Wholesale and Establishment or
Ltd. (“Pingdu Sales Company”) company Qingdao, the PRC  Qingdao, the PRC retail sale 100% — investment
Shanghai Tsingtao Brewery Sales
Co., Ltd. (“New Shanghai Sales”)  Limited liability Wholesale and Establishment or
(ii) company Shanghai, the PRC  Shanghai, the PRC retail sale — 50% investment
Tsingtao Brewery (Xuzhou)
Enterprise Management Service
Co., Ltd. (“Xuzhou Enterprise Limited liability Wholesale and Establishment or
Management ) company Xuzhou, the PRC Xuzhou, the PRC retail sale 100% = investment
Tsingtao Brewery (Luoyang) Co., Limited liability Establishment or
Ltd. (“Luoyang Company”) company Luoyang, the PRC  Luoyang, the PRC  Manufacturing 100% — investment
Tsingtao Brewery Suntory
(Shanghai) Sales Co., Ltd. Limited liability Wholesale and Establishment or
(“Sales Company”) (i) company Shanghai, the PRC  Shanghai, the PRC retail sale 50% — investment
Tsingtao Brewery (Zhangjiakou) Co., Limited liability Zhangjiakou, the Zhangjiakou, the Establishment or
Ltd. (“Zhangjiakou company”) company PRC PRC Manufacturing 100% = investment
Tsingtao Brewery (Sanshui) Co., Ltd.  Limited liability Business combination not
(“Sanshui Company”) company Sanshui, the PRC Sanshui, the PRC Manufacturing — 75% under common control
Tsingtao Brewery (Chenzhou) Co.,  Limited liability Business combination not
Ltd. (“Chenzhou Company”) company Chenzhou, the PRC ~ Chenzhou, the PRC  Manufacturing 88.80% 11.20% under common control
Limited liability Business combination not
Shenzhen Asahi company Shenzhen, the PRC  Shenzhen, the PRC ~ Manufacturing 51% = under common control
Nanning Tsingtao Brewery Co., Ltd.  Limited liability Business combination not
(“Nanning Company”) company Nanning, the PRC~ Nanning, the PRC~ Manufacturing = 5% under common control
Beijing Tsingtao Brewery Three
Ring Co., Ltd. (“Three Ring Limited liability Business combination not
Company”) company Beijing, the PRC Beijing, the PRC Manufacturing 29% 25% under common control
Beijing Five Star Tsingtao Brewery  Limited liability Business combination not
Co., Ltd. (“Five Star Company”) company Beijing, the PRC Beijing, the PRC Manufacturing 37.64% 25% under common control
Tsingtao Brewery (Weinan) Co., Ltd.  Limited liability Business combination not
(“Weinan Company”) company Weinan, the PRC Weinan, the PRC Manufacturing 28% 2% under common control
Tsingtao Brewery (Gansu) Nongken
Co., Ltd. (“Gansu Nongken Limited liability Business combination not
Company”) company Lanzhou, the PRC  Lanzhou, the PRC  Manufacturing = 55.06% under common control
Tsingtao Brewery (Wuwei) Company ~ Limited liability Business combination not
Co., Ltd. (“Wuwei Company”) company Wuwei, the PRC Wuwei, the PRC Manufacturing - 99.72% under common control
Tsingtao Brewery (Rongcheng) Co.,  Limited liability Business combination not
Ltd. (“Rongcheng Company”) company Rongcheng, the PRC  Rongcheng, the PRC  Manufacturing 70% — under common control
Tsingtao Brewery (Suizhou) Co., Ltd. Limited liability Business combination not
(“Suizhou Company”) company Suizhou, the PRC Suizhou, the PRC Manufacturing = 90% under common control
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6 Interests in other entities (continued)
(1) Interests in subsidiaries (continued)

(a) The structure of the Group (continued)

Share proportion
Kind of Place of Place of Principal
Name legal entity operation incorporation activities Directly  Indirectly ~ Acquisition method
Tsingtao Brewery (Fuzhou) Co., Ltd.  Limited liability Business combination not
(“Fuzhou Company”) company Fuzhou, the PRC Fuzhou, the PRC Manufacturing = 100% under common control
Tsingtao Brewery (Zhangzhou) Co.,  Limited liability Business combination not
Ltd. (“Zhangzhou Company”) company Zhangzhou, the PRC ~ Zhangzhou, the PRC ~ Manufacturing = 90% under common control
Limited liability Business combination not
Construction Company company Qingdao, the PRC ~ Qingdao, the PRC  Construction 100% — under common control
Tsingtao Brewery (Penglai) Co., Ltd. ~ Limited liability Business combination not
(“Penglai Company”) company Penglai, the PRC Penglai, the PRC Manufacturing 80% = under common control
Tsingtao Brewery Cultural
Communication Co., Ltd.
(“Cultural Communication Limited liability Business combination not
Company”) company Qingdao, the PRC  Qingdao, the PRC ~ Manufacturing 100% — under common control
Tsingtao Brewery Beverage Co., Ltd. Limited liability Business combination not
(“Beverage Company”) company Qingdao, the PRC  Qingdao, the PRC ~ Manufacturing 100% = under common control
Manufacturing,
Limited liability Wholesale Business combination not
Immense Brewery company company Shandong, the PRC ~ Mengyin , the PRC and retail sale 5% 25% under common control
Tsingtao Brewery (Hangzhou) Co.,  Limited liability Business combination not
Ltd. (“Hangzhou Company”) company Jiande, the PRC Jiande, the PRC Manufacturing 80% = under common control
Limited liability Wholesale and Business combination not
Macau Company company Macau, the PRC Macau, the PRC retail sale — 60% under common control
Limited liability Wholesale and Business combination not
Shanghai Market Service (ii) company Shanghai, the PRC  Shanghai, the PRC retail sale = 50% under common control
Limited liability LianYungang, the ~ Wholesale and Business combination not
The Prince Sales (ii) company Jiangsu, the PRC PRC retail sale = 50% under common control
Limited liability Business combination not
Lulansa Brewery company Zibo, the PRC Zibo, the PRC Manufacturing 55% — under common control
Limited liability Business combination not
Equipment Manufacture company Qingdao, the PRC  Qingdao, the PRC ~ Manufacturing = 100% under common control

(i)  The Company has 50% equity interests in Sales Company. But all operating activities decisions are made by

the Board of Directors, and only when at least half of the directors agree, the decisions could be made. There

are 9 directors in total in Sales Company, 5 directors of which are from the Company. So the voting rate of the

Company was 55.56%, and can exercise control over Sales Company. The other 4 directors are from Suntory

Company.

(i) Nanjing Sales Company, Huaihai Sales Company, New Shanghai Sales, Shanghai Market Service and The Prince

Sales, are all wholly owned subsidiaries of the Sales Company.

As at 31 December 2015, no share capital or debt securities are issued by the subsidiaries of the Company.

There are no restrictions on using the assets of the Group or settling the liabilities of the Group.
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6 Interests in other entities (continued)

(1) Interests in subsidiaries (continued)

(d)

Subsidiaries with significant non-controlling interests

Non-controlling

Total dividends

Share interests for the distributed to Non-controlling
proportion of year ended the minority interests as at
non-controlling 31 December shareholders 31 December
Name of subsidiaries interests 2015 in 2015 2015
Shenzhen Asahi 49% 50,174,534 (48,608,000) 227,849,867
Sales Company (i) 50% (203,652,670) — (801,471,442)
Summarised financial information of significant non-wholly owned subsidiaries is as follows:
As at 31 December 2015
Current Non-current Total Current Non-current Total
assets assets assets liabilities liabilities liabilities
Shenzhen Asahi 94,885,314 587,167,299 682,052,613 (210,633,354) (6,233,681) (216,867,035)
Sales Company (i) 155,230,576 71,536,633 226,767,209 (1,816,704,314) (13,005,779) (1,829,710,093)
As at 31 December 2014
Current Non-current Total Current Non-current Total
assets assets assets liabilities liabilities liabilities
Shenzhen Asahi 111,534,533 606,751,298 718,285,831 (250,048,220) (6,275,423) (256,323,643)
Sales Company (i) 135,704,411 80,215,894 215,920,305 (1,396,750,346) (14,807,503) (1,411,557,849)
Year ended 31 December 2015
Other Cash flows
Net profit/  comprehensive from operating
Revenue (loss) income activities
Shenzhen Asahi 955,037,753 102,423,390 102,423,390 133,996,040
Sales Company (i) 2,624,532,323 (407,305,340) (407,305,340) (133,139,799)
Year ended 31 December 2014
Other Cash flows
Net profit/ comprehensive from operating
Revenue (loss) income activities
Shenzhen Asahi 1,100,376,455 110,191,959 110,191,959 97,456,584
Sales Company (i) 2,921,002,615 (223,370,213) (223,370,213) (121,314,866)
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6 Interests in other entities (continued)

(1) Interests in subsidiaries (continued)

— % — I F F H ANNUAL REPORT 2015

(b)  Subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests (continued)

Financial information above doesn’t include the offset amount in the Group.

(i)  The information are extracted from the consolidated financial statement of Sales Company and its subsidiaries,

including Nanjing Sales Company, Huaihai Sales Company, New Shanghai Sales, Shanghai Market Service and

The Prince Sales.

(2) Interests in Joint Ventures and Associates

(a) Fundamental information of significant Joint Ventures and Associates

Share proportion

Place of Strategic impact
Place of operation incorporation Principal activities on the Group Directly Indirectly
Joint Ventures —
Shijiazhuang, Shijiazhuang,
Hebei Jiahe Company the PRC the PRC Manufacturing Yes 50% —
Associates —
Manufacturing Manufacturing Wholesale
Company Shanghai, the PRC Shanghai, the PRC and retail sale Yes 50% —
Yantai Asahi Yantai, the PRC Yantai, the PRC Manufacturing Yes 39% —
Zhaoshang Logistics Qingdao, the PRC Qingdao, the PRC Logistics Yes 30% —
Liaoning Shenqing Shenyang, the PRC ~ Shenyang, the PRC ~ Wholesale and retail sale ~ Yes 30% —
European Company France France Wholesale and retail sale ~ Yes = 40%

The equity investments above are accounted for using the equity method.
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Interests in other entities (continued)

Interests in Joint Ventures and Associates (continued)

Summarised financial information of the joint venture

Hebei Jiahe Company
31 December 2015 31 December 2014

Current assets 37,608,985 43,334,281
Including: cash and cash equivalents 4,394,803 1,680,356
Non-current assets 118,821,650 124,975,094
Total assets 156,430,635 168,309,375
Current liabilities (56,500,419) (90,830,962)
Total liabilities (56,500,419) (90,830,962)
Total equity attributable to shareholders of the company 99,930,216 77,478,413
Adjusted fair value of the identifiable net assets when obtained 123,136,711 136,899,089
Adjusted total equity attributable to shareholders of the company 223,066,927 214,377,502
The share of net assets calculated based on the shareholding proportion (i) 111,533,464 107,188,751
Adjusting item — goodwill 113,928,609 113,928,609
Book value of investment on the joint venture 225,462,073 221,117,360

There is no quoted market price for the joint venture investment of the Group.

Hebei Jiahe Company

From the
For the year ended acquisition date to
31 December 2015 31 December 2014

Revenue 325,255,910 246,074,642
Finance expenses — net 1,492,628 (10,889)
Income tax expense 2,902,104 —
Net profit/(loss) 21,350,150 (9,576,228)
Total comprehensive income 21,350,150 (9,576,228)
Adjusted fair value of the identifiable net assets when obtained (13,762,378) (11,127,852)

Adjusted total comprehensive income attributable to shareholders of
the company 7,587,772 (20,704,080)

Dividends received from the joint venture in the current year — —

(i)  The share of the net asset of the joint venture was calculated by the share proportion of the Group, based on
the equity attributable to shareholders of the Company in the consolidated financial statement of the joint
venture, adjusted accordingly to the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the joint ventures at the
acquisition date and conformed to accounting policies of the Group.
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6

2

Interests in other entities (continued)
Interests in Joint Ventures and Associates (continued)

(¢c) Summarised financial information of associates

31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Manufacturing Thaoshang Liaoning European  Manufacturing Thaoshang Liaoning European
Company  Yantai Asahi Logisties Shenqing Company Company ~ Yantai Asahi Logisties Shenging Company
Current assets 145,056,641 230008045 133,747,718 43,381,314 A96005 1405209 26290813 13187474 51,095,628 26,416,013
Including; cash and cash
equivalents 127,606,036 18.329,398 1,324,943 539,40 6,939,318 41155417 31,090,597 1,279,025 11,198256 50740483
Non-current assets 2430645004 235744650 4471033 548101 140059 2449674235 166,191,009 SATLIS 4,108.502 183,438
Total assets ISTTI0L665 46595095 138,218,751 48,929,435 0066084 3690196330 409095820 137,346,090 55,004130 26,600,031
Current liabiities (1367318.381) ~ (182,023878)  (81357946)  (41604901)  (I7670,780)  (LO93S86,116)  (143916,544)  (9335082)  (46514172)  (22.390263)
Non-current liabilities (393,752,504) - - - - (A38759%) (157439) (10,632,259 - -
Total liabilties (L761,070885)  (182,023,878)  (81357946)  (4L604901)  (17,670,780) (1517762,069)  (146,073.983)  (69967341) (46314170 (22,390.263)
Non-controlling interests 17,238,991 - - - - 24,604,928 - - - -
Total equity attributable to
sharcholders of the Company ~~ 2,099,591,789 283,928,817 56,860,805 13454 4304304 2147829335 283,021,839 67,378,749 8,689,938 4209788
Adjusted fair value of the
identifiable net assets when
obtained 96,068,123 41,608497 - - - 98,923,187 45468498 - - -
Adjusted total equity attributable to
sharcholders of the company ~~ 2,195,600,512 325337314 56,860,805 134534 4394304 2246752520 38490337 67,378,749 8,689,958 420,788
The share of net assets calculated
based on the shareholding
proportion (i) 1097830256 126,959,352 17,038,242 2,197,360 181722 LIB36061 128,111,031 213,625 2006987 1,683,915
Adjusting items
— Goodwill 38,540,002 9,640,679 - - - 38,540,092 9,640,679 - - -
— Unrealised profits of intemal
fransaction (8,356,833) (3,144,046) - - - (9,07,775) - - - -
Book value of investments on
Associates LIT8I3513 133,436,185 17,058,242 2,197,360 175770 LIS)88578 137751910 2021365 2606987 1,683,915

There is no quoted market price for the investments in associates of the Group.

275



276

& MW R A R A " TSINGTAO BREWERY CO., LTD.

Notes to Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2015
(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated)

6 Interests in other entities (continued)

(2) Interests in Joint Ventures and Associates (continued)

(©)

(d)

(e)

Summarised financial information of associates (continued)

31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Manufacturing Zhaoshang Liaoning European  Manufacturing Zhaoshang Liaoning European
Company  Yantai Asahi Logistics Shenging Company Company ~ Yantai Asahi Logistics Shenging Company
Revenue 1005194668 656,940,745 286,732,365 127,819,132 §1,146965 2504098465 733066197 284064949 176,283,546 79,861,584
Net (loss)/profits (83,279,484) 40,165,391 15,435,356 (1,365424) 376,899 47,029,664 43620459 1,834,555 (3,717,926) 625,057
Other comprehensive income - - - - (192,383) - - - - (397.907)
Total comprehensive income (83,279,484) 40,165,391 15,435,356 (1,365424) 184,516 47,629,604 43,620439 7,834,555 (3,717,926) 01150
Non-controlling interests (5,041,938) - - — - 2718348 - - - -
Total comprehensive income
attributable to shareholders of
the company (48,237,540) 40,165,391 15,435,356 (1,365424) 184,316 44851316 43,620439 7,834,555 (3,717,926) 01,150
Adjusted fair value of the
identifiable net assets when
obtained (2854464) (3,860,001) - - - (15,949,204 (3,860,001) - - -
Adjusted total comprehensive
income attributable to
shareholders (51,092,010 36,305,390 15,435,356 (1,365,424) 184,516 28902,022 39,760,438 1,834,555 (3,717,926) 071,150
Dividends received from the
associates in the current year - 15,310,781 7,785.990 - - — 15,097,173 — - -

(1)  The share of the net asset of associates was calculated by the share proportion of the Group, based on the equity
attributable to shareholders of the Company in the consolidated financial statement of the associates, adjusted
accordingly to the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the associates at the acquisition date and
conformed to accounting policies of the Group.

As at 31 December 2015, the Group’s joint venture and associates have no excess losses.

As at 31 December 2015, there are no unrecognised commitments related to the investment in the joint venture of

the Group, and no contingent liabilities related to the investments in the joint venture and associates either. The
unrecognised commitment related to the investments in the associates is referred to Note 10(3).
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7

Segment information

As the Group is mainly engaged in the production and distribution of beer, the reportable segments of the Group are business
units operating in different regions. Each region requires different marketing strategies, and the Group, therefore, separately
manages the production and operation of each reportable segment and evaluates their operating results respectively, in order
to make decisions on resources allocation to these segments and to assess their performance.

Finance Company is principally engaged in the financial businesses of wealth management and agency collection and
payment for its members. Due to the unique business characteristics of Finance Company, the Group manages its operation
independently and evaluates its operating results separately, to determine its resources allocation and assess its performance.
The Group identified 7 reportable segments as follows:

—  Shandong region, responsible for the production and distribution of beer in Shandong region and surrounding regions
—  Huanan region, responsible for the production and distribution of beer in South China region

—  Huabei region, responsible for the production and distribution of beer in North China region

—  Huadong region, responsible for the production and distribution of beer in East China region

—  Dongnan region, responsible for the production and distribution of beer in Southeast China region

—  Hong Kong, Macau and other overseas, responsible for the distribution of beer in Hong Kong, Macau and other
overseas

—  Finance Company, engaged in the financial businesses of wealth management and agency collection and payment for
its members.

Inter-segment transfer pricing is based on mutually-agreed prices.
Assets are allocated based on the operation of the segments and the physical location of the assets. Liabilities are allocated

based on the operation of the segments. Expenses indirectly attributable to each segment are allocated among segments based
on the proportion of each segment’s revenue.
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7

Segment information (continued)

(a)

Segment information as at and for the year ended 31 December 2015 is as follows:

Hong Kong,
Shandong Huanan Huabei Huadong Dongnan Macau and Finance
Region Region Region Region Region  other overseas Company ~ Unallocated ~ Elimination Total
Revenue from exteral customers 13879320963 3897,029,068 4175305898 2791751756 2361332805 521,019,539 7,090,439 123557 —  17,034,686,040
Inter-segment revenue 240903908 37,148,044 1230524967 158,795,127 96,047,998 136,623,354 44,333,105 386 (4443,834363) -
Cost of sales (10422,223784)  (L131461,698)  (3,753,714.890)  (2,380,054,489)  (1,647,398,764)  (466,551,347) (857,223) (980,273) 411,740,973 (17,192,101,695)
Selling and distribution expenses ~~ (L903216351)  ($96,675,114)  (SIS609310)  (T71,367,698)  (685,431,043) (132,239,720 - - —  (5,904539.230)
nterest income 3471,846 17,051,525 3341478 1,423,945 8,453,097 1282409 312,677,989 63,002,048 (I38,131804) 336,573,133
nterest expense (16,247,266) (1416,500)  (3983,522)  (11,201,897) (9412,213) (5,167,345)  (143,050,334) — 7495391 (8,983,086)
Share of losses of associates and
ajoint venture - — - - - - - (4,562,375) — (4,562,375)
Asset impairment reversals/(losses) 410,47 (1,704,329) (144128) 116,575 (1,246,431) 20,361 (1,919,763) 26,634,189 (24.229,39) (2,002,375)
Depreciation and amortisation (426,915496) (018283800 (192373.441) (20141897 (71,774863) (2,559,829) (1,160,002)  (48,594,301) — (965,348,209
Total profit 1642093366 119959379 S68,188479  (477,140.939)  (39,215,938) MATRT 146243 187520512 14379623 2,174.822402
Income tax expense (430,127,308 (52,102,268)  (135,177,876) 14.864,093 13436339 (11891,193)  (58,720,749) - (3,059.929) (662,778,888
Net profit 1,211,966,258 07857104 433,010,603 (d462,276,846)  (25,779,599) 2,082,094 175041684 157522512 11319694 1,612,043,514
Total assets 1275923045 4369,906866 525371045 472,166,928 1850290719 639489966  8,640,128102 5730710815  (9,731,737,858)  28,500,590,128
Total liabilities SUSI094TS  LOT8A24015 3600888045 1961942945 862107223 TILG26I6T  T4B4780186  ABLSISO81  (9,704,104,659) 12,334,579,078
Long-term equity investments in
associates and a joint venture - - — - - - — 1,507,745,005 — 1,507,745,005
Additions to non-current assets
ofher than long-term equity
investments 395,236,305 167527,198 421,095,932 12,373,385 80,489,739 119944 502,400 9582307 (51,946,886)  1,087,059,84
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(b) Segment information as at and for the year ended 31 December 2014 is as follows:
Hong Kong,
Shandong Huanan Huabei Huadong Dongnan Macau and Finance
Region Region Region Region Region ~ other overseas Company Unallocated Elimination Total
Revenue from extemal customers 14136469427 4400431421 4185880314 3009370253 2797425636 493,720,960 27050 2,298,083 —  19,49,321,166
[nter-segment revenue 2798039830 M6IST06 1469467695 388238839 4305080 208880851 26,666,003 —  (5,261,775,46) -
Cost of sales (10,750.854373)  (2,942466,510)  (3.912,087,588)  (3,018,038,330) (1,925,743.800)  (528,508316) (911,203) (597,700)  5,179.936,574  (17,899,291,275)
Selling and distribution expenses ~~ (4894923.865)  (905931,345)  (469.397,147)  (STO17.084)  (699,628996)  (142,682.961) - - — (5,682,981,368)
Interest income 37018242 0158073 51423783 3171357 1L311,957 890255 401,750,175 41261197 (167430906) 407754133
Interest expense (4976,480) (6232,135)  (30.867874)  (19,205,756) (2,178 400) (8.260,598)  (I75,679618)  (19692.46) 236,180,649 (30.912464)
Share of profits of associates and
a joint venture - — - - - - - 23,840,743 — 23,840,743
Asset impairment reversals/(losses) 12,772,286 101,000 (1,260,777) 281916 (717,993) (4.208) (1,995,000) (7,626,424) 1,963,000 3313780
Depreciation and amortisation (390907341 (204615,169)  (172267.958)  (46,165693)  (64,69%6,19) (4794,584) (LOT8OLL)  (48,599,285) - (933,125097)
Total profit 1864241505 354953305 636376464 (286.923470) 82486126 B9 Moe4305  (239,365940) (9,346,788)  2,682,098,822
Tncome tax expense (386,122,714)  (1341757)  (142432.99) 19472475 (6,199,284) (7140209 (61,841.810) - (LGs4466) (663,466,755)
Net profit LABIBIL 277405568 494143474 (267450996) 76,286,842 26794316 184801246 (239,565940)  (11,001254)  2,019,532,067
Total assets 10963131068 4753828553 SSALAGTI2L 820073690 LATLSIT809 365899300 6374018178 3798985214 (7.086,007.809) 27.003913,126
Total labilities 4904496575 LATINE09 3486761551 LESSSIABA0  68SSISAT0  SMAS4S700 5396985107 468097597  (7,140298,371) 11,716,630,688
Long-term equity investments in
associates and a joint venture — — — — - — — 1536262375 — 1536262375
Additions to non-current assets
other than long-term equity
investments L07654209 1337196032 852412.009 35453319 80,269,661 2805284 907,188 60,007,187 (38170.841) 2255214288
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7  Segment information (continued)

The Group’s revenue from external customers domestically and in foreign countries or geographical areas, and the total non-
current assets other than financial assets and deferred tax assets located domestically and in foreign countries or geographical
areas are as follows:

Revenue from external customers 2015 2014
Domestic 27,079,863,084 28,529,135,920
Hong Kong and Macau 256,705,161 264,175,591
Other countries/geographical areas 298,117,795 256,009,655

Total non-current assets

27,634,686,040

29,049,321,166

31 December
2015

31 December
2014

Domestic

Hong Kong and Macau

15,832,510,231
10,973,478

15,920,989,555
11,780,871

15,843,483,709

15,932,770,426

8 Related parties and related party transactions
(1) Information of subsidiaries

The general information and other related information of the subsidiaries is set out in Note 6(1).
(2) Information of the joint venture and associates

Except for the information of the joint venture and associates disclosed in Note 6(2), the other associates having related
parties transactions with the Group are set out below:

Company name Relationship with the Group

Associates —

New Songjiang Manufacturing A subsidiary of Manufacturing Company, the Group’s associate

Pengcheng Company A subsidiary of Manufacturing Company, the Group’s associate
Yangzhou Company A subsidiary of Manufacturing Company, the Group’s associate
Xuzhou Company A subsidiary of Manufacturing Company, the Group’s associate
Sugian Company A subsidiary of Manufacturing Company, the Group’s associate

Suntory Brewery (Kunshan) Co., Ltd.
(“Suntory Kunshan”) A subsidiary of Manufacturing Company, the Group’s associate
Suntory Brewery (Shanghai) Co., Ltd.
(“Suntory Shanghai”) A subsidiary of Manufacturing Company, the Group’s associate
Suntory Brewery (Guangming) Co., Ltd.
(“Suntory Guangming”) A subsidiary of Manufacturing Company, the Group’s associate

Suntory Jiangsu A subsidiary of Manufacturing Company, the Group’s associate
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Related parties and related party transactions (continued)

Information of other related parties

Relationship with the Group

Tsingtao Brewery Group Co., Ltd. (“TB Group Company”)
Asahi Breweries, Ltd. (“Asahi Breweries”)
Asahi Beer (China) Investment Co., Ltd. (“Asahi Investment”)

Suntory Company

Related party transactions

(a)  Purchases of goods and receiving services

Majority shareholder of the Company

Same shareholder of the Company

Same shareholder of the Company

Minority shareholder of the Subsidiary

Name of
related party Nature of transaction Pricing policies 2015 2014
Mutually-agreed prices and
New Songjiang approval by Board of
Manufacturing Purchase of beer and materials Directors 704,024,383 738,743,071
Mutually-agreed prices and
approval by Board of
Yantai Asahi Purchase of beer and materials Directors 652,574,835 716,937,800
Mutually-agreed prices and
approval by Board of
Suntory Kunshan Purchase of beer and materials Directors 354,175,704 399,901,466
Mutually-agreed prices and
approval by Board of
Suntory Shanghai Purchase of beer and materials Directors 354,107,541 382,028,091
Hebei Jiahe
Company Purchase of beer Mutually-agreed prices 321,850,749 234,863,895
Zhaoshang Receiving logistics service
Logistics (including payment on behalf) Mutually-agreed prices 252,517,226 273,950,690
Mutually-agreed prices and
Pengcheng approval by Board of
Company Purchase of beer and materials Directors 215,468,796 321,034,934
Mutually-agreed prices and
approval by Board of
Suntory Jiangsu  Purchase of beer and materials Directors 148,510,929 141,052,723
Mutually-agreed prices and
approval by Board of
Xuzhou Company Purchase of beer Directors 144,064,484 182,696,277
Mutually-agreed prices and
Yangzhou approval by Board of
Company Purchase of beer and materials Directors 128,913,295 139,035,617
Mutually-agreed prices and
approval by Board of
Suqian Company Purchase of beer and materials Directors 108,501,880 135,420,114
Mutually-agreed prices and
Suntory approval by Board of
Guangming Purchase of beer and materials Directors 13,013,005 24,996,350

3,397,722,827

3,690,661,028

281



282

& MW R A R A " TSINGTAO BREWERY CO., LTD.

Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2015
(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated)

8 Related parties and related party transactions (continued)

(4) Related party transactions (Continued)

()

Sales of goods and providing services

Name of
related party Nature of transaction Pricing policies 2015 2014
Liaoning
Shenqing Sale of beer Mutually-agreed prices 115,460,864 138,593,056
European
Company Sale of beer Mutually-agreed prices 45,303,670 74,437,520
Mutually-agreed prices and
approval by Board of
Asahi Breweries  Sale of beer Directors 26,190,227 21,437,349
New Songjiang
Manufacturing  Sale of materials Mutually-agreed prices 9,058,981 22,667,757
Mutually-agreed prices and
approval by Board of
Asahi Investment Sale of beer Directors 7,613,190 5,026,937
Providing construction and
New Songjiang equipment installation
Manufacturing services Mutually-agreed prices 1,820,085 —
Pengcheng
Company Sale of materials Mutually-agreed prices 1,806,911 6,164,001
Yantai Asahi Sale of materials Mutually-agreed prices 1,027,882 8,333,567
Providing construction and
Pengcheng equipment installation
Company services 270,085 —
Suntory Shanghai Sale of materials Mutually-agreed prices 60,554 112,414
Providing construction and
equipment installation
Sugian Company services Mutually-agreed prices 49,060 —
Yangzhou
Company Sale of materials Mutually-agreed prices 45,925 402,810
Suntory Jiangsu  Sale of materials Mutually-agreed prices 17,298 —
Suntory Kunshan Sale of materials Mutually-agreed prices 8,139 —
Providing construction and
equipment installation
Xuzhou Company  services Mutually-agreed prices 5,983 —
Xuzhou Company Sale of materials Mutually-agreed prices 4,615 306,378
Sugian Company Sale of materials Mutually-agreed prices — 159,087
Providing construction and
Yangzhou equipment installation
Company services Mutually-agreed prices — 948,718
208,743,469 278,589,594
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(©)

(d)

(e)
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Brand royalty
Name of
related party Nature of transaction Pricing policies 2015 2014
New Songjiang Brand royalty Mutually-agreed prices 8,796,834 9,288,629
Manufacturing
Pengcheng Company Brand royalty Mutually-agreed prices 1,985,814 2,963,590
Yangzhou Company Brand royalty Mutually-agreed prices 1,432,035 1,507,048
Xuzhou Company Brand royalty Mutually-agreed prices 1,267,679 1,605,978
Sugian Company Brand royalty Mutually-agreed prices 1,023,779 1,258,314
Suntory Jiangsu Brand royalty Mutually-agreed prices 183,945 91,652
14,690,086 16,715,211

Entrusted loan from related parties

2015 2014
Suntory Company (Note 4(21)(iii)) 788,646,845 470,850,295
Loan repayments to related parties

2015 2014
Suntory Company (Note 4(21)(iii)) 708,162,272 452,176,918
Absorbed deposits from related parties

2015 2014
Yantai Asahi 739,061,937 690,956,821
New Songjiang Manufacturing 609,691,239 717,642,070
Pengcheng Company 239,216,089 353,187,695
Manufacturing Company 177,641,865 100,331,847
Xuzhou Company 163,382,367 202,814,147
Yangzhou Company 150,275,185 171,747,273
Sugian Company 141,149,662 176,376,884

2,220,418,344

2,413,056,737
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8 Related parties and related party transactions (continued)
(4) Related party transactions (continued)

(g) Interest expense paid to related parties

2015 2014
Suntory Company (Note 4(21)(iii)) 2,479,313 1,574,415
New Songjiang Manufacturing 326,369 177,039
Yantai Asahi 229,335 77,461
Pengcheng Company 154,793 363,073
Yangzhou Company 70,564 131,938
Manufacturing Company 27,732 38,619
Xuzhou Company 26,702 58,546
Sugian Company 21,728 39,507
3,336,536 2,460,598

(h)  Financial services fee received from related parties
2015 2014
New Songjiang Manufacturing 15,924 22,322
Yantai Asahi 10,134 8,387
Pengcheng Company 5,479 10,116
Suqgian Company 3,518 5,602
Xuzhou Company 3,228 4,778
Yangzhou Company 1,533 3,762
Manufacturing Company 141 974
39,957 55,941

(i) Key management compensation

2015 2014
Key management compensation 12,576,482 15,544,871

(j)  For the year ended 31 December 2015 and 2014, there is no loan provided to the key management from the Group.
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Related parties and related party transactions (continued)

Receivable and payable balances with related parties

Receivables from related parties:

31 December 2015

31 December 2014

Ending Provision for Ending  Provision for
balance bad debts balance bad debts
Accounts receivable European Company 12,498,849 — 14,042,337 —
Beijing Sales Company 11,245,784 (11,245,784) 11,245,784 (11,245,784)
Guangzhou General Agency 3,959,690 (3,959,690) 7,559,690 (7,559,690)
Asahi Breweries 2,345,825 — 1,875,403 —
Asahi Investment 862,511 — 334,369 —
New Songjiang
Manufacturing — — 8,057,140 —
30,912,659 (15,205,474) 43,114,723 (18,805,474)
Other receivables Suqgian Company 25,398,906 — 25,511,113 —
Yangzhou Company 19,421,507 — 19,697,470 —
New Songjiang
Manufacturing 11,448,059 — 14,081,877 —
Xuzhou Company 2,241,990 — 1,702,337 —
Pengcheng Company 2,195,963 — 3,358,686 —
Suntory Jiangsu 2,192,861 — 5,440,807 —
62,899,286 — 69,792,290 —
Advances to suppliers Suntory Jiangsu 1,446,791 — 1,446,791 —
Sugian Company — — 2,000,000 —
1,446,791 — 3,446,791 —
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Related parties and related party transactions (continued)

Receivable and payable balances with related parties (continued)

Payables to related parties:

31 December

31 December

2015 2014

Accounts payable New Songjiang Manufacturing 431,183,207 266,147,466
Suntory Kunshan 234,843,123 230,442,454

Yantai Asahi 91,317,028 102,562,149

Pengcheng Company 74,067,416 66,890,582

Suntory Shanghai 21,179,335 25,413,423

Suntory Jiangsu 19,997,712 18,076,499

Hebei jiahe Company 3,657,847 1,098,481

Yangzhou Company 1,485,417 16,452,019

Suqgian Company 811,896 10,692,196

Xuzhou Company 673,221 4,656,471

Suntory Guangming 436,687 543,663

879,652,889 742,975,403

Other payables Suntory Shanghai 52,175,437 41,872,594
Suntory Kunshan 44,431,093 33,303,009

Zhaoshang Logistics 33,947,864 39,467,925

Pengcheng Company 25,597,994 6,888,087

Xuzhou Company 14,033,356 1,528,060

Yangzhou Company 13,461,796 9,551,506

New Songjiang Manufacturing 13,306,619 5,296,230

Sugian Company 9,589,096 1,048,549

Yantai Asahi 8,215,924 12,375,031

Suntory Guangming 6,675,880 4,154,033

Manufacturing Company 113,226 513,159

221,548,285 155,998,183

Advances from customers Liaoning Shenqing 9,793,264 3,108,416
Interests payable Suntory Company 440,749 252,829
Short-term borrowings Suntory Company 188,444,610 107,960,037
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8 Related parties and related party transactions (continued)
(6) Benefits and interests of directors

(a) Directors’ and CEO’s emoluments

— % — I F F H ANNUAL REPORT 2015

The remuneration of every director, supervisor and CEO for the year ended 31 December 2015 are set out below:

Emoluments in respect of a person’s services as a director

Emoluments
in respect of
director’s
other services
in connection
with the
management of
the affairs of
the company or

Salary, bonus, Social Housing its subsidiaries
Name Fees and allowance pension funds  undertaking Total
Directors:
Sun Mingbo — 1,693,236 43,719 20,508 — 1,757,463
Huang Kexing
(acting as CEO) — 1,387,266 43,719 20,508 — 1,451,493
Jiang Hong — 1,024,151 43,719 20,508 — 1,088,378
Yu Zhuming — 812,876 43,719 20,508 — 877,103
Ma Haitao (iii) 120,000 — — — — 120,000
Wang Xuezheng 120,000 — — — — 120,000
Ben Shenglin 120,000 — — — — 120,000
Jiang Min 120,000 — — — — 120,000
Supervisors:
Duan Jiajun (i) 90,000 — — — — 90,000
Li Gang (ii) 10,000 — — — — 10,000
Li Yan 80,000 — — — — 80,000
Wang Yaping 80,000 — — — — 80,000
Xue Chaoshan — 483,900 43,719 20,508 — 548,127
Sun Lihong — 374,600 43,719 20,508 — 438,827
Xing Jun — 344,700 43,719 20,508 — 408,927
740,000 6,120,729 306,033 143,556 — 7,310,318

(i)  Resigned from supervisor on 17 October 2015.
(ii)  Appointed as supervisor on 4 December 2015.
(iii) Resigned from director on 16 February 2015.

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the directors (including Sun Mingbo, Huang Kexing, Jiang Hong, Yu Zhuming)
and the Supervisors (including Xue Chaoshan, Sun Lihong, Xing Jun) have provided management services in
connection with the management of the affairs of the company or its subsidiaries undertaking. As the emoluments as
directors or supervisors and other services can’t be distinguished from each other, emoluments as both of the roles are

combined disclosed together.
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8 Related parties and related party transactions (continued)
(6) Benefits and interests of directors (Continued)

(a) Directors , supervisors and CEO’s emoluments (Continued)

The remuneration of every director, supervisor and CEO for the year ended 31 December 2014 is set out below:

Emoluments in respect of a person’s services as a director

Emoluments
in respect of
director’s
other services
in connection
with the
management of
the affairs of
the company or

Salary, bonus, Social Housing its subsidiaries
Name Fees and allowance pension funds  undertaking Total
Directors:
Sun Mingbo — 1,826,856 38,672 18,024 — 1,883,552
Wang Fan (i) — 531,288 19,336 8,418 — 559,042
Huang Kexing
(acting as CEO) — 1,514,376 38,672 18,024 — 1,571,072
Jiang Hong — 1,117,736 38,672 18,024 — 1,174,432
Sun Yuguo () — 113,828 19,336 8,418 — 141,582
Yu Zhuming (ii) — 893,200 38,672 18,024 — 949,896
Ma Haitao 110,000 — — — — 110,000
Wang Xuezheng 110,000 — — — — 110,000
Zhao Changwen (i) 50,000 — — — — 50,000
Wu Xiaobo (i) 50,000 — — — — 50,000
Ben Shenglin (i) 60,000 — — — — 60,000
Jiang Min (ii) 60,000 — — — — 60,000
Supervisors:
Duan Jiajun 110,000 — — — — 110,000
Li Yan 70,000 — — — — 70,000
Yang Weicheng (iii) 30,000 — — — — 30,000
Wang Yaping (iv) 40,000 — — — — 40,000
Xue Chaoshan — 492,957 38,672 18,024 — 549,653
Sun Lihong — 385,500 38,672 18,024 — 442,196
Xing Jun — 337,000 38,672 18,024 — 393,696
690,000 7,212,741 309,376 143,004 — 8,355,121

(i)  Resigned from director on 16 June 2014.
(i) Appointed as director on 16 June 2014.
(iii) Resigned from supervisor on 16 June 2014.
(iv) Appointed as supervisor on 16 June 2014.
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8 Related parties and related party transactions (continued)
(6) Benefits and interests of directors (Continued)
(b)  As at 31 December 2015, there are no termination benefits for the directors (2014: nil).

(¢c) For the year ended 31 December 2015, there is no consideration provided to third parties for making available directors’
services (2014: nil).

(d) For the year ended 31 December 2015, there are no loans and quasi-loans in favour of directors, controlled body
corporate of directors, and connected entities of directors, and no guarantee or security provided to directors, controlled
body corporate of directors, and connected entities of directors (2014: nil).

(e) No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in related to the group’s business to which the Company was
a party and in which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted during
the year ended 31 December 2015 (2014: nil).

(7) Five highest paid individuals
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group for the year include 3 (2014: 3) directors whose

emoluments are reflected in the analysis shown in the table above. The emoluments payable to the remaining 2 (2014: 2)
individuals during the year are as follows:

2015 2014

Salary, bonus and allowance 4,402,400 4,594,300
Social pension 87,438 77,344
housing funds 41,016 36,048
4,530,854 4,707,692

Number of individuals

2015 2014
Emoluments bands:
HKD2,000,000-2,500,000 (RMB1,600,000-2,000,000) 1
HKD3,000,000-3,500,000 (RMB2,400,000-2,800,000) 1 0
HKD3,500,000-4,000,000 (RMB2,800,000-3,200,000) 0 1

9 Contingent liabilities

As stated in Note 3(2), the Group’s potential risk of income tax liabilities related to prior years has not been settled. The
directors are of the view that the impact of the potential income tax liabilities could not be reliably estimated and therefore,
no provision was made in these financial statements.

289



290

& MW R A R A " TSINGTAO BREWERY CO., LTD.

Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2015
(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated)

10 Commitments
(1) Capital commitments

Capital expenditures contracted for but not yet necessary to be recognised on the balance sheet

31 December 31 December
2015 2014
Buildings, machinery and equipment 353,124,460 421,350,610

(2) Operating lease commitments

The future minimum lease payments due under the signed irrevocable operating leases contracts are summarised as follows:

31 December 31 December

2015 2014

Within one year 26,323,769 13,480,278
1 to 2 years 4,149,753 4,652,988
2 to 3 years 120,000 1,671,002
30,593,522 19,804,268

(3) Investment commitments

According to the Framework Agreement of Transfer of Equity Interests and Permission for Use of Brand and Technologies
(“Framework Agreement”) entered between the Company and Suntory Company on 18 October 2015, the Company will
acquire 50% equity interest of Manufacturing Company and 50% equity interest of Sales Company. The consideration is
determined by basic price of 822,912,001 together with subsequent consideration adjustment as mentioned in Framework
Agreement. After the completion of this deal, Manufacturing Company and Sales Company will become fully owned
subsidiaries of the Company. As at 31 December 2015, the related equity transfer procedures have not yet completed, the
final consideration still has not been agreed, and hence the equity payment has not been made by the Company.

11 Events after the balance sheet date
(1) Dividends distribution after the balance sheet date

Amount

Dividends proposed (a)
— Dividends authorised to declare 526,883,290

(a) In accordance with the resolution at the Board of Directors’ meeting dated on 28 March 2016, the Board of Directors
proposed a dividend of RMB526,883,290 to the shareholders, which is not recorded as liability in the financial
statements for the current year (Note 4(38)).



— % — I F F H ANNUAL REPORT 2015

Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2015
(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated)

11

2

12

13

1

Events after the balance sheet date (continued)
Other event

As stated in Notel0(3), the Company acquires 50% equity interest of Manufacturing Company and 50% equity interest of
Sales Company respectively, and the procedures of alteration at the industrial and commercial administration for the transfer
of the equity interests of Manufacturing Company and Sales Company have been completed on 16 March 2016 and 24 March
2016 respectively. As at the reporting date of this financial statement, the final consideration still has not been agreed, and
hence the equity payment has not been made by the Company.

Lease

For the year ended 31 December 2015, there is no financing lease (2014: nil). Operating lease payments recognised in profit
or loss for the current year amount to 127,208,736 (2014: 123,518,824).

Financial instrument and risk

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (primarily foreign exchange risk and interest
rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

Market risk
(a) Foreign exchange risk

The Group’s major operational activities are carried out in Mainland China and a majority of the transactions are
denominated in RMB. The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from financing activities and business
transactions denominated in foreign currencies, primarily with respect to HKD, and from some sales receipts settled
by USD and EUR. As the balance of the borrowings denominated in foreign currencies and the business transactions
settled in foreign currencies are not material, the directors of the Company are of the view that the Group’s exposure to
foreign exchange risk would be immaterial. The Group’s head office is responsible for monitoring the amount of assets
and liabilities and transactions denominated in foreign currencies to minimise the foreign exchange risk. The Group
may consider entering into forward exchange contracts or currency swap contracts to mitigate the foreign exchange
risk. For the year ended 31 December 2015 and 2014, the Group did not enter into any forward foreign exchange
contracts or currency swap contracts.
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13 Financial instrument and risk (continued)
(1) Market risk (Continued)
(a) Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

As at 31 December 2015 and 2014, the carrying amounts in RMB equivalent to the Group’s assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are summarised as below:

31 December 2015

Other foreign

HKD currencies Total
Financial assets denominated in foreign currency —

Cash at bank and on hand 60,642,682 85,806,837 146,449,519
Accounts receivable 37,806,945 49,012,412 86,819,357
Other receivables 1,314,671 — 1,314,671
99,764,298 134,819,249 234,583,547

Financial liabilities denominated in foreign currency —
Short-term borrowings 301,942,672 — 301,942,672
Other payables 7,049,379 2,997,860 10,047,239
Current portion of non-current liabilities — 856,189 856,189
Long-term borrowings — 1,711,800 1,711,800
308,992,051 5,565,849 314,557,900

31 December 2014

Other foreign

HKD currencies Total
Financial assets denominated in foreign currency —

Cash at bank and on hand 44,903,475 133,669,825 178,573,300
Accounts receivable 26,786,620 41,391,805 68,178,425
Other receivables 1,157,243 246,331 1,403,574
72,847,338 175,307,961 248,155,299

Financial liabilities denominated in foreign currency —
Short-term borrowings 293,816,883 — 293,816,883
Other payables 6,827,540 5,473,777 12,301,317
Current portion of non-current liabilities — 1,561,421 1,561,421
Long-term borrowings — 2,784,731 2,784,731
300,644,423 9,819,929 310,464,352

As at 31 December 2015, for various financial assets and liabilities denominated in HKD, if RMB had strengthened or
weakened by 10% against the HKD while all other variables had been held constant, the Group’s net profit for the year
would have been by approximately 1,379,000 (31 December 2014: 2,018,000) higher or lower, and other comprehensive
income would have been approximately 17,307,000 (31 December 2014: 20,089,000) higher or lower respectively.



— % — I F F H ANNUAL REPORT 2015

Notes to Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2015
(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated)

13 Financial instrument and risk (continued)

1

2

Market risk (Continued)
(b) Interest rate risk

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from interest bearing debts such as long-term bank borrowings. Financial liabilities
issued at floating rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. Financial liabilities issued at fixed rates expose
the Group to fair value interest rate risk. The Group determines the relative proportions of its fixed rate and floating
rate contracts depending on the prevailing market conditions. As at 31 December 2015 and 2014, as the long-term bank
barrowings are all interest-free and immaterial, there is no material interest rate risk in the view of the directors of the
Group.

The Group’s head office continuously monitors the interest rate position of the Group. Increase in interest rate will
increase the cost of new interest-bearing borrowings and therefore could have an adverse impact on the Group’s
financial position. The management of the Group makes decisions according to the latest market conditions. The
directors of the Company are of the view that future interest rate changes will not have a material adverse impact on the
Group’s operating performance.

(¢) Price risk

The Group’s price risk arises from price fluctuation of the principal raw materials in beer production, while the rise of
raw material prices will have adverse impact on the Group’s operating performance. The purchasing department of the
Group keeps analysing and monitoring the trend of raw materials prices, and considers entering into long-term purchase
contracts with the suppliers to make sure that there is no material fluctuation of raw material prices. The directors of
the Company are of the view that future price changes of principal raw materials will not have material adverse impact
on the Group’s operating performance.

Credit risk

Credit risk is managed on a group basis. Credit risk mainly arises from cash at bank and on hand, accounts receivable, other
receivables and notes receivable etc.

The Group expects that there is no significant credit risk associated with cash at bank considering they are deposited at
state-owned banks and other medium or large size public-listed banks. Management does not expect that there will be any
significant losses from non-performance by these counterparties.

Sales are mainly settled by advances from customers or bank acceptance notes, and accordingly, there is no significant credit
risk related to customers.

In addition, the Group has policies to limit the credit exposure on accounts receivable and notes receivable. The Group
assesses the credit quality of and sets credit limits on its customers by taking into account their financial position, the
availability of guarantee from third parties, their credit history and other factors such as current market conditions. The credit
history of the customers is regularly monitored by the Group. In respect of customers with a poor credit history, the Group
will use written payment reminders, or shorten or cancel credit periods, to ensure the overall credit risk of the Group is
limited to a controllable extent.
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13 Financial instrument and risk (continued)
(3) Liquidity risk

Cash flow forecasting is performed by each subsidiary of the Group and aggregated by the Group’s head office. The head
office monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s short-term and long-term liquidity requirements to ensure it has sufficient
cash to meet operational needs, while maintaining sufficient headroom on its undrawn committed borrowing facilities from
major financial institution so that the Group does not breach borrowing limits or covenants on any of its borrowing facilities
to meet the short-term and long-term liquidity requirements.

The financial liabilities of the Group at the balance sheet date are analysed by their maturity date below at their undiscounted
contractual cash flows:

31 December 2015

Within 1 year 1 to 2 years 2 to S years Over S years Total
Short-term borrowings 812,760,460 — — — 812,760,460
Notes payable 100,141,631 — — — 100,141,631
Accounts payable 2,590,986,856 — — — 2,590,986,856
Interests payable 1,486,051 — — — 1,486,051
Other payables 4,061,298,404 — — — 4,061,298,404
Current portion of
non-current liabilities 856,189 — — — 856,189
Long-term borrowings — 380,400 1,141,200 190,200 1,711,800
7,567,529,591 380,400 1,141,200 190,200 7,569,241,391

31 December 2014

Within 1 year 1 to 2 years 2 to 5 years Over 5 years Total
Short-term borrowings 437,244,412 — — — 437,244,412
Notes payable 91,748,125 — — — 91,748,125
Accounts payable 2,494,168,939 — — — 2,494,168,939
Interests payable 4,739,860 — — — 4,739,860
Other payables 4,299,312,050 — — — 4,299,312,050
Current portion of
non-current liabilities 1,561,421 — — — 1,561,421
Long-term borrowings — 962,231 1,215,000 607,500 2,784,731
7,328,774,807 962,231 1,215,000 607,500 7,331,559,538

Bank borrowings are analysed by repayment terms as follows:

31 December

31 December

2015 2014

Within 1 year 811,243,471 434,514,016
1 to 2 years 380,400 962,231
2 to 5 years 1,141,200 1,215,000
Over 5 years 190,200 607,500
812,955,271 437,298,747
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14 Fair value estimation

1

2

15

The level of fair value measurement is determined by the lowest level of inputs which has significant impact on fair value
measurement, as a whole:

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly
or indirectly.

Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data.
Assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis

As at 31 December 2015, there is no asset measured at fair value on a recurring basis. (31 December 2014: assets measured at
fair value on a recurring basis are wealth management products of the Group (Note 4(8)), which belong to Level 2).

The timing of transfers is determined at the date of the event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer. There were
no transfers between level 1 and 2 during the year.

Financial instruments not measured at fair value but disclosed at fair value

Financial assets and liabilities of the Group measured at amortised cost mainly represent receivables, short-term borrowings,
payables, long-term borrowings. The difference between the carrying amount and fair value of those financial assets and
liabilities not measured by fair value is small.

The fair value of long-term borrowings is the present value of the contractually determined stream of future cash flows
discounted at the rate of interest applied at that time by the market to instruments of comparable credit status and providing
substantially the same cash flows on the same terms, which belongs to level 3.

Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the
cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return
capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.
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15 Capital management (continued)

16 Notes to the Company’s financial statements

1

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the group’s strategy, which was unchanged from the prior year, was to maintain the

cash balance above a certain standard to meet the Group’s business development needs. Cash balance is calculated as cash

and cash equivalents less total borrowings (including short-term borrowings, current portion of non-current liabilities, and

long-term borrowings as shown in the consolidated balance sheet). The cash balance as at 31 December 2015 and 2014 are as

follows:

31 December
2015

31 December
2014

Cash and cash equivalents

Less: Short-term borrowings
Current portion of non-current liabilities
Long-term borrowings

Cash balance after deducting borrowings

Accounts receivable

7,575,374,183

5,266,389,764

(810,387,282) (432,952,595)
(856,189) (1,561,421)
(1,711,800) (2,784,731)
(812,955,271) (437,298,747)

6,762,418,912

4,829,091,017

31 December
2015

31 December
2014

Accounts receivable
Less: provision for bad debts

513,563,811
(64,868,599)

633,484,987
(68,483,026)

448,695,212

565,001,961

The majority of the Company’s domestic sales are made by advances from customers. The remains are settled by letters of

credit, bank acceptance notes or providing credit terms from 30 to 100 days.
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16 Notes to the Company’s financial statements (continued)
(1) Accounts receivable (Continued)

(a) The ageing of accounts receivable based on their recording dates is analysed below:

31 December

31 December

2015 2014

Within 6 months 411,254,406 560,528,612
6 months to 1 year 19,460,215 552,490
1 to 2 years 14,063,769 36,928
2 to 3 years 18,464 _
3 to 4 years — 3,119,850
4 to 5 years 3,119,850 —
Over 5 years 65,647,107 69,247,107
513,563,811 633,484,987

As at 31 December 2015, the Company has no accounts receivables (as at 31 December 2014: 1,484,759, within

months) which have been past due but not impaired.

(b)  Accounts receivable by categories are analysed as follows:

31 December 2015

31 December 2014

Ending balance Provision for bad debts

Ending balance

Provision for bad debts

% of total % of total
Amount balance Amount Ratio Amount balance Amount Ratio
Individually
significant and
subject to separate
assessment for
provision 15,205,474 2.96%  (15,205,474) 100% 18,805,474 2.97%  (18,805,474) 100%
Subject to provision
on the grouping
basis
Group B 407,623,922 79.37% — — 523,685,664 82.67% — —
Group C 90,734,415 17.67%  (49,663,125) 54.73% 90,993,849 14.36%  (49,677,552) 54.59%
513,563,811 100%  (64,868,599) 12.63% 633,484,987 100%  (68,483,026) 10.81%
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16 Notes to the Company’s financial statements (continued)
(1) Accounts receivable (Continued)

(¢c) As at 31 December 2015, accounts receivable with amounts that are individually significant and subject to separate
assessment for provision are analysed as follows:

Ending Provision for
balance bad debts Ratio Reason
Beijing Sales Company 11,245,784 (11,245,784) 100% Notes4(3)(c)
Guangzhou General Agency 3,959,690 (3,959,690) 100% Notes4(3)(c)
15,205,474 (15,205,474)

(d) Accounts receivable that are subject to provision for bad debts on the grouping basis (Group C) using the ageing
analysis method are analysed as follows:

31 December 2015 31 December 2014

Ending Provision for bad debts Ending Provision for bad debts
balance Amount Ratio balance Amount Ratio
Within 6 months 41,058,093 — — 40,772,967 — —
6 months to 1 year — — — 552,490 (27,624) 5%
1 to 2 years 26,394 (13,197) 50% 36,928 (18,464) 50%
2 to 3 years 18,464 (18,464) 100% — — —
3 to 4 years — — — 100,000 (100,000) 100%
4 to 5 years 100,000 (100,000) 100% — — —
Over 5 years 49,531,464  (49,531,464) 100% 49,531,464  (49,531,464) 100%
90,734,415  (49,663,125) 54.73% 90,993,849  (49,677,552) 54.59%

(e) The provisions for bad debts are 22,108, and the reversal provisions for bad debts are 3,636,535. The significant
reversal amount is as follows:

Reason for Amount of
collecting or  Rationality of collecting or Collecting
reversal provision basis reversal way

The collecting

probability
Partially is low in the
Guangzhou General Agency collected management’s view 3,600,000 By cash

(f) Asat 31 December 2015, there are no accounts receivable written off (2014: nil).
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16 Notes to the Company’s financial statements (continued)
(1) Accounts receivable (Continued)
(g) Asat31 December 2015, the top five accounts receivable are analysed as follows:

Provision for
Amount bad debts % of total balance

Total amount of the top five accounts
receivable 186,608,784 — 36.34%

(h) As at 31 December 2015, there are no accounts receivable derecognised due to the transfer of financial assets (31
December 2014: nil).

(2) Other receivables

31 December 31 December

2015 2014

Receivables from subsidiaries 112,597,272 101,748,835
Staff advance 25,500,880 20,983,452
Refund for prepayment of land use rights 17,441,647 17,441,647
Brand royalty (Note 4(4)(ii)) 15,381,998 17,630,536
Deposits 6,162,946 7,983,219
Others 17,407,738 20,715,998
194,492,481 186,503,687
Less: provision for bad debts (39,832,296) (40,074,136)
154,660,185 146,429,551

(a) The ageing of other receivables is analysed below:

31 December 31 December

2015 2014

Within 6 months 102,491,667 117,505,784

6 months to 1 year 28,695,359 12,585,726

1 to 2 years 18,736,096 1,840,498

2 to 3 years 1,722,168 354,924

3 to 4 years 231,984 1,908,167

4 to 5 years 1,846,239 211,377

Over 5 years 40,768,968 52,097,211
194,492,481 186,503,687

The Company has no specific credit terms for other receivables. Therefore, the Company has no other receivables that
are past due but not impaired as at 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014.
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16 Notes to the Company’s financial statements (continued)
(2) Other receivables (continued)

(b)  Other receivables by categories are analysed as follows:

31 December 2015 31 December 2014
Ending balance Provision for bad debts Ending balance Provision for bad debts
% of total % of total
Amount balance Amount Ratio Amount balance Amount Ratio

Individually

significant and

subject to separate

assessment for

provision 17,441,647 8.97%  (17,441,647) 100% 17,441,647 9.35%  (17,441,647) 100%
Subject to provision

on the grouping

basis

Group A 3,206,031 1.65% — — 7,401,127 3.97% — —
Group B 112,597,272 57.89% — — 101,748,835 54.56% — —
Group C 61,247,531 31.49%  (22,390,649) 36.56% 59,912,078 32.12%  (22,632,489) 37.78%

194,492,481 100%  (39,832,296) 20.48% 186,503,687 100%  (40,074,136) 21.49%

(¢c) As at 31 December 2015, other receivables with amounts that are individually significant and subject to separate
assessment for provision are analysed as follows:

Ending Provision for
balance bad debts Ratio Reason
Refund for repayment of land use rights 17,441,647 (17,441,647) 100% Notes4(4)(c)

(d)  Other receivables that are subject to provision for bad debts on the grouping basis (Group C) using the ageing analysis
method are analysed as follows:

31 December 2015 31 December 2014

Ending Provision for bad debts Ending Provision for bad debts

balance Amount Ratio balance Amount Ratio
Within 6 months 38,278,941 — — 36,801,091 — —
6 months to 1 year 488,980 (24,449) 5% 348,660 (17,433) 5%
1 to 2 years 226,820 (113,410) 50% 294,542 (147,271) 50%
2 to 3 years 260,396 (260,396) 100% 354,924 (354,924) 100%
3 to 4 years 231,984 (231,984) 100% 247,167 (247,167) 100%
4 to 5 years 185,239 (185,239) 100% 211,377 (211,377) 100%
Over 5 years 21,575,171  (21,575,171) 100% 21,654,317  (21,654,317) 100%

61,247,531  (22,390,649) 36.56% 59,912,078  (22,632,489) 37.78%
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16 Notes to the Company’s financial statements (continued)

(2) Other receivables (continued)

(e) For the year ended 31 December 2015, the provisions for bad debts are 257,468, and the reversal provisions for bad

debts are 499,308.

(f)  For the year ended 31 December 2015, there are no other receivables written off.

(g) Asat31 December 2015, the top five other receivables are analysed as follows:

% of total Provisions for

Nature Amount Ageing balance bad debts
Payment on behalf for Within
Wuhu Company recycled bottles 33,242,553 two years 17.09% —
Payment on behalf for Within
Suizhou Company recycled bottles 20,508,157 two years 10.54% —
Payment on behalf for Within
Yingcheng Company recycled bottles 20,196,785 two years 10.38% —
Tsingtao Xianghong
Shangwu Co.,
Ltd. (“Xianghong Payment on behalf for Within
Shangwu”) Social Security 12,380,215 two years 6.37% —
New Shanghai Sales
Company Assets transferred 9,657,610 Over 3 years 4.97% —
95,985,320 49.35% —
(3) Dividends receivable
31 December 31 December
2015 2014
Huanan Sales Company — 105,700,000
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16 Notes to the Company’s financial statements (continued)

C))

€))

Long-term receivables

31 December 31 December

2014 2015

Entrusted loans to Subsidiaries (i) 566,300,000 648,500,000
Increase in Decrease in

the current year  the current year

Less: provisions for bad debts (227,100,000) (25,800,000) 78,600,000 (174,300,000)

339,200,000 474,200,000

(i)  The entrusted loans to subsidiaries are unsecured RMB loans provided by the Company through banks and Finance
Company, with annual interest of 3.9%-5.4% and quarterly payment.

Long-term equity investments

31 December 31 December

2015 2014

Subsidiaries (a) 8,412,708,408 8,560,450,508
Joint Ventures (b) 225,462,073 221,117,360
Associates (¢) 1,221,216,078 1,250,264,555

9,859,386,559 10,031,832,423
Less: Provision for impairment of long-term equity investments (d) (755,588,059) (745,588,059)

9,103,798,500 9,286,244,364

There is no restriction on realisation the long-term equity investments to cash.
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16 Notes to the Company’s financial statements (continued)
(5) Long-term equity investments (continued)
(a) Subsidiaries

Movements in the current year

Provision Balance of  Cash dividends
impairment provision declared
31 December Increased Decreased 31 December forthe  for impairment in the
2014 investment investment for 2015 current year  at end of year current year
Shenzhen Asahi 126,746,680 — — 126,746,680 — — 50,592,000
Chenzhou Company 62,601,208 — — 62,601,208 — — 35,520,000
Huanan Sales Company 45,070,000 — — 45,070,000 — — 300,000,000
Huanan Holding Company 208,790,000 — — 208,790,000 — — —
Huadong Holding Company 96,855,102 — — 96,855,102 — (96,855,102) —
Shouguang Company 60,000,000 — — 60,000,000 — — —
Five star Company 24,656,410 — — 24,656,410 — (24,656,410) —
Three Ring Company 69,457,513 — — 69,457,513 — (69,457,513) —
Beifang Sales Company 83,984,000 — — 83,984,000 — (83,984,000) —
Xi’an Company 392,627,114 — — 392,627,114 — — 738,000,000
Weinan Company 14,000,000 — — 14,000,000 — — —
Anshan Company 30,000,000 — — 30,000,000 — — —
Xingkaihu Company 129,430,000 — — 129,430,000 — (129,430,000) —
Mishan Company 23,920,000 — — 23,920,000 — (23,920,000 —
Harbin Company 213,540,000 — — 213,540,000 — (109,940,000) —
Penglai Company 30,000,000 — — 30,000,000 — (30,000,000) —
Rongcheng Company 65,103,434 — — 65,103,434 - (65,103,434) —
Import/ Export Company 11,210,000 — — 11,210,000 - — -
Tsingtao Brewery
(Laoshan) Co., Ltd. 18,089,491 — — 18,089,491 — — —
Hong Kong Company 41,728,681 - — 41,728,681 — — -
Tsingtao Brewery Kai Fa
Co., Ltd. 1,320,000 — — 1,320,000 — (1,320,000 —
Taizhou Company 60,000,000 — — 60,000,000 — — —
Maanshan Company 80,000,000 — — 80,000,000 — — —
Xianghong Shangwu 5,760,000 — — 5,760,000 — — —
Dongnan Sales Company 293,088,560 — — 293,088,560 — — —
Changsha Company 47,600,000 — — 47,600,000 — — —
Jinan Company 560,000,000 — — 560,000,000 — — 42,600,000
Guangrunlong Logistics 16,465,405 — — 16,465,405 — — —
Chengdu Company 280,000,000 — — 280,000,000 — — —
Cultural Communication
Company 5,290,000 — — 5,290,000 — — 40,000,000
Rizhao Company 339,239,300 — — 339,239,300 — — 40,500,000
Weifang Company 73,620,001 — — 73,620,001 — — 27,500,000
Pingyuan Company 21,730,001 — - 21,730,001 - — —
Construction Company 2,490,000 — — 2,490,000 — — 30,000,000
Langfang Company 79,090,000 — — 79,090,000 - — -
Heze Company 124,590,000 — — 124,590,000 — (51,301,600) —
Tengzhou Company 48,310,000 — — 48,310,000 — — —
Tsingtao Brewery
(Shanghai) Company

Limited 1,570,000 - - 1,570,000 -
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16 Notes to the Company’s financial statements (continued)
(5) Long-term equity investments (continued)
(a) Subsidiaries (continued)

Movements in the current year

Provision Balance of  Cash dividends
impairment provision declared
31 December Increased Decreased 31 December forthe  for impairment in the
2014 investment investment for 2015 current year  at end of year current year
Wuhu Company 144,290,000 - — 144,290,000 — — -
Shanghai Sales Company 97,300,000 - — 97,300,000 — (47,300,000 =
Chengyang Sales Company 8,000,000 — — 8,000,000 — — —
Qingpi Baotuquan (i) 174,160,000 — (174,160,000) — — — —
Shijiazhuang Company 321,010,000 — — 321,010,000 — — —
Taiyuan Company 200,000,000 — — 200,000,000 — — —
Finance Company 500,000,000 — — 500,000,000 — — —
Immense Brewery
Company 1,404,558,400 — —  1,404,558,400 — — —
Hangzhou Company 186,000,000 - - 186,000,000 - — -
Sifang Sales Company 10,000,000 — — 10,000,000 — — —
Jieyang Company 150,000,000 — — 150,000,000 — — 15,187,500
Beverage Company 30,044,252 — — 30,044,252 — — —
Shaoguan Company 200,000,000 = = 200,000,000 — — —
Hainan Company 200,000,000 = = 200,000,000 — — —
Shibei Sales Company 8,000,000 — — 8,000,000 — — —
Jiujiang Company 180,000,000 — — 180,000,000 — — —
Xuzhou Enterprise
Management 10,000,000 — — 10,000,000 — (10,000,000) —
Pingdu sales Company 5,000,000 — — 5,000,000 — — —
Luoyang Company 200,000,000 — — 200,000,000 — — =
Sales Company (ii) 10,000,000 — — 10,000,000 (10,000,000 (10,000,000 —
Hongjiweiye (iii) 10,000,000 6,973,296 (16,973,296) — — — —
Luzhou Company 118,460,956 = = 118,460,956 = = =
Harbin sales Company 1,100,000 — — 1,100,000 — (1,100,000) —
Zhangjiakou Company (iv) 81,480,000 10,120,000 — 91,600,000 — — —
Lulansa Company 317,374,000 — — 317,374,000 — = =
Huangshi Company 163,630,000 — — 163,630,000 = = =
Yingcheng Company 42,070,000 — — 42,070,000 = = =
Hanzhong Company (v) — 26,297,900 — 26,297,900 — = =
8,560,450,508 43,391,196 (191,133,296)  8,412,708,408 (10,000,000)  (754,368,059)  1,319,899,500
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16 Notes to the Company’s financial statements (continued)
(5) Long-term equity investments (continued)
(a) Subsidiaries (continued)
(i)  As stated in Note 5(2)(i), the Group cancelled the registration of Qingpi Baotuquan on 22 December 2015.

(ii)) As at 31 December 2015, recoverable amount of the Company’s long-term equity investment in Sales Company
is less than the carrying amount, and therefore provision for impairment of 10,000,000 is recorded.

(iii) According to the thirteenth meeting of the seventeenth session of Board of Directors, the company increases the
capital of Hongjiweiye by two pieces of land with carrying amount of 6,973,296 in May 2015. As stated in Note
5(1), the Company transferred 100% equity interest of Hongjiweiye with a consideration of 461,290,000 on 25
December 2015.

(iv) Zhangjiakou Company was established in April 2014 with the registration capital of 200,000,000. In the current
year, the Company invested cash of 10,120,000 and the paid-in capital increase to 91,600,000 as at 31 December
2015.

(v) As stated in Note4(34)(i), the Company purchased 34% equity interest of Hanzhong Company with a
consideration of 26,297,900 in the current year.

(b)  Joint ventures

Movements in the current year

Share of net Balance of

profit or loss Equity provision for

31 December using the ~ Cash dividends Other equity 31 December interest impairment at
2014 equity method declared changes 2015 held  Voting rights end of year

Hebei Jiahe 221,117,360 3,793,886 = 550,827 225,462,073 50% 50% —

Summarised financial information of joint ventures please refer to Note 6(2).
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16 Notes to the Company’s financial statements (continued)
(5) Long-term equity investments (continued)
(¢c) Associates

Movements in the current year

Share of net

Balance of

profit or loss Equity provision for

31 December  using the equity ~ Cash dividends 31 December interest impairment at

2014 method declared 2015 held Voting rights end of year
Manufacturing Company (i) 1,089,508,090 (22,223,799) — 1,067,284,291 50% 44.44% —
Yantai Asahi 136,715,853 12,051,113 (15,310,781) 133,456,185 39% 39% —
Zhaoshang Logistics 20,213,625 4,630,607 (7,785,990) 17,058,242 30% 30% —
Liaoning Shenqing 2,606,987 (409,627) — 2,197,360 30% 30% —
Others 1,220,000 — — 1,220,000 (1,220,000)
1,250,264,555 (5,951,706) (23,096,771)  1,221,216,078 (1,220,000)

(i)  The share of net loss using the equity method in Manufacturing Company is 22,223,799, including investment
loss of 22,990,693 which derives from shares of net loss based on the fair value adjustment and investment

income of 766,894 due to the unrealized profit in intra-group sales reversed in the current year.

The explanation for the difference between equity interest percentage and voting right percentage in

Manufacturing Company refers to Note 4(10)(b)(i).

Manufacturing Company

31 December

31 December

2015 2014
Total equity attributable to shareholders 2,099,591,789 2,147,829,335
Adjusted fair value of the identifiable net assets when obtained (44,953,445) (47,209,605)
Adjusted total equity attributable to shareholders 2,054,638,344 2,100,619,730
Share of net assets calculated by shareholding proportion 1,027,319,172 1,050,309,865
Adjusting events
— Goodwill 48,521,954 48,521,954
— Unrealised profits of internal transaction (8,556,835) (9,323,729)
Book value of investment on the associate 1,067,284,291 1,089,508,090

Details of equity interests in the associate are disclosed in note 6(2).
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16 Notes to the Company’s financial statements (continued)

(5) Long-term equity investments (continued)

(d)  Provision for impairment of long-term equity investments

31 December Increase in the Decrease in the 31 December

2014 current year current year 2015

Subsidiaries (744,368,059) (10,000,000) — (754,368,059)
Associates (1,220,000) — — (1,220,000)
(745,588,059) (10,000,000) — (755,588,059)

(6) Investment properties

Buildings
31 December 2014 27,501,876
Transferred from fixed assets (i) 8,037,325
Depreciation in the current year (1,304,189)
Transferred to fixed assets (1,360,410)
31 December 2015 32,874,602

(i) In January 2015, the real estate of the carrying amount of 8,037,325 (Original: 12,209,784) that is for own use is now

for leasing and is accordingly transferred to investment properties.

For the year ended 31 December 2015, there is no investment property measured at fair value in the Group (2014: nil).

As at 31 December 2015, there is no investment property without ownership certificates (31 December 2014: nil).
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)

Notes to the Company’s financial statements (continued)

Fixed assets

Machinery and Motor Other
Buildings equipment vehicles equipment Total
Original cost
31 December 2014 995,347,960  2,370,314,967 104,543,484 302,278,401  3,772,484,812
Increases in the current year 291,679,386 243,693,271 3,880,037 42,811,412 582,064,106
Purchase — 12,414,342 3,880,037 29,039,069 45,333,448
Transferred from construction in
process 289,568,041 231,278,929 — 13,772,343 534,619,313
Transferred from investment
properties 2,111,345 — — — 2,111,345
Decreases in the current year (128,270,662)  (143,091,897) (6,449,731) (17,663,331)  (295,475,621)
Disposal (76,631,496) (94,686,078) (6,449.,731) (17,663,331)  (195,430,636)
Transferred to construction in
process (39,429,382) (48,405,819) — — (87,835,201)
Transferred to investment
properties (12,209,784) — — — (12,209,784)
31 December 2015 1,158,756,684  2,470,916,341 101,973,790 327,426,482  4,059,073,297

Accumulated depreciation

31 December 2014

(314,805,128)

(1,199,904,114)

(53,807,687)

(198,024,625) (1,766,541,554)

Increases in the current year (31,228,828)  (106,961,258) (7,544,159) (31,817,026)  (177,551,271)
Accruals (30,477,893)  (106,961,258) (7,544,159) (31,817,026)  (176,800,336)
Transferred from investment

properties (750,935) — — — (750,935)

Decreases in the current year 76,278,026 102,345,593 5,522,925 16,614,832 200,761,376
Disposal 45,641,608 74,615,078 5,522,925 16,614,832 142,394,443
Transferred to construction in

process 26,463,959 27,730,515 — — 54,194,474
Transferred to investment
properties 4,172,459 — — — 4,172,459
31 December 2015 (269,755,930) (1,204,519,779) (55,828,921)  (213,226,819) (1,743,331,449)
Provision for impairment

31 December 2014 (2,621,413) (37,896,473) (1,586,835) (27,295) (42,132,016)

Decreases in the current year —

Disposal 1,118,506 3,256,156 238,180 — 4,612,842

31 December 2015 (1,502,907) (34,640,317) (1,348,655) (27,295) (37,519,174)

Carrying amount
31 December 2015 887,497,847  1,231,756,245 44,796,214 114,172,368  2,278,222,674
31 December 2014 677,921,419  1,132,514,380 49,148,962 104,226,481 1,963,811,242
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®

Fixed assets (continued)

As at 31 December 2015, there are no fixed assets pledged as collateral for borrowings (31 December 2014: nil).

For the year ended 31 December 2015, fixed assets depreciation are 176,800,336 (2014: 169,462,923), of which 147,098,753,
4,485,467 and 25,216,116 (2014: 140,738,179, 4,048,020 and 24,676,724) have been charged to cost of sales, selling and

distribution expenses and general and administrative expenses respectively.

The costs of fixed assets transferred from construction in progress amounts to 534,619,313 (2014: 322,487,064).

As at 31 December 2015, the ownership certificates of certain fixed assets (buildings) with carrying amount approximately

212,001,000 have not been obtained by the Company. (31 December 2014: 30,868,000) (Note 4 (12)(d)).

Construction in progress

31 December 2015

31 December 2014

Ending Provision for Carrying Ending Provision for Carrying
balance impairment amount balance impairment amount
Relocation project of Malt
Factory 112,762,943 — 112,762,943 340,292,939 — 340,292,939
Production line improvement
of No.1 Factory 30,216,182 — 30,216,182 57,160,867 — 57,160,867
Production line improvement
of No.2 Factory 12,277,670 — 12,277,670 14,297,239 — 14,297,239
Production line improvement
of No. 5 Factory 3,429,437 — 3,429,437 2,684,260 — 2,684,260
Instruments installation of
Headquarter 1,567,079 — 1,567,079 443,069 — 443,069
Production line improvement
of No.4 Factory 1,204,757 — 1,204,757 717,647 — 717,647
Production line improvement
of No.3 Factory — — — 33,014,376 — 33,014,376
161,458,068 — 161,458,068 448,610,397 — 448,610,397
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Notes to the Company’s financial statements (continued)
Construction in progress (continued)

(a) Movements in significant construction in progress

Proportion of
31 December ~ Increase in the Transfer to 31 December expenditures Completion
Name Budget 2014 current year fixed assets 2015 to budgeted percentage  Source of funds
Funding from

Relocation project of Malt convertible bond and

Factory 422,500,000 340,292,939 80,700,448 (308,230,444) 112,762,943 99% 99%  self-funding
Production line improvement

of No.1 Factory 315,508,388 57,160,867 111,318,957 (138,263,642) 30,216,182 §8% §8%  Self-funding
Production line improvement

of No.2 Factory 403,642,000 14,297,239 18,934,002 (20,953,571) 12,277,670 §7% §4%  Self-funding
Production line improvement

of No.5 Factory 21,616,350 2,684,260 11,967,307 (11,222,130 3429437 08% 08%  Self-funding
Instruments installation of

Headquarter 5,890,000 443,069 3,098,788 (1,974,778) 1,567,079 60% 60%  Self-funding
Production line improvement

of No4 Factory 6,775,292 717,647 5,198,108 (4,71099%) 1,204,757 91% §7%  Self-funding
Production line improvement

of No.3 Factory 335,587,778 33,014,376 16,249,374 (49,263,750) — 100% 100%  Self-funding

8610397 TA6608¢  (SM619313) 161,458,068

As stated in Note 4 (13)(a), there are no new increased borrowing costs capitalised for the year ended 31 December 2015.
(b)  Provision for impairment

The company did not provide or write off provision of impairment for construction in progress for the year ended 31
December 2015 (2014: nil).
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Intangible assets

Marketing

Land use rights Trademarks networks Others Totals

Cost
31 December 2014 272,447,650 190,345,726 225,632,003 259,200,523 947,625,902
Increase in the current year 12,921,277 — 95,275,800 38,634,429 146,831,506
Purchase 12,921,277 — — 38,634,429 51,555,706
Others (i) — 95,275,800 95,275,800
Decrease in the current year (10,935,942) — — (275,471) (11,211,413)
Disposal — — (275,471) (275,471)
Others (Note 4(15)(i)) (10,935,942) — — (10,935,942)
31 December 2015 274,432,985 190,345,726 320,907,803 297,559,481  1,083,245,995

Accumulated amortisation

31 December 2014

(66,504,469)

(75,639,451)

(63,952,834)

(82,496,145)

(288,592,899)

Increase in the current year (5,434,179) (11,683,643) (85,286,435) (24,769,690)  (127,173,947)
Accruals (5,434,179) (11,683,643) (23,357,165) (24,769,690) (65,244,677)
Others (i) — — (61,929,270) — (61,929,270)

Decrease in the current year 3,962,647 — — 71,969 4,034,616
Disposal — — — 71,969 71,969
Others (Note 4(15)(i)) 3,962,647 — — — 3,962,647

31 December 2015 (67,976,001) (87,323,094)  (149,239,269) (107,193,866)  (411,732,230)

Carrying amount
31 December 2015 206,456,984 103,022,632 171,668,534 190,365,615 671,513,765
31 December 2014 205,943,181 114,706,275 161,679,169 176,704,378 659,033,003

(i)  The cost and accumulated amortisation of the marketing network of Baotuquan is transferred to the Company.

For the year ended 31 December 2015, the amortisation expense of intangible assets is 65,244,677 (2014: 56,000,072).

As at 31 December 2015, there are no intangible assets pledged as collateral for bank borrowings (31 December 2014: nil).

Development expenditures are set out as follows:

31 December
2014

Increase in

Decrease in the current year

Charged to

Recognised
as intangible

31 December

the current year profit or losses assets 2015

Beer technology improvement

project 12,878,657 (12,878,657) — —

For the year ended 31 December 2015, development expenditures of 12,878,657 (2014: 19,247,427) are recognised in profit
or loss.
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(10) Provision for asset impairment

31 December

& MW R A R A " TSINGTAO BREWERY CO., LTD.

Increase in the

16 Notes to the Company’s financial statements (continued)

Decrease in the current year

31 December

2014 current year Reversal Write off 2015
Provision for bad debts 335,657,162 26,079,576 (66,120,002) (16,615,841) 279,000,895
Including:
Provision for bad
debts of accounts
receivable 68,483,026 22,108 (3,636,535) — 64,868,599
Provision for bad
debts of other
receivables 40,074,136 257,468 (499,308) — 39,832,296
Provision for bad
debts of long-term
receivables 227,100,000 25,800,000 (61,984,159) (16,615,841) 174,300,000
Provision for decline in
value of inventories 1,022,238 39,759 (360,213) — 701,784
Provision for impairment
of available-for-sale
financial assets 4,385,261 — — — 4,385,261
Provision for impairment
of long-term equity
investments 745,588,059 10,000,000 — — 755,588,059
Provision for impairment
of fixed assets 42,132,016 — — (4,612,842) 37,519,174
1,128,784,736 36,119,335 (66,480,215) (21,228,683) 1,077,195,173
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16 Notes to the Company’s financial statements (continued)

(11) Capital surplus

Increase Decrease
31 December in the in the 31 December
2014 current year current year 2015
Share premium 4,190,058,186 — — 4,190,058,186
Other capital surplus — 116,015,091 550,827 — 116,565,918
Share of changes in equity other than
comprehensive income and profit
distribution of investees accounted for
using the equity method (10,756,997) 550,827 — (10,206,170)
Transfer of capital surplus recognised
under the previous accounting system 123,006,624 — — 123,006,624
Others 3,765,464 — — 3,765,464
4,306,073,277 550,827 — 4,306,624,104
Increase Decrease
31 December in the in the 31 December
2013 current year current year 2014
Share premium 4,190,058,186 — — 4,190,058,186
Other capital surplus — 116,015,091 — — 116,015,091
Share of changes in equity other than
comprehensive income and profit
distribution of investees accounted for
using the equity method (10,756,997) — — (10,756,997)
Transfer of capital surplus recognised
under the previous accounting system 123,006,624 — — 123,006,624
Others 3,765,464 — — 3,765,464
4,306,073,277 — — 4,306,073,277
(12) Other comprehensive income
Changes
arising from
re-measurement
of defined
benefit plan
liabilities
As at 31 December 2013 —
Movements for the year ended 31 December 2014 (14,321,000)
As at 31 December 2014 (14,321,000)
Movements for the year ended 31 December 2015 (17,789,000)

As at 31 December 2015 (32,110,000)
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16 Notes to the Company’s financial statements (continued)

(13) Undistributed profits

2015 2014

Undistributed profits at beginning of year 4,877,281,580 4,073,390,757
Add: Net profit in the current year 1,843,649,106 1,568,703,423
Less: Appropriation to statutory surplus reserve (184,364,911) (156,870,342)
Ordinary shares dividends payable (607,942,258) (607,942,258)
Undistributed profits at end of year 5,928,623,517 4,877,281,580

The dividends actual paid for the year ended 31 December 2015, and the dividends proposed but not paid at end of year are
disclosed in Note 4(38).

(14) Revenue and cost of sales

2015 2014
Revenue from main operation 15,466,786,549 15,725,964,989
Revenue from other operations 1,228,405,049 1,327,904,783

16,695,191,598 17,053,869,772

2015 2014
Cost of main operation (11,279,567,918) (11,807,526,468)
Cost of other operations (1,195,225,430)  (1,295,265,666)

(12,474,793,348)  (13,102,792,134)

(a) Revenue and cost of main operation

2015 2014
Revenue from Cost of main Revenue from Cost of main
main operation operation main operation operation
Sale of Beer 15,466,786,549  (11,279,567,918) 15,725,964,989 (11,807,526,468)
(b)  Revenue and cost of other operations
2015 2014
Revenue from Cost of other Revenue from Cost of other
other operations operations  other operations operations
Sales of raw materials 1,193,089,356 (1,177,824,990) 1,296,190,981 (1,284,733,091)
others 35,315,693 (17,400,440) 31,713,802 (10,532,575)

1,228,405,049  (1,195,225,430)  1,327,904,783  (1,295,265,666)
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Notes to the Company’s financial statements (continued)

Expenses by nature

The costs of sales, selling and distribution expenses and general and administrative expenses classified by nature are as

follows:

— % — I F F H ANNUAL REPORT 2015

2015

2014

Finished goods purchased from third parties

Raw materials and consumables used

Employee benefits expenses

Handling and transportation expenses

Promotion related expenses

Advertising related expenses

Depreciation and amortisation charges

Administrative and business travel and business entertainment expenses
Repair expenses

Operating lease payments

Changes in inventories of finished goods and work in progress
Tax expenses

Agency fee

Product packaging and design expenses

Service charges

Auditors’ remuneration — audit service

Other expense

Total Cost of sales, Selling and distribution, General and administrative expenses

Finance expenses — net

7,918,743,541
3,962,528,769
1,466,581,701
824,803,687
682,530,294
411,812,834
245,812,654
128,577,718
81,022,997
61,711,163
45,687,678
39,608,027
33,881,617
30,605,459
17,093,109
8,580,000
61,458,384

7,933,919,478
4,404,529,285
1,339,712,610
892,410,130
534,669,976
598,621,959
228,491,252
138,526,676
169,949,658
60,041,299
12,216,957
35,599,684
20,062,578
50,494,148
33,134,196
8,580,000
68,510,981

16,021,039,632

16,529,470,867

2015 2014
Interest expense — 19,692,246
Less: Interest income (63,283,981) (47,440,224)
Exchange (gain)/losses (889,800) 8,546,946
Unwinding the discounted of long-term employee benefits payable 10,014,668 11,065,068
Others 4,565,836 6,295,117
(49,593,277) (1,840,847)

Investment income
2015 2014

Investment income from long-term equity investment accounted for using the cost
method (a)

(Losses)/Profits from long-term equity investment accounted for using the equity
method

Gains from disposal of long-term equity investment (b)

Losses from disposal of available-for-sale financial assets

Income from entrusted loans

Others

1,319,899,500

(2,157,821)
338,622,580
25,787,575
299,998

1,404,620,000

32,876,912

27,850,651
(999,999)

46,347,257

1,682,451,832

1,510,694,821
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16 Notes to the Company’s financial statements (continued)
(17) Investment income (continued)
There is no significant restriction on transferring funds in the form of investment income.

(a) Investment income from long-term equity investment accounted for using the cost method is the profit distribution of
subsidiaries (Note 16(5)(a)).

(b) For the year ended 31 December 2015, gains from disposal of long-term equity investment include the disposal gain of
443,164,704 due to Hongjiweiye’s 100% equity interest and investment loss of 104,542,124 due to the deregistration of

Qingpi Baotuquan.

(18) Asset impairment losses

2015 2014
(Reversals)/Provisions of bad debts (40,040,426) 4,963,777
Reversals of decline in the value of inventories (320,454) —
Impairment losses of long-term equity investments 10,000,000 =
(30,360,880) 4,963,777
(19) Income tax expense

2015 2014

Current income tax calculated according to tax law and related regulations in
Mainland China — China enterprise income tax 207,683,933 17,878,410
Deferred income tax (39,234,272) (3,268,654)
168,449,661 14,609,756

The reconciliation from income tax calculated based on the applicable tax rates and total profit presented in the Company’s
financial statements to the income tax expense is as below:

2015 2014
Total profit 2,012,098,767 1,583,313,179
Income tax expense calculated at applicable tax rates 503,024,692 395,828,295
Tax impact of equivalent sales and cost, expenses and losses not deductible for tax
purpose 11,775,523 10,562,390
Income not subject to tax (331,975,297) (360,491,988)
Utilisation of previously unrecognised deferred tax assets (17,317,545) (41,108,485)
Deductible temporary differences for which no deferred tax assets were recognised 2,942,288 9,819,544

Income tax expense 168,449,661 14,609,756
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Supplementary Information
For the year ended 31 December 2015
(All amounts in RMB Yuan unless otherwise stated)

1  Summary of non-recurring profit or loss

2015 2014
Government grants recognised in profits 511,057,423 448,000,648
Gain from disposal of a subsidiary 444,819,948 —
Losses on disposal of non-current assets (101,511,712) (59,716,174)
Reversal of bad debt provision for accounts receivables
which provision is provided on the individual basis 3,600,000 3,000,000
Other non-operating income and expenses other than aforesaid items 10,113,496 10,461,305
868,079,155 401,745,779
Impact of income tax expense (188,706,308) (68,200,260)
Impact on the non-controlling interests, net of tax (18,950,437) (14,856,942)
660,422,410 318,688,577

Basis for preparation of summary of non-recurring profit or loss

Under the requirements in Explanatory announcement No.l on information disclosure by companies offering securities to the public
— non-recurring profit or loss [2008] from CSRC, non-recurring profit or loss refer to those arises from transactions and events
that are not directly relevant to ordinary activities, or that are relevant to ordinary activities, but are extraordinary and not expected
to recur frequently that would have an influence on users of financial statements making economic decisions on the financial
performance and profitability of an enterprise.

2 Return on net assets and earnings per share

Weighted average return Earnings per share
on net assets (%) Basic earnings per share Diluted earnings per share
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014

Net profit attributable to ordinary

shareholders of the Company 10.76% 13.53% 1.268 1.473 1.268 1.473
Net profit attributable to ordinary

shareholders of the Company

after deducting non-recurring

profit or loss 6.61% 11.36% 0.779 1.237 0.779 1.237
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In this Report, the following expressions have the following
respective meanings set adjacent below, unless the context
requires otherwise: —

Company, the Means Tsingtao Brewery Company

Company, Tsingtao Limited

Brewery
the Group Means the Company and its subsidiaries
the Board Means board of directors of the Company

Tsingtao Group Means Tsingtao Brewery Group
Company Limited

SASACQ Means State-owned Assets Supervision
& Administration Commission
of the People’s Government of
Qingdao

Hanzhong Company Means Tsingtao Brewery Hanzhong LLC

Hansheng Commerce Means Hanzhong Hansheng Commerce
& Trade LLC

Means Yantai Beer Tsingtao-Asahi Co.,
Ltd.

Means Shenzhen Tsingtao-Asahi Co., Ltd

Means Asahi Group Holdings Ltd.

Means Asahi Breweries, Ltd.

Yantai Asahi

Tsingtao Shenzhen

Asahi Group

Asahi Breweries

Asahi (China) Means Asahi Beer (China) Investment

Investment Co., Ltd.

SSE Means Shanghai Stock Exchange

Stock Exchange Means The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited

PwC Zhong Tian Means PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong
Tian LLP

Means Audit & Internal Control
Committee under the 8th Board

Means Strategy & Investment Committee
under the 8th Board

Means The year ended 31 December
2015

Means Model Code for Securities

Transactions by Directors of

Audit Committee
Strategy Committee
Reporting Period
Model Code

Listed Issuers
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Listing Rules Means

Articles of Association Means
Suntory Company Means
Manufacturing Means
Company
Sales Company Means
Tsingtao Finance Means
Company
New Songjiang Means
Manufacturing

Xuzhou Company Means

Pengcheng Company Means
Suqian Company Means
Yangzhou Company Means
Tsingtao HK Means
Hongjiweiye Means
Means

Chenming Holdings

Framework Means

Agreement

Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock
of Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited

Articles of Association of the
Company

Suntory (China) Holding Co., Ltd.

Suntory-Tsingtao (Shanghai) Co.,
Ltd.

Tsingtao-Suntory (Shanghai)
Sales Co., Ltd

Tsingtao Brewery Finance LLC.

Tsingtao Brewery Songjiang
Manufacturing Company
Limited

Tsingtao Brewery (Xuzhou)
Company Limited

Tsingtao Brewery (Xuzhou)
Pengcheng Company Limited

Tsingtao Brewery (Suqian)
Company Limited

Tsingtao Brewery (Yangzhou)
Company Limited

Tsingtao Brewery Hong Kong
Trade Company Limited

Qingdao Hongjiweiye Investment
Co., Ltd.

Shouguang Chenming Holding
Co., Ltd.

Framework Agreement of
Transfer of Equity Interests and
Permission for Use of Label
and Technologies
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English Name:  Tsingtao Brewery Company Limited
Legal Representative: SUN Ming Bo

Company Secretary: Zhang Rui Xiang

Address: Secretarial Office of the Board
Room 1105
Tsingtao Beer Tower
May Fourth Square
Hong Kong Road Central, Qingdao,
Shandong Province

Postal Code: 266071

Tel: 86-532-85713831

Fax: 86-532-85713240

Registered Address: No. 56, Dengzhou Road,
Qingdao, Shandong Province

Business Address:  Tsingtao Beer Tower, May Fourth Square
Hong Kong Road Central, Qingdao
Shandong Province

Postal Code: 266071

Company Website: www.tsingtao.com.cn

E-mail: info@tsingtao.com.cn

Stock Exchanges on which the Company’s shares are listed:
A share: Shanghai Stock Exchange

Stock Name: 77 k& Wi

Stock Code: 600600

H share: The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
Stock Name: TSINGTAO BREW

Stock Code: 00168

Custodian of unlisted shares:
China Securities Depository and Clearing Corporation
Limited, Shanghai Branch

Auditor: PricewaterhouseCoopers Zhong Tian LLP at 11/F
PricewaterhouseCoopers Center, 2 Corporate Avenue, 202
Hu Bin Road, Huangpu District, Shanghai

Legal advisers:
(1) Woo Kwan Lee & Lo at 26th Floor, Jardine House, 1
Connaught Place, Central, Hong Kong

(2) Haiwen & Partners at 20th Floor, Fortune Finance
Center, No. 5 Dong San Huan Road Central,
Chaoyang District, Beijing
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